
Simon W. Baker   B.Ed  MBA  MISPAL
Chief Executive

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Friday, 14 February 2020

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: The Dove Room, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek

6 February 2020

PART 1
1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of interest 
i. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests.
ii. Other Interests.

3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4. External Audit - 2019/20 Audit Plan (Pages 7 - 26)

5. External Audit - Informing the Risk Assessment (Pages 27 - 60)

6. Accounting Policy Amendment (Pages 61 - 66)

7. Annual Governance Statement - Progress against the 2018/19 Action Plan (Pages 
67 - 82)

8. Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021 (Pages 83 - 122)

9. Treasury Management Update (Pages 123 - 132)

10. Risk Management Update (Pages 133 - 154)

11. Internal Audit Periodic Report 2019/20 (Pages 155 - 172)

12. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures (Pages 173 - 228)

13. Work Programme (Pages 229 - 230)

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Public Document Pack



Membership of Audit & Accounts Committee
Councillor J Davies (Chair) Councillor T Hall (Vice-Chair)
Councillor E Fallows Councillor K Flunder
Councillor N Hawkins Councillor K J Jackson
Councillor R Ward Councillor I Whitehouse
Councillor N Yates Mr P Brough
Mr H Mawdsley



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE MEETING

Minutes

FRIDAY, 25 OCTOBER 2019
PRESENT: Councillor J Davies (Chair) 

Councillors E Fallows, K Flunder, T Hall and K J Jackson

IN ATTENDANCE: A Sohal External Audit Engagement Lead
E Bennetts Finance Business Partner
CHazeldene Deputy Director and Head of Finance
V Higgins Information Business Partner
J Leak Head of Audit
A Stokes Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief 

Finance Officer
P Trafford Member & Community Services Officer

APOLOGIES: Councillors I Whitehouse, N Yates and Mr H Mawdsley

21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

22 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Accounts Committee 
held on 26 July 2019 be APPROVED as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.

23 EXTERNAL AUDIT COMMITTEE UPDATE

Avtar Sohal – Senior Audit Manager – updated members with the current stage of 
progress. The Audit was still in it’s early ‘planning’ stage, with little progress made as 
yet and no issues raised.

The audit opinion on the council’s 2018/19 Statement of Accounts was issued on 31 
July 2019, completing the audit for that year. The report set out the schedule for the 
2019/20 audit and how this would be reported back to the committee. Details were 
also enclosed regarding potential audit reforms by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government. 

Responding to a member query, Avtar felt that the likely timescale for the above 
reforms would be 2021/22.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Audit & Accounts Committee - 25 October 2019

2

24 EXTERNAL AUDIT 2018/19 ANNUAL LETTER

Avtar Sohal – Senior Audit Manager – outlined the letter as a statutory requirement, 
having followed the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor 
Guidance Note 07 – ‘Auditor Reporting’. 

The letter summarised the previously tabled ISA 260 report, advising that an 
unqualified opinion had been issued. Significant Audit Risks which had been 
identified had been examined and found to be dealt with satisfactorily.

Members queried any potential changes in work associated with the Value For 
Money projections and Avtar confirmed that many of these would relate to changes 
in the Business Rate system, some of which could create ‘windfall income’ and 
resultant underspends. Many other councils were having to dip into their financial 
reserves to continue operating normally, whereas SMDC did not, which was a very 
clear indicator of good governance. 

Andrew Stokes advised that the council always kept a close eye on new sources of 
income in the form of grants etc., some of which did not apply to SMDC.

25 TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE

The mid-year report was presented to members by Emily Bennett – Finance 
Business Partner. The main headlines included:-

 The Bank of England base rate remained unchanged at 0.75% and the
forecast increase had been moved back to December 2020;

 HM Treasury had announced that with immediate effect the PWLB new
loan rates would be increased by 1%;

 A shortfall of £32,000 was forecast against the investment income budget due 
to the delayed increase in interest rates and continuing internal borrowing;

 The Ascent debenture and loan income budget was on target pending the 
implementation of the proposal for the Ascent Delivery model and new loan 
arrangement;

 The borrowing costs budget to support the existing Ascent loan balance and a 
potential general fund borrowing requirement was forecast to be £60,000 
under budget owing to the use of internal borrowing and profiling of the capital 
programme;

 The average return on investments was 0.78% during the period 1st July to 
30th September. This compared favourably to short-term industry 
benchmarks;

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £10.8 million spread across six 
separate institutions as at 30th September 2019;

 The Council’s current level of debt was £10 million at an average annual 
borrowing rate of 1.40%.

Page 4



Audit & Accounts Committee - 25 October 2019

3

The most significant of the items shown above was the immediate 1% increase in 
PWLB loan rates, applying to new loans taken after 9 October 2019. The letter from 
HM Treasury advising of this increase was annexed to the report. This meant that 
the PWLB was now the most expensive form of borrowing available to the Council. 
As such, this was expected to have a negative effect on some regeneration projects. 
A collective response from the Local Government Association had been forwarded to 
HM Treasury regarding the size of the increase and the lack of notice given. An 
update on this situation would be given at the next meeting.

RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED.

26 RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE

The half-yearly overview of the Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk 
Registers as at 30 June 2019 was presented to members by Vanessa Higgins – 
Information Business Partner.

The Council had identified 15 strategic risks, of which 40% (6) were rated ‘high’ and 
therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. These were detailed in 
Appendix ‘A’. 31 operational risks had been identified, of which 4 were rated ‘high’ 
and shown in Appendix ‘B’.

Following the scheduled adoption of the new Corporate Plan for 2019 – 2023, it was 
necessary to conduct an internal strategic risk review to ensure that the Council’s 
new ambitions were considered and assessed in order to minimise barriers to their 
achievement and maximise the inherent opportunities presented through their 
delivery.

The project risk registers covered 11 projects with a profile as follows:-

 0% Critical
 7% High – 2 risks
 4% Medium – 1 risk
 89% Low – 24 risks

RESOLVED – That the Committee NOTE the Council’s risk position and the 
mitigation / fruition plans summarised within Appendix A (strategic 
risks), Appendix B (operational risks), Appendix C (project risks) and 
Appendix D (opportunity risks).

27 INTERNAL AUDIT 2019/20 PERIODIC REPORT

The report covering the period April to September 2019 was introduced to members 
by John Leak – Head of Audit.

5 audit reports had been issued during the period with 1 substantial, 3 satisfactory 
and 1 limited assurance status. These were detailed in Appendix 1 to the report. 

All audit recommendations had been agreed, though none of those for 2019/20 had 
yet become due for implementation. 98% of 2018/19 audit recommendations that 
were due had been implemented. 8 audits were in progress at the time of reporting 
and approximately 41% of the Audit Plan was completed.

Page 5



Audit & Accounts Committee - 25 October 2019

4

The 1 ‘limited’ assurance  related to Civica Shared Services Data Breaches. The 
Local Taxation databases for SMDC and HPBC were merged in November 2018. 
Deficiencies in the testing procedure prior to the live merge resulted in 126 instances 
where there were ‘cross-boundary’ accounts where individuals had lived in both 
areas at some point. The accounts were linked together through the National 
Insurance Number. Most of these instances were ‘closed’ accounts, with no resultant 
issues. However in 3 cases documentation was issued to an incorrect address. 
These ‘data breaches’ were reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
by the council and had now been dealt with to completion. The ICO had made 
certain recommendations to the council as a result.

RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED. 

28 APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBER

This item was added to the agenda immediately prior to the meeting and was 
distributed in hard copy format to members.

Following a review of the effectiveness of the Audit and Accounts Committee, it was 
noted that one of the three independent members posts was vacant due to Mr. Barry 
Steans passing away in 2018. Given Mr. Steans’ previous background in the 
financial sector, it was felt to be ideal to find someone with a similar background.

RESOLVED – That an advertisement be placed for the vacant position of 
Independent Member to the Committee.

29 WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee considered the Work Programme for the 2019/20 municipal year.

RESOLVED – That the Work Programme for 2019/20 be APPROVED.

The meeting closed at 11.07 am

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 6



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

External Audit Plan
Year ending 31 March 2020

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

February 2020

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction & headlines 3

2. Key matters impacting our audit                                                                                             4                                                   

3. Group audit scope and risk assessment                                                                                       5

4. Significant risks identified      6

5. Other risks identified 9

6. Other matters 10

7. Materiality 11

8.    Value for Money arrangements                                                                                           12

9. Audit logistics & team                                                                                                       13

10. Audit fees                                                                                                                   14

11. Independence & non-audit services 16

Appendix

A. Audit quality – national context 19

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Authority or all weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent.
We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for,
nor intended for, any other purpose.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Michael Green

Key Audit Partner

T:  0161 953 6382
E: michael.green@uk.gt.com

Avtar Sohal

Senior Manager

T: 0121 232 5420 
E: avtar.s.sohal@uk.gt.com

Lisa Morrey

In-Charge

T: 0121 232 5302

E: lisa.morrey@uk.gt.com

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members 
is available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

P
age 8



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

3

1. Introduction & headlines
Purpose

This document provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory
audit of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (‘the Authority’) for those charged
with governance.

Respective responsibilities

The National Audit Office (‘the NAO’) has issued a document entitled Code of Audit
Practice (‘the Code’). This summarises where the responsibilities of auditors begin
and end and what is expected from the audited body. Our respective responsibilities
are also set out in the Terms of Appointment and Statement of Responsibilities
issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA), the body responsible for
appointing us as auditor of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. We draw your
attention to both of these documents on the PSAA website.

Scope of our audit

The scope of our audit is set in accordance with the Code and International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs) (UK). We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the :

• Authority and group’s financial statements that have been prepared by management with
the oversight of those charged with governance (the Audit and Accounts committee); and

• Value for Money arrangements in place at the Authority for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in your use of resources.

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or the Audit and Accounts
Committee of your responsibilities. It is the responsibility of the Authority to ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the conduct of its business, and that public money is
safeguarded and properly accounted for. We have considered how the Authority is fulfilling
these responsibilities.

Our audit approach is based on a thorough understanding of the Authority's business and is
risk based.

Group Accounts The Council will prepare group financial statements that consolidate the financial information of Ascent Housing LLP on an equity method. 

*Please, note that our procedures will need to be updated to reflect if Ascent Housing LLP is dissolved within the year.

Significant risks Those risks requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified 
as:

• Management Override of Control

• Valuation of land and buildings 

• Valuation of net pension fund liability

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings 
(ISA 260) Report.

Materiality We have determined planning materiality to be £675k for the Group (PY £650k) and £653k for the Council (PY £650k), which equates to 2% of your 
prior year gross expenditure for the year. We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ 
to those charged with governance. Clearly trivial has been set at £33k (PY £033k). 

Value for Money 
arrangements

Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for money have not identified any significant VFM risks.

Audit logistics Our interim visit will take place in January/February and our final visit will take place in June and July.  Our key deliverables are this Audit Plan and 
our Audit Findings Report. Our audit approach is detailed in Appendix A.

Our fee for the audit will be £41,895  (PY: £38,145) for the Authority, subject to the Authority meeting our requirements set out on page 14.

Independence We have complied with the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are 
independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements..

P
age 9



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

4

2. Key matters impacting our audit

Factors

Our response

.

The wider economy and political uncertainty

Local Government funding continues to be stretched with 
increasing cost pressures and  demand from residents. 
The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in 
February 2019) included the four-year (2017/18 –
2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
targeting savings of £3.14 million. The Council have 
achieved their savings target for 2019/20 and for 2020/21 
to 2021/22 a savings target of £1.15m remains, which 
the Council are on track to achieve.

At a national level, the government continues its 
negotiation with the EU over Brexit, and future 
arrangements remain clouded in uncertainty (update as 
appropriate). The Council will need to ensure that it is 
prepared for all outcomes, including in terms of any 
impact on contracts, on service delivery and on its 
support for local people and businesses. 

We will consider your arrangements for managing and 
reporting your financial resources as part of our work in 
reaching our Value for Money conclusion.

We will consider whether your financial position leads to 
material uncertainty about the going concern of the 
Council and will review related disclosures in the 
financial statements. 

Financial reporting and audit –raising the bar

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out its 
expectation of improved financial reporting from 
organisations and the need for auditors to 
demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge, and 
to undertake more robust testing as detailed in 
Appendix 1.  

Our work in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where 
local government financial reporting, in particular, 
property, plant and equipment and pensions, needs to 
be improved, with a corresponding increase in audit 
procedures. We have also identified an increase in 
the complexity of local government financial 
transactions which require greater audit scrutiny.

Group Boundary

In 2018/19, the Council had just one material interest which 
gave rise to group accounts for Ascent Housing LLP, a joint 
venture in which it holds a 49% share.

The Government announced in July 2015 far reaching 
legislative and financial changes for the social housing 
sector. One of the most significant announcements being the 
reduction in social housing rents by 1% per annum from April 
2016 for 4 years (2019/20 being the last year). The 
Government announced that from 2020/21, Authorities will 
be allowed to increase rents by CPI +1%.The affordability of 
the Ascent Housing LLP business plan to deliver affordable 
housing across the District is being looked at by the Council, 
as a result of this, due to a fall in a rental revenue.

As a result strategic options are currently being considered 
for the future of Ascent Housing LLP, which may potentially 
involve the dissolution of Ascent Housing LLP 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the 
expectations of the FRC with regard to audit quality 
and local government financial reporting. Our 
proposed work and fee, as set further in our Audi 
Plan, has been agreed with the Director of Finance 
and is subject to PSAA agreement. 

We will maintain a watching brief and continue to liaise with 
the finance team to ensure that any dissolution of Ascent 
Housing LLP are reflected in the 2019/20 financial 
statements, including the requirement to prepare group 
accounts.

P
age 10



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

5

3. Group audit scope and risk assessment 
In accordance with ISA (UK) 600, as group auditor we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the components 
and the consolidation process to express an opinion on whether the group financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework.

Component
Individually 
Significant? Audit Scope Risks identified Planned audit approach

Staffordshire 
Moorlands District

Yes Audit of the financial information 
of the component using 
component materiality

• See pages 6 to 9 Full scope UK statutory audit performed by Grant 
Thornton UK LLP

Ascent Housing LLP No Audit of one or more classes of 
transactions, account balances 
or disclosures relating to 
significant risks of the group 
financial

• Valuation of Investment Review and testing of arrangements in place to 
produce group accounts

*Please, note that our procedures will need to be 
updated to reflect if Ascent Housing LLP is 
dissolved within the year.

P
age 11



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

6

4. Significant risks identified
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, 
the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 
transactions 

(Group and Council)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that revenue
may be misstated due to the improper recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor concludes that there 
is no risk of material misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue 
recognition.

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature
of the revenue streams at the Authority, we have determined that the 
risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, 
because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, mean that all forms of 
fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and the Group

Management over-ride of controls

(Group and Council)

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the 
risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities. 

We therefore identified management override of control, in particular 
journals, management estimates and transactions outside the 
course of business as a significant risk, which was one of the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement.

We will:

• evaluate the design effectiveness of management controls over 
journals

• analyse the journals listing and determine the criteria for 
selecting high risk unusual journals 

• test unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft 
accounts stage for appropriateness and corroboration

• gain an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical  
judgements applied made by management and consider their 
reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence

• evaluate the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, 
estimates or significant unusual transactions.

P
age 12



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

7

Significant risks identified – PPE
Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of land and buildings

(Council)

The Council revalues its land and buildings on a rolling five-
yearly basis. This valuation represents a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements due to the size of the 
numbers involved (GBV £33m) and the sensitivity of this 
estimate to changes in key assumptions. Additionally, 
management will need to ensure the carrying value in the 
Authority and group financial statements is not materially 
different from the current value or the fair value (for surplus 
assets) at the financial statements date, where a rolling 
programme is used.

We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings,
particularly revaluations and impairments, as a significant risk,
which was one of the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement, and a key audit matter.

We will:

• evaluate management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of
the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of
their work

• evaluate the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert

• correspond with the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuation was
carried out

• challenge the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess
completeness and consistency with our understanding/

• test revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input correctly
into the Council and group asset register

• evaluate the assumptions made by management for those assets not 
revalued during the year and how management has satisfied themselves 
that these are not materially different to current value at year end.

P
age 13



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

8

Risk Reason for risk identification Key aspects of our proposed response to the risk

Valuation of the pension fund net 
liability 
(Council)

The Authority's pension fund net liability, as reflected in its balance 
sheet as the net defined benefit liability, represents a significant 
estimate in the financial statements and group accounts. 

The pension fund net liability is considered a significant estimate 
due to the size of the numbers involved (£43 million in the 
Authority’s balance sheet) and the sensitivity of the estimate to 
changes in key assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of the Authority’s pension fund net 
liability as a significant risk, which was one of the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement, and a key audit matter.

We will:

• update our understanding of the processes and controls put in 
place by management to ensure that the Authority’s pension 
fund net liability is not materially misstated and evaluate the 
design of the associated controls;

• evaluate the instructions issued by management  to their 
management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope 
of the actuary’s work;

• assess the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 
actuary who carried out the Authority’s pension fund valuation; 

• assess the accuracy and completeness of the information 
provided by the Authority to the actuary to estimate the liability;

• test the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and 
disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements with the 
actuarial report from the actuary;

• undertake procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the 
actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of the 
consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and performing any 
additional procedures suggested within the report; and

• obtain assurances from the auditor of Staffordshire Pension 
Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity and accuracy of 
membership data; contributions data and benefits data sent to 
the actuary by the pension fund and the fund assets valuation in 
the pension fund financial statements.

Significant risks identified - Pensions

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report in July 2020.

P
age 14



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

9

Risk Reason for risk identification

International Financial 
Reporting Standard 
(IFRS) 16 Leases –
(issued but not 
adopted) 

(Council)

The public sector will implement this standard from 1 April 2020. It 
will replace IAS 17 Leases, and the three interpretations that 
supported its application (IFRIC 4, Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15, Operating Leases –
Incentives, and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease). Under the new standard the 
current distinction between operating and finance leases is removed 
for lessees and, subject to certain exceptions, lessees will recognise 
all leases on their balance sheet as a right of use asset and a liability 
to make the lease payments. 

In accordance with IAS 8 and paragraph 3.3.4.3 of the Code 
disclosures of the expected impact of IFRS 16 should be included in 
the Authority’s 2019/20 financial statements. The Code adapts IFRS 
16 and requires that the subsequent measurement of the right of use 
asset where the underlying asset is an item of property, plant and 
equipment is measured in accordance with section 4.1 of the Code. 

We will:

• Evaluate the processes the Authority has adopted to assess the impact of 
IFRS16 on its 2020/21 financial statements and whether the estimated 
impact on assets, liabilities and reserves has been disclosed in the 
2019/20 financial statements.

• Assess the completeness of the disclosures made by the Authority in its 
2019/20 financial statements with reference to The Code and 
CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Leasing Briefings.

5. Other risks identified

We will communicate significant findings on these areas as well as any other significant matters arising from the audit to you in our Audit Findings Report in July 2020.

P
age 15



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

10

6. Other matters

Other work

In addition to our responsibilities under the Code of Practice, we have a number of other
audit responsibilities, as follows:

• We read your Narrative Report and Annual Governance Statement to check that 
they are consistent with the financial statements on which we give an opinion and 
consistent with our knowledge of the Authority

• We carry out work to satisfy ourselves that disclosures made in your Annual 
Governance Statement are in line with the guidance issued by CIPFA

• We carry out work on your consolidation schedules for the Whole of Government 
Accounts process in accordance with NAO group audit instructions

• We consider our other duties under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 
Act) and the Code, as and when required, including:

• Giving electors the opportunity to raise questions about your 2019/20 
financial statements, consider and decide upon any objections received in 
relation to the 2019/20 financial statements

• Issue of a report in the public interest or written recommendations to the 
Authority under section 24 of the Act, copied to the Secretary of State

• Application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 
to law under Section 28 or for a judicial review under Section 31 of the Act 
or

• Issuing an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Act.

• We certify completion of our audit.

Other material balances and transactions

Under International Standards on Auditing, "irrespective of the assessed risks of material 
misstatement, the auditor shall design and perform substantive procedures for each 
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure". All other material 
balances and transaction streams will therefore be audited. However, the procedures will 
not be as extensive as the procedures adopted for the risks identified in this report.

Going concern

As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the 
appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is 
a material uncertainty about the group's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 
570). We will review management's assessment of the going concern assumption and 
material uncertainties, and evaluate the disclosures in the financial statements. 

P
age 16



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

11

7. Materiality
The concept of materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 
the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 
requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if they, individually or in 
the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality for planning purposes

We have determined financial statement materiality based on a proportion of the gross 
expenditure of the group and Council for the financial year. In the prior year we used the 
same benchmark. Materiality at the planning stage of our audit is £675k (PY £650) for the 
group and £653k (PY £650k) for the Council, which equates to 2% of your prior year gross 
expenditure for the year. We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at 
a lower level of precision which we have determined to be £100k for Senior Officer 
remuneration. 

We reconsider planning materiality if, during the course of our audit engagement, we 
become aware of facts and circumstances that would have caused us to make a different 
determination of planning materiality.

Matters we will report to the Audit and Accounts Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to 
our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit 
Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are 
identified by our audit work. Under ISA 260 (UK) ‘Communication with those charged with 
governance’, we are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than 
those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. ISA 260 (UK) defines 
‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in 
aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.  In the context of 
the group and Council, we propose that an individual difference could normally be 
considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £33k (PY £33k). 

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 
audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the Audit and 
Accounts Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Prior year gross expenditure

£33,750k Group

£32,662k Council

Materiality

Prior year gross expenditure

Materiality

£675k

group financial 
statements materiality

(PY: £650k)

£653k

Authority financial 
statements materiality

(PY: £650k)

£33k

Misstatements reported 
to the Audit and 
Accounts Committee

(PY: £33k)

P
age 17



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

12

8. Value for Money arrangements

Background to our VFM approach

The NAO issued its guidance for auditors on Value for Money work in November 2017. The
guidance states that for Local Government bodies, auditors are required to give a
conclusion on whether the Authority has proper arrangements in place to secure value for
money.

The guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate:

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Significant VFM risks

Those risks requiring audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood that 
proper arrangements are not in place at the Authority to deliver value for money.

We have not identified any significant risks from our initial risk assessment. We will 
continue our review of your arrangements, including reviewing your Annual Governance 
Statement, before we issue our auditor's report. This will in particular include consideration 
of your financial performance, to ensure that financial sustainability does not become a 
significant risk due to any deterioration in your current performance or any new external 
factors.

Informed 
decision 
making

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

P
age 18



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

13

9. Audit logistics & team 

Client responsibilities

Where clients do not deliver to the timetable agreed, we need to ensure that this does not 
impact on audit quality or absorb a disproportionate amount of time, thereby 
disadvantaging other clients. Where the elapsed time to complete an audit exceeds that 
agreed due to a client not meeting its obligations we will not be able to maintain a team on 
site. Similarly, where additional resources are needed to complete the audit due to a client 
not meeting their obligations we are not able to guarantee the delivery of the audit to the 
agreed timescales. In addition, delayed audits will incur additional audit fees.

Our requirements 

To minimise the risk of a delayed audit, you need to ensure that you:

• produce draft financial statements of good quality by the deadline you have agreed with 
us, including all notes, the narrative report and the Annual Governance Statement

• ensure that good quality working papers are available at the start of the audit, in 
accordance with the working paper requirements schedule that we have shared with 
you

• ensure that the agreed data reports are available to us at the start of the audit and are 
reconciled to the values in the accounts, in order to facilitate our selection of samples

• ensure that all appropriate staff are available on site throughout (or as otherwise 
agreed) the planned period of the audit

• respond promptly and adequately to audit queries.

Michael Green, Key Audit Partner

As your engagement lead, Michael will have the ultimate 
responsibility for the delivery of your audit service. He will lead our 
relationship with the Authority and take overall responsibility for 
delivering a high quality audit, which meets the highest 
professional standards while adding value.

Avtar Sohal, Senior Manager

As the engagement manager, Avtar is responsible for overseeing 
the delivery of our service and managing the audit process. He will 
work with officers and our on-site team to ensure the smooth 
planning and delivery of the audit. He will oversee the on-site team 
and discuss any issues with you during the audit process as well 
as any questions you may have throughout the year. 

Lisa Morrey, Audit Incharge

Lisa will lead the on-site audit team and is responsible for the 
performance of the audit fieldwork and day-to-day liaison with the 
finance team. She will ensure that your audit is delivered 
effectively, efficiently and supportively, keeping the finance team 
abreast of any issues arising as and when they occur.

Planning and
risk assessment 

Interim audit
February 2020

Year end audit
June/July 2020

Audit and Accounts
Committee

February 2020

Audit and Accounts
Committee

Audit and Accounts
Committee
July 2020

Audit and Accounts
Committee

September 2020

Audit 
Findings 
Report

Audit 
opinion

Audit 
Plan

Interim 
Progress 

Report

Annual 
Audit 
Letter

P
age 19



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

14

10. Audit fees

Actual Fee 2017/18 Actual Fee 2018/19 Proposed fee 2019/20 

Council Audit £47,273 £38,145 £41,895

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £47,273 £38,145 £41,895

.

Assumptions:
In setting the above fees, we have assumed that the Authority will:
- prepare a good quality set of accounts, supported by comprehensive and well presented working papers which are ready at the start of the audit
- provide appropriate analysis, support and evidence to support all critical judgements and significant judgements made during the course of preparing the financial statements
- provide early notice of proposed complex or unusual transactions which could have a material impact on the financial statements.

Relevant professional standards:
In preparing our fee estimate, we have had regard to all relevant professional standards, including paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2 of the FRC’s Ethical Standard which stipulate that the 
Engagement Lead (Key Audit Partner) must set a fee sufficient to enable the resourcing of the audit with staff of appropriate skills, time and abilities to deliver an audit to the 
required professional standard.

Planned audit fees 2019/20

Across all sectors and firms, the FRC has set out its expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for auditors to demonstrate increased 
scepticism and challenge and to undertake additional and more robust testing. Within the public sector, where the FRC has recently assumed responsibility for the inspection 
of local government audit, the regulator requires that all audits achieve a 2A (few improvements needed) rating. 

Our work across the sector in 2018/19 has highlighted areas where local government financial reporting, in particular, property, plant and equipment and pensions, needs to 
be improved. We have also identified an increase in the complexity of local government financial transactions. Combined with the FRC requirement that 100% of audits 
achieve a 2A rating this means that additional audit work is required. We have set out below the expected impact on our audit fee. The table overleaf provides more details 
about the areas where we will be undertaking further testing. 

As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with regard to audit quality and local government financial reporting. Our proposed work and 
fee for 2019/20 at the planning stage, as set out below and with further analysis overleaf, has been agreed with the Director of Finance and is subject to PSAA agreement. 

P
age 20



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

15

Audit fee variations – Further analysis 
Planned audit fees

The table below shows the planned variations to the original scale fee for 2019/20 based on our best estimate at the audit planning stage. Further issues identified during the course of 
the audit may incur additional fees. In agreement with PSAA (where applicable) we will be seeking approval to secure these additional fees for the remainder of the contract via a 
formal rebasing of your scale fee to reflect the increased level of audit work required to enable us to discharge our responsibilities. Should any further issues arise during the course of 
the audit that necessitate further audit work additional fees will be incurred, subject to PSAA approval. 

Audit area £ Rationale for fee variation

Scale fee £34,645

Raising the bar £2,500 The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has highlighted that the quality of work by all audit firms needs to improve across 
local audit. This will require additional supervision and leadership, as well as additional challenge and scepticism in areas
such as journals, estimates, financial resilience and information provided by the entity. 

Pensions – valuation of net pension 
liabilities under International Auditing 
Standard (IAS) 19

£1,750 We have increased the granularity, depth and scope of coverage, with increased levels of sampling, additional levels of 
challenge and explanation sought, and heightened levels of documentation and reporting.

PPE Valuation £1,750 The FRC has also determined that auditors need to improve the quality of audit challenge on PPE valuations across the 
sector. We have therefore increased the volume and scope of our audit work to ensure an adequate level of audit scrutiny 
and challenge over the assumptions that underpin PPE valuations. 

New standards/ developments – IFRS 16 £1,250 IFRS16 requires a leased asset, previously accounted for as an operating lease off balance sheet, to be recognised as a 
‘right of use’ asset with a corresponding liability on the balance sheet from 1 April 2020. There is a requirement, under 
IAS8, to disclose the expected impact of this change in accounting treatment in the 2019/20 financial statements. 

Revised scale fee (to be approved by 
PSAA)

£41,895

P
age 21



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

16

11. Independence & non-audit services
Auditor independence

Ethical Standards and ISA (UK) 260 require us to give you timely disclosure of all significant facts and matters that may bear upon the integrity, objectivity and independence of the firm 
or covered persons relating to our independence. We encourage you to contact us to discuss these or any other independence issues with us.  We will also discuss with you if we make 
additional significant judgements surrounding independence matters. 

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements. 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements. Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit 
Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 and PSAA’s Terms of Appointment which set out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for auditors of local 
public bodies. 

Other services provided by Grant Thornton

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Authority. The following other services were identified.

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are consistent with the 
group’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by the Audit and Accounts Committee. Any changes and full details of all fees 
charged for audit related services by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be included in our Audit Findings report at the 
conclusion of the audit.
None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees.
The firm is committed to improving our audit quality – please see our transparency report - https://www.grantthornton.ie/about/transparency-report/

Audit Relate Service £ Threats Safeguards

Certification of Housing 
Benefits Subsidy claim

8,000 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is expected to be low £8,000 (£8,000 prior year) in comparison to the total scale fee for the audit of 
£34,645 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there 
is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

P
age 22



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

17

Independence & non-audit services 

Service £ Threats Safeguards

Non-audit related

CFO Insights 5,625 The fee is a recurring subscription and, 
therefore, there is a self-interest threat. The 
tool provides information that will help inform 
decision making by informed management. 
The scope of our service does not include 
making decisions on behalf of management or 
recommending a particular course of action.

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to 
independence as the fee for this work is £5,625 in comparison to the total fee for the audit 
of £34,645 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it 
is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the 
perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Place Analytics 5,625 The fee is a recurring subscription and, 
therefore, there is a self-interest threat. The 
tool provides information that will help inform 
decision making by informed management. 
The scope of our service does not include 
making decisions on behalf of management or 
recommending a particular course of action.

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to 
independence as the fee for this work is £5,625 in comparison to the total fee for the audit 
of £34,645 and in particular relative to Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it 
is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These factors all mitigate the 
perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

The amounts detailed are fees agreed to-date for audit related and non-audit services to be undertaken by Grant Thornton UK LLP in the current financial year. These services are 
consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by the Audit & Procurement Committee. Any changes and 
full details of all fees charged for audit related and non-audit related services by Grant Thornton UK LLP and by Grant Thornton International Limited network member Firms will be 
included in our Audit Findings report at the conclusion of the audit.

None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees.

P
age 23



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

Appendices

A. Audit Quality – national context

P
age 24



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

19

Appendix A: Audit Quality – national context

What has the FRC said about Audit Quality?

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) publishes an annual Quality Inspection of our firm, 
alongside our competitors. The Annual Quality Review (AQR) monitors the quality of UK 
Public Interest Entity audits to promote continuous improvement in audit quality.

All of the major audit firms are subject to an annual review process in which the FRC 
inspects a small sample of audits performed from each of the firms to see if they fully 
conform to required standards.

The most recent report, published in July 2019, shows that the results of commercial audits 
taken across all the firms have worsened this year. The FRC has identified the need for 
auditors to:

• improve the extent and rigour of challenge of management in areas of judgement

• improve the consistency of audit teams’ application of professional scepticism

• strengthen the effectiveness of the audit of revenue

• improve the audit of going concern

• improve the audit of the completeness and evaluation of prior year adjustments.

The FRC has also set all firms the target of achieving a grading of ‘2a’ (limited 
improvements required) or better on all FTSE 350 audits. We have set ourselves the same 
target for public sector audits from 2019/20.

Other sector wide reviews

Alongside the FRC, other key stakeholders including the Department for Business, energy 
and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have expressed concern about the quality of audit work and 
the need for improvement. A number of key reviews into the profession have been 
undertaken or are in progress. These include the review by Sir John Kingman of the 
Financial Reporting Council (Dec 2018), the review by the Competition and Markets 
authority of competition within the audit market, the ongoing review by Sir Donald Brydon 
of external audit, and specifically for public services, the Review by Sir Tony Redmond of 
local authority financial reporting and external audit. As a firm, we are contributing to all 
these reviews and keen to be at the forefront of developments and improvements in public 
audit.

What are we doing to address FRC findings?

In response to the FRC’s findings, the firm is responding vigorously and with purpose. As 
part of our Audit Investment Programme (AIP), we are establishing a new Quality Board, 
commissioning an independent review of our audit function, and strengthening our senior 
leadership at the highest levels of the firm, for example through the appointment of Fiona 
Baldwin as Head of Audit. We are confident these investments will make a real difference. 

We have also undertaken a root cause analysis and put in place processes to address the 
issues raised by the FRC. We have already implemented new training material that will 
reinforce the need for our engagement teams to challenge management and demonstrate 
how they have applied professional scepticism as part of the audit. Further guidance on 
auditing areas such as revenue has also been disseminated to all audit teams and we will 
continue to evolve our training and review processes on an ongoing basis.

What will be different in this audit?

We will continue working collaboratively with you to deliver the audit to the agreed 
timetable whilst improving our audit quality. In achieving this you may see, for example, an 
increased expectation for management to develop properly articulated papers for any new 
accounting standard, or unusual or complex transactions. In addition, you should expect 
engagement teams to exercise even greater challenge management in areas that are 
complex, significant or highly judgmental which may be the case for accounting estimates, 
going concern, related parties and similar areas. As a result you may find the audit process 
even more challenging than previous audits. These changes will give the audit committee –
which has overall responsibility for governance - and senior management greater 
confidence that we have delivered a high quality audit and that the financial statements are 
not materially misstated. Even greater challenge of management will also enable us to 
provide greater insights into the quality of your finance function and internal control 
environment and provide those charged with governance confidence that a material 
misstatement due to fraud will have been detected.

We will still plan for a smooth audit and ensure this is completed to the timetable agreed. 
However, there may be instances where we may require additional time for both the audit 
work to be completed to the standard required and to ensure management have 
appropriate time to consider any matters raised. This may require us to agree with you a 
delay in signing the announcement and financial statements. To minimise this risk, we will 
keep you informed of progress and risks to the timetable as the audit progresses.

We are absolutely committed to delivering audit of the highest quality and we should be 
happy to provide further detail about our improvement plans should you require it. 

P
age 25



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  External Audit Plan for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  |  2019/20

Public

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 26



Informing the audit risk assessment 
for Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council 2019/20

Michael Green
Director
T 0161 953 6382
E Michael.Green@uk.gt.com

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 5



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which 

we believe need to be reported to you as part of our audit process.  It is not a comprehensive 

record of all the relevant matters, which may be subject to change, and in particular we cannot 

be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may affect your business or any 

weaknesses in your internal controls.  This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and 

should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the 

basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any 

other purpose.

2

P
age 28



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Table of Contents

Section Page

Purpose 4

General Enquiries of Management 6

Fraud 8

Fraud Risk Assessment 9

Laws and Regulations 14

Impact of Laws and Regulations 15

Going Concern 17

Going Concern Considerations 18

Related Parties 22

Accounting Estimates 24

Appendix A Accounting Estimates 26 

3

P
age 29



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between the Council's external auditors and the Council's 

Audit and Accounts Committee, as 'those charged with governance'. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment where 

we are required to make inquiries of the Audit and Accounts Committee under auditing standards.   

Background

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA(UK&I)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate with the Audit and 

Accounts Committee. ISA(UK&I) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the Audit and Accounts Committee 

and also specify matters that should be communicated.

This two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Audit and Accounts Committee in understanding matters relating to the audit and 

developing a constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the Audit and Accounts 

Committee and supports the Audit and Accounts Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting process. 

Communication

As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of management processes and the Audit and Accounts 

Committee's oversight of the following areas:

• General Enquiries of Management

• Fraud,

• Laws and Regulations,

• Going Concern,

• Related Parties, and

• Accounting Estimates.

4

P
age 30



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Purpose

This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from the Council's management. The Auditand

Accounts Committee should consider whether these responses are consistent with its understanding and whether there are any further comments it 

wishes to make. 

5

P
age 31



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management
Question Management response

1. What do you regard as the key events or issues that 

will have a significant impact on the financial statements 

for 2019/20?

There will be an increase in fixed assets as a result of vehicle purchases (previously leased),and potential 

expected credit loss (Ascent dissolution impairment) or increase to the impairment if Ascent not dissolved 

by 31st March.   

A valuation of fixed assets/pension liabilities will be completed in liaison with external valuers, which may 

impact on the financial statements based on valuation changes.  

2. Have you considered the appropriateness of the 

accounting policies adopted by the Council?

Have there been any events or transactions that may 

cause you to change or adopt new accounting policies?

These have been considered.  We are taking a report to Audit Committee in February which proposes a 

change to the Council's accruals policy. This proposes an increase to the minimum amount we will seek to 

ensure is treated in accordance with our accruals policy to £10,000.  This recognises the shorter time scale 

we have to finalise the draft accounts.  We will still aim to ensure all accruals - irrespective of value - are 

accounted for appropriately but will direct more resource to those above £10,000

We are reviewing the requirements of IFRS 16 (lease accounting) to collect the necessary information to 

enable this to be in place from 2020/21 

3. Is there any use of financial instruments, including 

derivatives? 
No derivatives, just financial assets/liabilities (cash investments/loans, debtors, creditors, external

borrowing) held at amortised cost as in previous years.

4. Are you aware of any significant transactions outside 

the normal course of business?
No

6

P
age 32



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

General Enquiries of Management
Question Management response

5. Are you aware of any changes in circumstances that 

would lead to impairment of non-current assets? 
Nothing that we are specifically aware of.  This will be formally assessed in conjunction with the external 

valuers. 

6. Are you aware of any guarantee contracts? No

7. Are you aware of the existence of loss contingencies 

and/or un-asserted claims that may affect the financial 

statements?

No

8. Other than in house solicitors, can you provide details 

of those solicitors utilised by the Council during the 

year. Please indicate where they are working on open 

litigation or contingencies from prior years?

The Council has engaged Freeths and Browne Jacobson during the year.  Neither are working on 

litigation/contingencies from prior years.

9. Have any of the Council’s service providers reported 

any items of fraud, non-compliance with laws and 

regulations or uncorrected misstatements which would 

affect the financial statements?

No

10. Can you provide details of other advisors consulted 

during the year and the issue on which they were 

consulted?

Other than Browne Jacobson/Freeths for legal advice, in terms of financial issues, the Council has engaged 

Link (treasury advice), Capita (valuations), Zurich (insurance) Focus on Banking (bank contract review) and 

Trade Risks (potential new loan arrangement with Your Housing).

If you require a full list of all advisor used Council wide, we can supply this separately? 

7

P
age 33



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud

Issue

Matters in relation to fraud

ISA(UK&I)240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.

The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Audit and Accounts Committee and management. Management, 

with the oversight of the Audit and Accounts Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud prevention and deterrence and

encourage a culture of honest and ethical behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Audit and Accounts Committee should consider the 

potential for override of controls and inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.

As the Council's external auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 

misstatement due to fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the potential for 

management override of controls.

As part of our audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements 

management has put in place with regard to fraud risks including: 

• assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud,

• process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks, 

• communication with the Audit and Accounts Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, and

• communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour. 

8

We need to understand how the Audit and Accounts Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries of 

both management and the Audit and Accounts Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. These areas 

have been set out in the fraud risk assessment questions below together with responses from the Council's management. 

P
age 34



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment
Question Management response

1. Have the Council assessed the risk of material 

misstatement in the financial statements due to fraud?

How has the process of identifying and responding to the 

risk of fraud been undertaken and what are the results of 

this process? 

How do the Council’s risk management processes link to 

financial reporting?

Yes. The underlying management processes are primarily as described in the Annual Governance 

Statement, which is published alongside the Statement of Accounts.

These are strengthened by additional procedures specific to the Statement of Accounts. For example, 

the Chief Finance Officer / Head of Finance undertakes a detailed review of the draft Statement of 

Accounts and will not issue a certificate until satisfactory answers and assurances have been provided.

Arrangements are in place to prevent and detect fraud which includes the work undertaken by Internal 

Audit, Council Tax and Benefits Teams.

The Internal Audit plan covers the key systems which feed into the Statement of Accounts and audits 

are undertaken on a risk-based approach

The Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Heads of Service complete and sign managers assurance 

statements on an annual basis confirming that the governance framework has been operating within 

their areas of responsibility.

We conclude that there is no significant risk of material misstatement in the Statement of Accounts due 

to fraud. 

2. What have you determined to be the classes of 

accounts, transactions and disclosures most at risk to 

fraud? 

The potential for fraud is considered when setting the audit plan – with potential high risk areas then 

audited on a more frequent basis, such as:  Treasury, services with cash transactions/collection,  

procurement, all financial feeder systems Council Tax and Business Rates.  Related Party transactions 

(Senior Officers / Members) are also annually assessed as part of the closure of accounts process.

3. Are you aware of any instances of actual, suspected or 

alleged fraud, errors or other irregularities either within the 

Council as a whole or within specific departments since 1 

April 2019?

As a management team, how do you communicate risk 

issues (including fraud) to those charged with governance?         

Confirmation from the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Audit, Head of Legal and 

Head of Finance has been obtained that no significant frauds have been identified during 2019/20 

The Audit and Accounts Committee provides oversight.

9

P
age 35



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment
Question Management response

4. Have you identified any specific fraud risks?

Do you have any concerns there are areas that are at risk of fraud?

Are there particular locations within the Council where fraud is more 

likely to  occur?

No specific fraud risks or areas with a high risk of fraud have been identified. However, the 

Council is always vigilant to the threat of fraud and Internal Audit work is planned to highlight 

the threat of potential fraud.

5. What processes do the Council have in place to identify and 

respond to risks of fraud?

There are a number of policies and procedures in place including an Counter Fraud & 

Corruption Strategy, RIPA Policy & Procedures, Whistleblowing Policy, risk management 

arrangements set out in the risk management policy, strategy and process, participation in 

the NFI.

Internal Audit is also 'good practice compliant' and has a proven track record in planning 

audit work to take account of fraud risks and responding appropriately to fraud risks in the 

organisation and enhancing controls to protect against the risk of fraud (e.g. procurement 

arrangements).

6. How would you assess the overall control environment for the 

Council, including:

- the process for reviewing the effectiveness the system of internal 

control;  

- internal controls, including segregation of duties; exist and work 

effectively?

If not where are the risk areas and what mitigating actions have been 

taken?

What other controls are in place to help prevent, deter or detect 

fraud?

Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of controls 

or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process (for 

example because of undue pressure to achieve financial targets)? 

Annual review of the effectiveness of Internal Audit assessing compliance with PSIAS inc.

external quality assessment every 5 years.

Annual review of the effectiveness of the Audit & Accounts Committee.

Quarterly internal audit progress reports are reported to the Audit & Regulatory committee 

highlighting key issues.

Overall internal controls work effectively and Internal Audit report on ineffective controls 

which are corrected by management.

External Audit provide an Annual Audit Letter to the Committee highlighting any areas of 

concern and recommendations following the annual audit of accounts.

The Strategic Risk Register is presented to Audit Committee.

Not significantly. Financial and operational targets are an important part of the management 

process. However, a strong corporate commitment to appropriate ethical behaviour 

outweighs any pressure to meet targets.

Plus internal audit checks as part of the audit plan programme would highlight any 

misreporting.

10

P
age 36



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

7. Are there any areas where there is potential for 

misreporting? 

None significant. Financial and operational targets are an important part of the management process. 

However, a strong corporate commitment to appropriate ethical behaviour outweighs any pressure to 

meet targets.

8. How do the Council communicate and encourage 

ethical behaviours and business processes of it’s 

staff and contractors? 

How do you encourage staff to report their concerns 

about fraud?

What concerns are staff expected to report about 

fraud?

Have any significant issues been reported? 

There are a number of policies and procedures in place which are reviewed and approved by the 

Standards Committee including the Ethical Framework (inc. Code of Corporate Governance), a Staff 

Code of Conduct, Registers for Interests and Gifts & Hospitality.

Such policies and procedures are the subject of a detailed communications process, which includes 

extensive coverage during induction and training.

The Council has a well publicised Whistleblowing Policy. No significant issues have been reported. 

9. From a fraud and corruption perspective, what 

are considered to be high-risk posts?

How are the risks relating to these posts identified, 

assessed and managed?

Treasury management risks are identified, assessed, audited annually and reviewed through Audit & 

Regulatory committee, with clear segregation of duties and authorisation limits. 

10. Are you aware of any related party relationships 

or transactions that could give rise to instances of 

fraud?

How do you mitigate the risks associated with fraud 

related to related party relationships and 

transactions?

Not aware of any related party relationships or transactions that could give rise to instances of fraud. 

Monitoring and controls in place mitigate the risk.

11

P
age 37



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment

Question Management response

11. What arrangements are in place to report fraud 

issues and risks to the Audit and Accounts 

Committee? 

How does the Audit and Accounts Committee 

exercise oversight over management's processes 

for identifying and responding to risks of fraud and 

breaches of internal control?

What has been the outcome of these arrangements 

so far this year?

The committee maintains oversight through :

• Review and approval of policies and procedures including an Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy, 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act and Whistleblowing Policy;

• Review of risk management arrangements set out in the risk management policy, strategy and process; 

• Review of Internal Audit progress reports;

• Review of Internal Audit Annual Report, which includes the opinion on the control environment;

• Receiving periodic updates on the outcome of any fraud investigative work;

• Receiving updates on actions taken to enhance controls and protect against the risk of fraud e.g. 

procurement arrangements; and

• Consideration of reports from External Audit and any action plans setting out recommendations made. 

Procedures dictate that the Chair of the Audit and Accounts Committee is informed of any matters of 

actual, suspected or alleged fraud (with notification to the Audit and Accounts Committee subject to 

confidentiality).

12. Are you aware of any whistle blowing or 

complaints by potential whistle blowers? If so, what 

has been your response?

No.

13. Have any reports been made under the Bribery 

Act?

No

12

P
age 38



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Fraud risk assessment
Question Management response

14. How does the Council protect itself against 

Fraud in its Group activities?

Ascent Housing LLP ; this joint venture with Your Housing LLP is required to produce audited accounts 

for consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion (Grant Thornton) and 

consolidation process provide assurance as to the financial controls within the organisation. Further 

assurance is provided by the two (of four) executive directors and the two (of four) non-executive 

directors nominated by the Authority to the board of Ascent.

Internal Audit is 'good practice compliant' and has a proven track record in planning audit work to take 

account of fraud risks and responding appropriately to fraud risks in the organisation and enhancing 

controls to protect against the risk of fraud. Regular audits covering the Council’s risks in Ascent Housing 

LLP are undertaken.

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; the joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and 

ANSA Environmental Services Limited (trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to 

produce audited accounts for consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion 

and consolidation process provide assurance as to the financial controls within the organisation. The 

Services Operating Agreement imposes a number of obligations on AES; - To hold Monthly meetings 

with representatives of the Council to address operational matters - To prepare Statements for inclusion 

in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to Corporate Select. - To produce on demand 

written summaries of costs. - To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s 

of the Council - To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external. Further 

assurance is provided by Council officers holding two of the five directorships that make up the AES 

Board. The board meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the 

unanimous agreement of all directors.

13

P
age 39



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Law and regulations

Issue

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA(UK&I)250 requires us to consider the impact  of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Audit and Accounts Committee, is responsible for ensuring that the Council's operations are conducted in 

accordance with laws and regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial statements. 

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement due to fraud or 

error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to make 

inquiries of management and the Audit and Accounts Committee as to whether the entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we 

become aware of information of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the 

possible effect on the financial statements.

Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

14

P
age 40



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

1. How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws 

and regulations have been complied with?

What arrangements does the Council have in place to prevent 

and detect non-compliance with laws and regulations? 

Are you aware of any changes to the Council’s regulatory 

environment that may have a significant impact on the Council’s 

financial statements?

The operation of the statutory officer roles (Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer) help to provide assurance that laws and regulations are complied 

with.

The Internal Audit service operates to the standards set out in the “Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards” and the Internal Audit Plan specifically considers compliance with laws and 

regulations.

The Council has a well publicised Whistleblowing Policy

The operation of the statutory officer roles (Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer) help to ensure compliance with laws and regulations. For example, 

the Monitoring Officer has the authority to report to Council if he considers that any proposal, 

decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or maladministration, thereby stopping 

the proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered. Legal 

implications are outlined in all committee reports.

2. How is the Audit and Accounts Committee provided with 

assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have been 

complied with?

The Chief Financial Officer attends Audit and Accounts committee meetings to respond to

members enquiries. Standard reporting formats requires that legal implications are outlined

in all committee reports. The Head of Audit has a number of alternative reporting lines in the

event of breach of law or regulation, including a right to meet privately with the Chair of the

Audit and Accounts Committee or the Committee in full, should the situation determine such

an approach necessary

3. Have there been any instances of non-compliance or 

suspected non-compliance with laws and regulation since 1 

April 2019 with an on-going impact on the 2019/2020 financial 

statements? 

Confirmation from the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Head of Audit, Head 

of Legal and Head of Finance has been obtained that no instances of non-compliance or 

suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations have been identified during 2019/20. 

4. Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would 

affect the financial statements?

Areas of litigation are reported in the Statements where their impact is considered material or

significant to the readers of the statements and the outturn itself.

15

P
age 41



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Impact of laws and regulations

Question Management response

5. What arrangements does the Council have in 

place to identify, evaluate and account for litigation 

or claims? 

The Council has embedded systems and procedures in place to deal with litigation and claims as they emerge

(e.g. the “Link Officer” in respect of Ombudsman issues).

At year end, additional procedures ensure that any such items are reflected in the financial statements if

appropriate. This is incorporated within closedown procedures and includes specific enquiries of all senior

management with a particular emphasis on the Head of Legal, the Insurance Officer and the Head of Customer

Services (responsible for the Ombudsman related issues).

6. Have there been any reports from other 

regulatory bodies, such as HM Revenues and 

Customs which indicate non-compliance? 

No.

7. What arrangements does the Council have in 

place to prevent and detect non-compliance with 

laws and regulations within its Group activities?

Ascent Housing LLP ; the joint venture with Your Housing LLP is required to produce audited accounts for consolidation in the

Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion (Grant Thornton) and consolidation process provide some assurance as

to compliance within the organisation. Further assurance is provided by the two (of four) executive directors and the two (of four)

non-executive directors nominated by the Authority to the board of Ascent.

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; this joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA Environmental

Services Limited (trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to produce audited accounts for consolidation in the

Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion and consolidation process provide assurance as to compliance within the

organisation.

To facilitate the Authority in preventing and detecting non-compliance with laws and regulations the Operating Agreement

imposes a number of obligations on AES;

- To hold Monthly meetings with representatives of the Council to address operational matters

- To prepare Statements for inclusion in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to Corporate Select

- To produce on demand written summaries of costs.

- To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s of the Council

- To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external.

Further assurance is provided by Council officers holding two of the five directorships that make up the AES Board. The board

meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the unanimous agreement of all directors.
16

P
age 42



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Going Concern

Issue

Matters in relation to going concern

ISA(UK&I)570 covers auditor responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going concern assumption in 

the financial statements.

The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under this assumption entities are viewed as 

continuing in business for the foreseeable future. Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realise its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Going concern considerations have been set out below and management has provided its response.

17

P
age 43



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

1. Has the management team carried out an 

assessment of the going concern basis for 

preparing the financial statements for the Council? 

What was the outcome of that assessment? 

Yes. There is a firmly embedded Financial Planning process, which includes a rolling four year Medium-

Term Financial Plan that is updated two times annually. Other features include CFO assessments and 

statements regarding budget estimates and the adequacy of reserves and balances.

2. Are the financial assumptions in that report (e.g., 

future levels of income and expenditure) consistent 

with the Council’s Business Plan and the financial 

information provided to the Council throughout the 

year?

Yes. Well established quarterly reporting process to councillors, combined with performance reporting 

against the Council’s corporate plans and targets serves to inform the development of the four year 

Medium term financial plan.

18

P
age 44



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

3. Are the implications of statutory or policy 

changes appropriately reflected in the Business 

Plan, financial forecasts and report on going 

concern?

Yes. For example, the Medium-Term Financial Plan specifically includes consideration of both national 

(e.g. statutory) and local (e.g. policy) issues in terms of their potential financial impact.

4. Have there been any significant issues raised 

with the Audit and Accounts Committee during the 

year which could cast doubts on the assumptions 

made? (Examples include adverse comments 

raised by internal and external audit regarding 

financial performance or significant weaknesses in 

systems of financial control).

No significant issues have been raised.

5. Does a review of available financial information 

identify any adverse financial indicators including 

negative cash flow or poor or deteriorating 

performance against the better payment practice 

code?

If so, what action is being taken to improve financial 

performance?

No. Financial information is closely monitored as a matter of routine through firmly established 

processes. In addition, regular treasury management reports are presented to Audit Committee which 

would highlight any cashflow deficit.

19

P
age 45



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

6. Does the Council have sufficient staff in post, with the appropriate skills 

and experience, particularly at senior manager level, to ensure the delivery 

of the Council’s objectives?

If not, what action is being taken to obtain those skills?

Yes. A service review process has been undertaken, with structures created to 

ensure services can operate effectively whilst achieving efficiency targets.. If and 

when numbers or experience is considered lacking, additional resource is brought 

in from third parties. Organisational Development is a systematic & managed 

process.

7. Does the Council have procedures in place to assess their ability to 

continue as a going concern? 

The Council presented a new four year efficiency programme to coincide with the 

2017/18 Budget to outline plans to meet the budget deficit. This has been 

reviewed as part of the Medium Term Financial Plan to be presented in February 

2020.

8. Is management aware of the existence of events or conditions that may 

cast doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern? 

All such known events are systematically mitigated. For example, budget deficits 

are primarily addressed through a well developed approach towards the 

achievement of efficiency savings, which has a proven track record of success.

20

P
age 46



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Going concern considerations

Question Management response

9. Are arrangements in place to report the going 

concern assessment to the Audit and Accounts 

Committee ? 

How has the Audit and Accounts Committee satisfied 

itself that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern 

basis in preparing financial statements? 

Yes -through the Statement of Accounts

The Audit Committee also scrutinises the treasury function and so is aware of the liquidity and funding 

position of the Authority. 

Members have access to all Council reports, including the budget and regular financial management reports 

which provide assurance on the current and projected financial position of the authority. 

10. What arrangements does the Council have in 

place to ensure that its Group activities are a Going 

Concern?

Ascent Housing LLP ; this joint venture with Your Housing LLP is required to produce audited accounts for consolidation in 

the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion (Grant Thornton) and consolidation process provide some 

assurance as to the organisation being a Going Concern. Additionally, a business plan is regularly updated and presented 

to the Board. Further assurance is provided by the two (of four) executive directors and the two (of four) non-executive 

directors nominated by the Authority to the board of Ascent.

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; this joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA 

Environmental Services Limited (trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to produce audited accounts for 

consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both the audit opinion and consolidation process provide some 

assurance as to the organisation being a Going Concern.

To facilitate the Authority’s assessment that the joint operation continues to be a going concern the Services Operating 

Agreement imposes a number of obligations on AES;

- To hold Monthly meetings with representatives of the Council to address operational matters

- To prepare Statements for inclusion in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to Corporate Select.

- To produce on demand written summaries of costs.

- To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s of the Council

- To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external.

Further assurance is provided by Council officers holding two of the five directorships that make up the AES Board. The 

board meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the unanimous agreement of all directors. 

21

P
age 47



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Parties

Councils are required to comply with IAS 24 and disclose transactions with entities/individuals that would be classed as related parties.  These 

may include:

■ entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by the Council (i.e. subsidiaries);

■ associates;

■ joint ventures;

■ an entity that has an interest in the Council that gives it significant influence over the Council;

■ key management personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, and

■ post-employment benefit plans (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the Council, or of any entity that is a related party of the 

Council.

A disclosure is required if a transaction (or series of transactions) is material on either side, i.e. if a transaction is immaterial from the Council’s 

perspective but material from a related party viewpoint then the Council must disclose it.

ISA (UK&I) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of the controls that 

you have established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party transaction disclosures you make in 

the financial statements are complete and accurate. 

22

P
age 48



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Related Parties
Question Management response

1. What controls does 

the Council have in 

place to identify, 

account for and 

disclosing related 

party transactions and 

relationships ?

A number of arrangements are in place for identifying the nature of a related party and reported value including:

• Maintenance of a Register of interests for Members, a register for pecuniary interests in contracts for Officers and Senior Managers 

requiring disclosure of related party transactions.

• Annual return from senior managers/officers and members requiring confirmation that read and understood the declaration 

requirements and stating details of any known related party interests.

• Review of in-year income and expenditure transactions with known identified related parties from prior year or known history.

• Review of related information with subsidiaries, companies and joint ventures, e.g. accounts.

• Review of the accounts payable and receivable systems and identification of amounts paid to/from assisted or voluntary organisation

• Review of year end debtor and creditor positions in relation to the related parties identified.

• Review of minutes of decision making meetings to identify any member declarations and therefore related parties.

2. What arrangements 

does the Council have in 

place to ensure that its 

Group activities correctly 

identify and account for 

related party transactions?

Ascent Housing LLP ; this joint venture with Your Housing LLP is required to produce audited accounts for consolidation in the Authority’s financial 

statements. Both the audit opinion (Grant Thornton) and consolidation process provide some assurance as to the organisation correctly accounting for 

related party transactions. Further assurance is provided by the two (of four) executive directors and the two (of four) non-executive directors 

nominated by the Authority to the board of Ascent.

Alliance Environmental Services Limited [AES] ; this joint operation with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA Environmental Services Limited 

(trading arm of Cheshire East Unitary Council) is required to produce audited accounts for consolidation in the Authority’s financial statements. Both 

the audit opinion and consolidation process provide some assurance as to the organisation correctly accounting for related party transactions.

To facilitate the Authority’s checking of the treatment of related party transactions the Services Operating Agreement imposes a number of obligations 

on AES;

- To hold Monthly meetings with representatives of the Council to address operational matters

- To prepare Statements for inclusion in the Quarterly Financial Performance reports presented to Corporate Select. - To produce on demand 

written summaries of costs.

- To maintain open book accounting, allowing reasonable access to officer’s of the Council

- To allow reasonable access to the Authority’s auditors both internal and external. Further assurance is provided by Council officers holding two of 

the five directorships that make up the AES Board. The board meets 10 times per year and all significant decisions of AES are subject to the 

unanimous agreement of all directors

23

P
age 49



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Accounting estimates

Issue

Matters in relation to Related Accounting estimates

Council’s apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of their financial statements. ISA (UK&I) 540 sets out requirements for auditing 

accounting estimates. The objective is to gain evidence that the accounting estimates are reasonable and the related disclosures are adequate.

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement for accounting estimates by understanding how the Council 

identifies the transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need for an accounting estimate.

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure in the accounts. We need to be aware of all estimates that 

the Council is using as part of its accounts preparation; these are detailed in appendix A to this report. The audit procedures we conduct on the 

accounting estimate will demonstrate that:

•  the estimate is reasonable; and

•  estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates within the financial statements.

We would ask the Audit and Accounts Committee to satisfy itself that the arrangements for accounting estimates are adequate. 

24

P
age 50



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Accounting Estimates

Question Management response

1. Are management aware of transactions, 

events, conditions (or changes in these) that 

may give rise to recognition or disclosure of 

significant accounting estimates that require 

significant judgement (other than those in 

Appendix A)?

No

2. Are the management arrangements for the 

accounting estimates, as detailed in Appendix A 

reasonable?

Yes

3. How is the Audit and Accounts Committee 

provided with assurance that the arrangements for 

accounting estimates are adequate ?

A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Authority with expert advice about the 

assumptions to be applied when estimating the pension liability.

A firm of qualified valuers is engaged by the Authority to carry out, for the major assets, a programme of 

physical valuations to ensure that their carrying values are subject to professional and independent 

assessment. 

External audit also provide assurance as part of the audit process.

25

P
age 51



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there 

been a

change in 

accounting

method in 

year?

Property plant &

equipment

valuations

Valuations for land and buildings 

are made by the external valuer 

in line with RICS guidance on the 

basis of 5 year valuation with 

interim reviews. 

The Council applies a deminimis

threshold of £10,000 in 

determining assets to  be valued.

Other assets are valued on the 

basis of depreciated historic cost 

as proxy for fair value as 

relatively short asset lives before 

replacement.

Capital Accountant notifies 

the valuer of the program of 

rolling valuations or of any 

conditions that warrant an 

interim re-valuation.

The overriding requirement is 

that the carrying value is not 

materially different from the 

amount that would be 

determined by valuation and 

so the Capital Accountant 

considers factors (informed 

by Property Services 

Manager and external valuer) 

that would indicate where a 

valuation is required.

Use of Capita Property 

and Infrastructure Ltd 

augmented with internal 

Property Services (RICS 

valuer) for buildings 

valuations. 

Other assets considered 

by Services Manager 

and capital accountant.

Valuations are made in-line with RICS guidance 

– reliance on expert. Assumptions are set out in 

valuer's report.

For other assets no revaluations but asset lives 

reviewed based on the operational experience of 

the service areas.

No

26
26

P
age 52



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)
Estimate Method / model 

used to make the 

estimate

Controls used to identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying assumptions:

- Assessment of degree of 

uncertainty

- Consideration of alternative 

estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Estimated

remaining useful

lives of PPE

The following asset 

categories have general 

asset lives:

• Buildings range 30 to 

70 years

• Equipment/ vehicles 3 

to 15 years

• Plant 3 to 15 years

• Infrastructure 25 years

Specific asset lives applied to 

buildings.

Consistent asset lives applied to 

each asset category.

Use of Capita 

Property and 

Infrastructure Ltd 

augmented with 

internal Property 

Services (RICS 

valuer) for buildings 

valuations. 

Other assets 

considered by 

Services Manager 

and capital 

accountant 

The method makes some 

generalisations. For example, building 

lives would vary depending on the 

construction materials used. This life 

would be recorded in accordance with 

RICS valuation.

Detailed information is included in the 

valuers report for each asset. The lives 

used for other assets are based on 

operational experience of the service 

areas.

The asset live is then recorded in the 

asset register.

No

Depreciation and 

Amortisation
Depreciation is provided for 

all fixed assets with a finite 

useful life on a straight-line 

basis

Consistent application of 

depreciation method across all 

assets

No The length of the life is determined at the 

point of acquisition or revaluation.

Major components are depreciated 

separately.

No

27
27

P
age 53



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)
Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Impairments Assets are assessed at the year-end 

for any indication that an asset may 

be impaired. Where indications exist 

and any possible differences are 

estimated to be material, the 

recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated and, where this is less than 

the carrying amount of the asset, an 

impairment loss is recognised for the 

shortfall.

Assets are assessed

at each year-end as to 

whether there is any 

indication that an asset 

may be impaired.

This assessment is made 

by the internal valuer for 

land and buildings and by 

Property Services 

Manager and capital 

accountant (and other 

relevant officers for the 

asset type) for other 

assets.

Use of Capita Property 

and Infrastructure Ltd 

augmented with 

internal Property 

Services (RICS valuer) 

for buildings valuations. 

Other assets 

considered by Services 

Manager and capital 

accountant

Valuations are made in-line with 

RICS guidance - reliance on 

expert.

No

Finance lease liability At the inception of the lease the 

liability is the lower of the fair value of 

the asset or present value of the 

minimum lease payments. Payments 

are split between the finance charge 

and the element that reduces the 

liability.

Finance review contracts 

and payments over the 

de-minimus level to 

ensure the lease is 

categorised correctly as a 

finance lease or an 

operating lease.

Calculations supported by 

lease documents.

May obtain guidance to 

support lease 

classifications.

Assets recognised under finance 

leases are accounted for using 

the policies applied generally to 

such assets, subject to 

depreciation being charged over 

the lease term if this is shorter 

than the asset’s estimated useful 

life (where ownership of the 

asset does not transfer to the 

Council at the end of the lease 

period).

No

28

P
age 54



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of 

degree of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Pension liability The Council is an admitted body to 

the Staffordshire Local Government 

Pension Scheme. The administering 

authority (the County Council) 

engage the Actuary who provides 

the estimate of the pension liability.

Payroll data is provided to 

the Actuary.

Management reconcile 

this estimate of 

contributions to the 

actuals paid out in the 

year.

Consulting actuary As disclosed in the actuary's 

report. Complex judgements 

including the discount rate 

used, rate at which salaries are 

projected to increase, changes 

in retirement ages, mortality 

rates and expected returns on 

pension fund assets.

No

Non adjusting

events - events after 

the BS date

S151 Officer makes the 

assessment. If the event is indicative 

of conditions that arose after the 

balance sheet date then this is an 

unadjusting event. For these events 

only a note to the accounts is 

included, identifying the nature of 

the event and where possible 

estimates of the financial effect

Managers notify the s151 

officer

This would be

considered on individual

circumstance.

This would be considered on 

individual

circumstance.

N/a

Bad Debt

Provision.

A provision is estimated using a 

proportion basis of an aged debt 

listing.

The finance team obtain 

the aged debt listing from 

the sales ledger,  local 

taxation and rental 

systems to calculate the 

provision.

No Consistent proportion used 

across aged debt as per the 

Code.

No

29
29

P
age 55



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to make 

the estimate

Controls used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Provisions for

liabilities.

Provisions are made where an event 

has taken place that gives the Council 

a legal or constructive obligation that 

probably requires settlement by a 

transfer of economic benefits, but 

where the timing of the transfer is 

uncertain. Provisions are charged as 

an expense to the appropriate service 

line in the CI&ES in the year that the 

Council becomes aware of the 

obligation, and are measured at the 

best estimate at the balance sheet date 

of the expenditure required to settle the 

obligation, taking into account relevant 

risks and uncertainties.

Charged in the year

that the Council 

becomes aware of the 

obligation. 

No Estimated settlements are 

reviewed at the end of each 

financial year – where it 

becomes less than probable that 

a transfer of economic benefits 

will now be required (or a lower 

settlement than anticipated is 

made), the provision is reversed 

and credited back to the relevant 

service. Where some or all of the 

payment required to settle a 

provision is expected to be 

recovered from another party 

(e.g. from an insurance claim), 

this is only recognised as income 

for the relevant service if it is 

virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received 

by the Council.

No

30

P
age 56



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)
Estimate Method / model used to 

make the estimate

Controls used to 

identify estimates

Whether 

Management have 

used an expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Accruals Finance team collate accruals of 

expenditure and income. 

Activity is accounted for in the 

financial year that it takes place, 

not when money is paid or 

received.

While processes and 

procedures will be maintained to 

capture all accruals, resources 

will be focused on identifying 

individual transactions of 

£10,000  and above

An Accumulated Absences 

creditor balance is  at £97,000 

to reflect the value of time owed 

to employees for accrued 

holidays, TOIL (time off in lieu) 

and flexitime. This balance is 

based on an historic value 

subject to annual review and 

amendment where there have 

been significant changes in staff 

numbers or working patterns

Review financial systems 

to identify where goods 

have been received but not 

paid for.

Requests of service 

managers to identify any 

other goods or services 

received or provided but 

not paid for , concentrating 

on transactions greater 

than £10,000.

Review of circumstances 

that indicate the approach 

to annual leave accrual is 

no longer valid.

No Accruals for income and 

expenditure often based on 

known values.

Where accruals are estimated 

the latest available information is 

used.

The value of the accruals below 

the threshold of £10,000 

identified in prior years is not a 

material amount.

The annual leave accrual is 

based on historic records. An 

annual review will be performed 

to assess whether there any 

circumstances that mean the 

historic calculation of annual 

leave is no longer a reasonable 

estimate and whether the survey 

process needs to be performed 

on a partial or complete basis.  

Events likely to trigger such a 

decision would be significant 

changes in staff numbers or 

working patterns.

No

31

P
age 57



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

Appendix A Accounting Estimates (Continued)

Estimate Method / model used to make 

the estimate

Controls used to 

identify 

estimates

Whether 

Management 

have used an 

expert

Underlying 

assumptions:

- Assessment of degree 

of uncertainty

- Consideration of 

alternative estimates

Has there been a

change in 

accounting

method in year?

Measurement of 

Financial Instruments

Financial assets are required to be 

classified and measured at fair value, 

with any changes in fair value 

recognised in Profit and Loss.  The 

valuation should, where material, 

reflect any change in expected future 

cash flows.  Thus for instance if there 

arises an expectation that future cash 

flows from an investment will be 

reduced this would impact on the 

current carrying value of that financial 

instrument.

The Finance Team identify those 

assets where future cash flows are not 

now anticipated to be as expected at 

initial recognition of the instrument.  

Where material these changed cash 

flows are used to restate the carrying 

value of the financial instrument.  This 

requires both estimation of future cash 

flows and  their impact on the current 

carrying value of the instrument.

Annual review of 

financial instruments to 

identify where 

possibility of changed 

future cash flows.

Where likely quantify 

using best estimates.

When considered 

necessary the 

Council’s treasury 

advisers will be 

consulted.

The Authority’s Treasury 

Management Strategy is such 

that investments are restricted to 

low risk entities.

Where instruments have arisen 

out of operational requirements 

to support the aims of the 

council then the level of 

knowledge about the third 

parties is such that risk is 

minimised.

Yes.  IFRS9 has introduced 

the need to reflect ‘future  

losses’  in the reported 

carrying value of financial 

instruments.

32

P
age 58



© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to 

one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member 

firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not 

provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



(1)

AGENDA ITEM

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to the Audit & Accounts Committee

14th February 2020

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 This report seeks approval to make changes to the Authority’s accounting 
policies.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the following change to accounting policies be approved:-

(a) The Accruals of Income and Expenditure policy has the ‘minimum 
value’ in the following bullet point increased from £5,000 to £10,000:
‘The resources available are concentrated on identifying and accruing 
individual transactions of £10,000 and above.’ 
See page 101 of the Council’s 2018-19 Statement of Accounts: 
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1331/Annual-statement-of-accounts 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council accounts for its financial transactions according to a set of 
policies that follow statutory requirements and best practice.  They are 
published as an integral part of the Authority’s annual statements and any 
amendments require member approval.

3.2 The amendment recommended in this report is in response to the need to 
streamline accounting procedures to produce the annual statements within a 
tighter deadline. It also represents a more targeted and effective use of 
resources.

TITLE:  Amendments to Accounting Policies

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs – Leader

CONTACT OFFICERS: Claire Hazeldene – Deputy Director & Head 
of Finance
Stephen Robinson – Principal Finance 
Officer (Financial Reporting)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Page 61

Agenda Item 6

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1331/Annual-statement-of-accounts


(2)

3.3 The Accruals of Income and Expenditure policy is recommended for 
amendment in relation to ‘Transaction Accruals’, where resources used in 
identifying accruals are to be targeted at transactions of £10,000 or above.

4. How this report links with Corporate Priorities

4.1 The preparation of the Statement of Accounts is dictated by legislation. As 
such it is not directly linked to a corporate priority, although the Council is 
firmly committed to the guiding principle of transparency and accountability in 
the stewardship of public funds.   

5. Options

5.1 If the amendment is not approved the existing policies will continue to be 
applied.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None.

6.2 Workforce
None.

6.3 Equality and Diversity/ Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies.

6.4 Financial
This report relates to the statement of the Council’s accounts

6.5 Legal
None.

6.6 Sustainability
None.

6.7 Internal and External Consultation:
None.

6.8 Risk Assessment:
Not applicable

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Page 62



(3)

Background Papers Location Contact
Accounting Policies Finance, Procurement & 

Income
Moorlands House

Claire Hazeldene
Deputy Director and Head of 
Finance
Tel:  (01538) 395400 Ext. 5466
Stephen Robinson
Principal Finance Officer 
(Financial Reporting)
Tel: (01538) 395400 Ext. 4194

Page 63



(4)

7 Background and Introduction

7.1 Accounting Policies set out the bases used to recognise, measure and 
disclose financial transactions and other events in the Authority’s accounts.  
They are based on best practice and legislative requirements and are 
published annually in the Council’s Statement of Accounts.  

7.2 As these Policies impact directly on the way that financial information is 
reported they are subject to member scrutiny and approval.

7.3 While much of the substance of individual policies is dictated by statute each 
Authority has scope to design them to fit their particular circumstances. In 
recent years there has been a move to bring forward the deadline for 
production of the annual statements from the 31st July to the 31st of May.  If 
this deadline is to be achieved within existing resources it has been 
recognised by councils and their auditors that greater emphasis must be put 
on materiality and using estimation techniques.

7.4 A review of the Authority’s existing accounting policies has identified an 
amendment that could help focus resources without materially reducing the 
accuracy of the statements produced.

8. Accruals of Income and Expenditure

8.1 In accordance with accounting best practice the Authority seeks to match 
financial transactions to the correct accounting period.  This accrual process 
is constrained by the resources available and the tight deadlines for producing 
financial statements.  In order to maximise the effectiveness of the process it 
is deemed necessary to target resources at those areas which may produce 
significant changes in the financial figures being reported.  To this end a 
change in accrual policy is proposed in regard to accounting for individual 
transactions.

8.2 As part of the closedown process each year the Authority commits 
considerable resources to identifying into which period financial transactions 
fall and ensuring that they are accrued to the correct financial year.  These 
transactions can range in value from pence to tens of thousands of pounds.  
In prior years the Authority has sought to ensure that all transactions have 
been correctly accrued irrespective of their value.

8.3 In 2017/18 the statutory deadline for the production of the annual statements 
was moved forward from June to the end of May, effectively halving the time 
available for the accrual process.  In light of this, the Authority adopted an 
accruals policy that directed its resources at those transactions whose accrual 
would have the potential to materially impact the statements of account.  By 
definition these were the higher value accruals and so the policy directed 
resources at those transactions of £5,000 and above.

 

Page 64



(5)

8.4 A review of the policy has concluded whilst it has gone some way to helping to 
target resources, there is still a considerable amount of time spent on this 
process which then delays subsequent tasks.  It has also revealed that the 
limit is low in respect to that set by other Authorities.  In discussion with our 
External Auditors, it was considered that setting a £10,000 limit would further 
target resources without posing any material risk to the statement of accounts.

8.5 The Authority will continue to endeavour as far as possible that all accruals 
are accounted for, irrespective of value, but will specifically dedicate 
resources to focusing on those over £10,000.

8.6 The proposed change to the Authority’s Accrual Of Income and Expenditure 
policy is:

‘The resources available are concentrated on identifying and accruing 
individual transactions of £10,000 and above.’ 

See page 101 of the Council’s 2018-19 Statement of Accounts: 
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1331/Annual-statement-of-accounts 

Page 65

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1331/Annual-statement-of-accounts


This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to the Audit & Accounts Committee

14th February 2020

TITLE: Annual Governance Statement - Progress 
against 2018/19 Action Plan

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Stokes – Executive Director 
(Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific 

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1 - Annual Governance Statement 2018-19 
Action Plan Update

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 Regulation 6 (1) (a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the 
Council to conduct a review each financial year of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control and approve an Annual Governance Statement 
(AGS).

1.2 The statement needs to be prepared in accordance with proper practices in 
relation to accounts and must be approved in advance of the Council 
approving the statement of accounts. ‘Proper practices in relation to accounts’ 
relates to those accounting practices which are contained in a code of practice 
or other document which is identified for the purposes of this provision by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State. Such guidance is contained in the 
CIPFA/SOLACE framework and guidance on ‘Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government’.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the committee note the progress information contained within this report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The production of the 2018/19 AGS was undertaken in line with CIPFA 
guidance. The process was co-ordinated through a Corporate Governance 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Management Group containing the key officers who are given ultimate 
responsibility for drafting the AGS, evaluating assurances and the supporting 
evidence. Once the AGS has been produced it is required to be reviewed and 
approved by an independent review body of the Council. Members will recall 
that this was undertaken by the Audit & Accounts Committee on 26th July 
2019.

3.2 In essence, the AGS is the formal statement that recognises, records and 
publishes our governance arrangements as defined in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
framework ‘Delivering Good Governance In Local Government’. It is also 
important to recognise that the purpose of the AGS is not just to be 
‘compliant’, but also to provide an accurate representation of the 
arrangements in place during the year and to highlight those areas where 
improvement is required. This will also demonstrate to stakeholders what 
those arrangements are. An action plan containing all of the required actions 
to address identified weaknesses, including the significant issues detailed in 
the AGS, was therefore created.

3.3 Progress against the required actions is monitored by the Corporate 
Governance Management Group during the following financial year and details 
fed into the evidence gathering process for the production of the following 
years Annual Governance Statement. The actions identified for each issue 
will, if implemented, minimise the risks faced by the Council. No system of 
review can give full assurance that all risks have been minimised and all 
controls have been operating effectively throughout the year, only reasonable 
assurance can be given.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The Annual Governance Statement is the formal statement that recognises, 
records and publishes the Council’s governance arrangements as defined in 
the CIPFA/SOLACE framework and therefore helps to confirm effective use of 
financial and other resources to ensure value for money.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

None.

6.2 Workforce

None.

Page 68



6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

None.

6.4 Financial Considerations

None.

6.5 Legal

None.

6.6 Sustainability

None.

6.7 Consultation

None.

6.8 Risk Assessment

None.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

CIPFA/SOLACE Publication – Delivering Good 
Governance In Local Government: Framework and 
Guidance Notes for English Authorities 2016 Editions

Andrew P Stokes
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief 
Finance Officer
andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

6.4

Page 69

mailto:andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


7. Detail

7.1 The AGS is a key corporate document. The most senior officer and the most 
senior councillor (the Leader) have joint responsibility as signatories for the 
accuracy and completeness of the AGS. The signatories need to ensure that 
the AGS accurately reflects the governance framework for which they are 
responsible. In order to achieve this they are likely to rely on many sources of 
assurance, such as:

 The Chief Financial Officer and the Monitoring Officer - the statutory 
functions undertaken by these two officers provide a key source of 
assurance that the systems and procedures of internal control that are in 
operation are effective, efficient and are being complied with on a routine 
basis. Both officers are involved in the production of the AGS.

 Management – Senior managers are charged with the responsibility of 
ensuring that policies within their service area are complied with and are 
held accountable for their actions/operations in delivering the service and 
achieving objectives. All Directors and Heads of Service were asked to 
complete and sign a Managers Assurance Statement to document the 
level of assurance that they could give for the internal controls in place in 
their service area and their effectiveness with regard to ensuring 
accountability, prudence, VFM, data quality, compliance with policy, 
Financial Regulations and Procedure Rules, Contract Procedure Rules 
and delivery of the Council’s objectives. In providing this assurance, 
Directors and Heads of Service were asked to identify any material issues 
where they consider the controls are not adequate or are absent. In 
providing such assurance statements it is accepted that Managers can 
only be expected to give reasonable assurance for their service area of 
activity and not a full guarantee.

 Internal Audit - The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 
defines Internal Audit as “an independent, objective assurance and 
consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a 
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” 
Internal Audit produces an annual report that gives a summary of its work 
and provides an independent and objective opinion on the authority’s 
activities. The annual report and the work of Internal Audit have been used 
to inform the AGS. A review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
audit has been undertaken to ensure that reliance can be placed on the 
work of internal audit and its contribution to the AGS.

 Risk Management – the Council’s strategic risk register details those 
issues considered to be a risk which may prevent the Council from 
achieving its corporate objectives and outlines the controls in place to 
mitigate those risks. This source of assurance has been used to inform the 
AGS.

Page 70



 External Audit and Other Review Agencies – assurance can be taken 
from the work of external bodies such as the Council’s external auditors. 
Work undertaken by the external auditors has been used to inform the 
Annual Governance Statement.

7.2 At the centre of the production of the 2018/19 statement is a Corporate 
Governance Management Group who are given ultimate responsibility for 
drafting the AGS, evaluating assurances and the supporting evidence and this 
group has been established for a number of years. Each member of the group 
has supplied assurances and evidence to support the various elements of the 
AGS and action points to address weaknesses, some of which are significant 
and warrant specific mention in the AGS itself, have been drawn up in an AGS 
Action Plan.

8. Progress with the Actions Identified in the AGS

8.1 The attached AGS Action Plan (Appendix 1) outlines the progress made 
against the required actions as at the end of December 2019. The main 
actions that have been completed are summarised below:

 The revised Corporate Plan has been approved by Cabinet in October 
2019 and communicated to all staff through ‘Team Talk’ and ‘Keeping You 
Informed’ and is available on the Intranet.

8.2 The actions that are still being progressed are summarised below:

 A revised Procurement Strategy is due for presentation during the 
March/April 2020 committee cycle which will include reference and if 
deemed applicable defined processes in relation to Social Value.

 Further work is ongoing to develop the approach to identifying and 
managing corporate fraud risk to ensure compliance with the Code of 
Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA 2014).

 The next and final tranche of the transfer of services to AES (street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance) is now expected to take place on 1st 
April 2020 – the governance arrangements are currently being audited by 
the Internal Audit service.

8.3 Members are requested therefore to note the content of the attached Action 
Plan.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Form - PUBLIC

NAME OF COUNCIL

This assessment will be public and published on the council website. Please ensure that 
any group who has been consulted to provide the information within this form has been 
given sufficient feedback. Information within this assessment should provide the equality 
implications in any relevant report and be available for members prior to any decisions in 
relation to the content of this assessment.

SECTION 1: Initial Screening

Name of policy1 or function2 being assessed Policy / Function Status
New Revised Existing

Responsible Service Area Date Form Completed

Lead Officer for this Assessment Contact Number

Is there likely to be an impact on:
Yes No Possibly

the availability, eligibility, quality or cost 
of a service to individuals, households, 
communities or specific groups of 
people
the quality of life of individuals, 
households, communities or specific 
groups of people
the opportunities for individuals, 
households, communities or specific 
groups of people to improve their lives in 
some specific way

If yes/possibly to any of the above questions then please complete section 2.

If No to all the above questions, please provide a brief explanation of why no further 
consideration is required with regard to the Council’s equality duties.

1 Definition of policy = This can include policies, procedures, guidance, strategies and/or plans

2 Definition of function = Broad areas of activity, duties or powers – usually a service or set of services, including 
services which are provided internally

Page 73



2

SECTION 2: 

2.1: Identifying the aims of the policy or function

Summarise: the main aims, objectives and/or purpose and scope of the policy, practice, 
service or function.

Who is/are the intended customer or beneficiary of this policy or function?

Page 74



3

2.2: Evidence of Impact

What evidence or data is being used to inform the Council’s understanding of the impact 
of the decision about this policy or function on equality target groups? (Please list and 
note where the evidence/data is held.)

Note: Evidence from consultation/engagement is particularly powerful. Please refer to the 
guidance available on the intranet.

Are there gaps/weaknesses in the available evidence/data which limit our understanding 
of the impact? 
Yes/No Detail:

If yes: How significant are these gaps? 
Not Significant – can proceed to 
decision

Justification:

Significant but can proceed to 
decision

Justification & action to be taken:

Significant and requires further 
investigation prior to a decision 
being made. 

Summarise the plan of action:

Page 75



4

2.3: Assessment of impact

Taking into account all the evidence available to you indicate where you think that the 
policy/function could have an intended or unintended negative impact on a particular group: i.e. it 
could cause some disadvantage. Potential discrimination may be direct - i.e. treating someone 
less favourably because of certain attributes of who they are or indirect i.e. when the proposed 
practice, policy or procedure may have the effect of disadvantaging people who share certain 
protected characteristics. Indicate where you think the policy/function could have an intended or 
unintended positive impact on any of the groups to promoting diversity and equality. Where the 
policy/function is not relevant to a particular group or has no potential impact indicate as neutral. 
Please give reasons for each outcome:

Protected Groups Negative 
Impact

Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Explain impact & state what 
action can be taken (either to mitigate 

negative impacts or enhance positive impacts) .
People of a 
particular age such 
as children, young 
people, older people
People with 
disabilities 
including physical 
disabilities, sensory 
impairments, limiting 
long-term illnesses, 
learning disabilities 
or mental health 
difficulties
Racial / minority 
ethnic groups? 

Women or men 
including those living 
in particular 
communities
Pregnant women 
or people on 
maternity or 
paternity leave or 
breastfeeding 
mothers.  
A person’s marital 
status including 
civil partnership 
People with a 
particular sexual 
orientation
People with 
particular religion or 
belief
Trans people or 
people planning to 
or going through 
gender 
reassignment

Page 76



5

If there is potential for significant negative impacts on groups with protected characteristics which 
either cannot be mitigated or where there is uncertainty about the efficacy of measures, 
consideration should be given to consultation/engagement (or specific consultation and 
engagement) with those groups of people who may/will be impacted. Please refer to the separate 
guidance. If further consultation takes place then the Assessment of Impact above (2.3) should be 
revised taking into account any additional evidence.

Is further information or consultation required to complete this assessment? Yes/No
If an adverse negative impact has been identified that cannot be fully mitigated, can it be 
justified on grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for one group or for any other 
reason? i.e. is it a proportionate response to achieve a legitimate and justified aim.  
Please explain.

 Consider is the response proportionate/balanced
 Seek legal advice to cross check
 Refer to guidance to support your answer

Page 77



6

2.4 Conclusion

Signed (lead officer):  __________________________________________

Date:  

 

Page 78



Modern Gov – Consultation Implications Form 

Do any of the following apply to this issue/report? YES NO N/A
Consultation has already been completed.

A new plan, service or policy
Changing a current plan, service or policy.

The Council is 
considering

Implementation of a current plan, service or policy.
The Council needs evidence about the impact of 
changing external factors (demographic, economic, 
public policy) on community needs, perceptions and 
priorities.
The Council has sufficient evidence about 
community needs, perceptions and priorities on this 
issue/ policy/ plan/service. (including those of people 
with protected characteristics)

Evidence

There is an indication that the public or sections of 
the community are requesting changes to be made 
to Council plans, services or policies. (Complaints, 
petitions, Councillors ward information, MPs etc)
The Council has no or very little choice about 
implementation.
The Council has some/significant choice about 
implementation.
Are there external agencies who could be impacted 
significantly?

Changes 
proposed are 
prescribed by 
statute (the 
Council has a 
duty to 
implement 
change).

Are there internal stakeholders (services) who could 
be impacted?

There is a statutory duty to consult on this issue/plan/policy/service.
And the type of consultation is prescribed.

to undertake consultation on this issue.Council 
policy is: not to undertake consultation on this issue
It has been determined that a full equality impact assessment is required.

What is the scale and impact changes being considered could have?
(mark with an X) Little change                                                 Significant changes
Individuals/groups 
with protected 
characteristics
Few individuals

Most Households

Is consultation required? If no please summarise the reason below:

If yes please refer to the Council’s consultation toolkit available on the intranet.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

SMDC ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2018/19 – ACTION PLAN

Ref. Supporting Principles Examples of systems, 
processes, documentation 

& other evidence 
demonstrating compliance

Action/Assurance required Responsibility Timescale / 
Priority

Position @ 31/12/19

CP3.1 Having a clear vision which 
is an agreed formal 
statement of the 
organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes 
containing appropriate 
performance indicators 
which provides the basis 
for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning 
and other decisions

Vision used as a basis for 
corporate and service 
planning

Publication of refreshed 
Corporate Plan 2019-2023 
after Council elections.

Information 
Business Partner

31/03/20 Action Completed. 
Revised Corporate Plan 
approved by Cabinet 
October 2019 and 
available on intranet and 
publicised through Team 
Talk.

CP4.14 Ensuring the achievement 
of “social value” through 
service planning and 
commissioning.  The Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 
2012 states that this is “the 
additional benefit to the 
community…over and 
above the direct purchasing 
of goods, services and 
outcomes”

Service plans demonstrate 
consideration of “social 
value”

Achievement of “social 
value” is monitored and 
reported upon

Procurement Strategy due 
for presentation during 
2020 which will include 
reference and if deemed 
applicable defined 
processes in relation to 
Social Value.

Finance & 
Procurement 
Manager

31/03/20 Revised Procurement 
Strategy to be presented 
in the March / April 
committee cycle.

P
age 81



Ref. Supporting Principles Examples of systems, 
processes, documentation 

& other evidence 
demonstrating compliance

Action/Assurance required Responsibility Timescale / 
Priority

Position @ 31/12/19

CP6.11 Ensuring effective counter 
fraud ad anti-corruption 
arrangements are in place

Compliance with the Code 
of Practice on Managing 
the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption (CIPFA 2014)

Relevant Policies in place, 
further work ongoing.

Audit Manager 31/03/20 Further work ongoing in 
tandem with PSIAS action 
plan.

Significant governance 
issues identified in 2018/19 
Annual Governance 
Statement.

There has been a change 
in the operating model for 
the Council’s waste 
collection, fleet 
management, street 
cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services.

The street cleansing and 
grounds maintenance 
services are expected to be 
transferred to the Teckal 
company in September 
2019.

Executive 
Director 
(Transformation)

31/03/20 The transfer of the street 
cleansing and grounds 
maintenance services to 
the Teckal company is 
now expected on 1st April 
2020.

P
age 82



AGENDA ITEM

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to the Audit & Accounts Committee

14th February 2020

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A - Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2020/21

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to allow members of the Committee to consider 
and endorse the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21, 
ensuring that its capital and treasury activities for the next four years are 
affordable and properly managed.

2. Recommendation

2.1. That the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) 2020/21 
is recommended to Council for approval.

3. Executive Summary

3.1. The Council is required, in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, 
to produce an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement before the 
commencement of each financial year. 

3.2. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the 
Council to ‘have regard to’ the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code and Treasury Management Code of 
Practice. The Council is required to set prudential and treasury indicators for 
the next four years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.

3.3. The 2020/21Treasury Management Strategy Statement comprises three 
principal areas:

TITLE:           Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS)     
2020/21

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Council Leader

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene – Head of Finance
   Emily Bennetts – Finance Business Partner

WARDS:    Non-Specific

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



a. Capital Programme (section 6)
The capital plans and the prudential indicators
The minimum revenue provision (MRP) Policy

b. Treasury Management (section 7)
 Current Treasury position
 Treasury Indicators 
 Prospects for Interest Rates 
 The Borrowing Strategy

c. The Annual Investment Strategy (section 8)
 Investment Policy
 Creditworthiness Policy
 Investment Income

3.4. Members are asked to note the controls that have been put in place to 
manage the Council’s treasury management risks and activities and to 
endorse the Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1. Effective treasury management is critical to the safeguarding and 
management of the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. Sufficient 
financial resources are required to deliver and underpin the Council’s 
corporate priorities.

5. Options

5.1. This report sets the proposed treasury management approach based upon the 
Council’s financial plans. 

6. Implications

6.1. Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2. Workforce
None

6.3. Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's equality 
and diversity policies.

6.4. Financial Considerations
Financial considerations are embedded throughout the report.

6.5. Legal 
None

Page 84



6.6. Sustainability
None

6.7. Internal and External Consultation
None

6.8. Risk Assessment
There are a number of inherent financial risks associated with treasury 
management activity, not least the potential for loss of interest and/or deposits. 

The Council has engaged Link Asset Services as its treasury management 
advisors.

Investment and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the 
Council’s formally adopted Treasury Management Strategy, which is the 
subject of this report. The Strategy includes a number of risk management 
features such as the overriding priority that security of deposit takes 
precedence over return on investment.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contacts

‘Treasury Management – 
Governance and Scrutiny 
Arrangements’
 (Audit & Accounts
 Committee Sep 09)

Moorlands House, Leek Claire Hazeldene
Head of Finance
Tel. 01538 395400 #4191

Emily Bennetts
Finance Business Partner
Tel. 01538 395400 #4186

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Form - PUBLIC

NAME OF COUNCIL

This assessment will be public and published on the council website. Please ensure that 
any group who has been consulted to provide the information within this form has been 
given sufficient feedback. Information within this assessment should provide the equality 
implications in any relevant report and be available for members prior to any decisions in 
relation to the content of this assessment.

SECTION 1: Initial Screening

Name of policy1 or function2 being assessed Policy / Function Status
New Revised Existing

Responsible Service Area Date Form Completed

Lead Officer for this Assessment Contact Number

Is there likely to be an impact on:
Yes No Possibly

the availability, eligibility, quality or cost 
of a service to individuals, households, 
communities or specific groups of 
people
the quality of life of individuals, 
households, communities or specific 
groups of people
the opportunities for individuals, 
households, communities or specific 
groups of people to improve their lives in 
some specific way

If yes/possibly to any of the above questions then please complete section 2.

If No to all the above questions, please provide a brief explanation of why no further 
consideration is required with regard to the Council’s equality duties.

1 Definition of policy = This can include policies, procedures, guidance, strategies and/or plans

2 Definition of function = Broad areas of activity, duties or powers – usually a service or set of services, including 
services which are provided internally

Page 87



2

SECTION 2: 

2.1: Identifying the aims of the policy or function

Summarise: the main aims, objectives and/or purpose and scope of the policy, practice, 
service or function.

Who is/are the intended customer or beneficiary of this policy or function?

Page 88



3

2.2: Evidence of Impact

What evidence or data is being used to inform the Council’s understanding of the impact 
of the decision about this policy or function on equality target groups? (Please list and 
note where the evidence/data is held.)

Note: Evidence from consultation/engagement is particularly powerful. Please refer to the 
guidance available on the intranet.

Are there gaps/weaknesses in the available evidence/data which limit our understanding 
of the impact? 
Yes/No Detail:

If yes: How significant are these gaps? 
Not Significant – can proceed to 
decision

Justification:

Significant but can proceed to 
decision

Justification & action to be taken:

Significant and requires further 
investigation prior to a decision 
being made. 

Summarise the plan of action:

Page 89



4

2.3: Assessment of impact

Taking into account all the evidence available to you indicate where you think that the 
policy/function could have an intended or unintended negative impact on a particular group: i.e. it 
could cause some disadvantage. Potential discrimination may be direct - i.e. treating someone 
less favourably because of certain attributes of who they are or indirect i.e. when the proposed 
practice, policy or procedure may have the effect of disadvantaging people who share certain 
protected characteristics. Indicate where you think the policy/function could have an intended or 
unintended positive impact on any of the groups to promoting diversity and equality. Where the 
policy/function is not relevant to a particular group or has no potential impact indicate as neutral. 
Please give reasons for each outcome:

Protected Groups Negative 
Impact

Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Explain impact & state what 
action can be taken (either to mitigate 

negative impacts or enhance positive impacts) .
People of a 
particular age such 
as children, young 
people, older people
People with 
disabilities 
including physical 
disabilities, sensory 
impairments, limiting 
long-term illnesses, 
learning disabilities 
or mental health 
difficulties
Racial / minority 
ethnic groups? 

Women or men 
including those living 
in particular 
communities
Pregnant women 
or people on 
maternity or 
paternity leave or 
breastfeeding 
mothers.  
A person’s marital 
status including 
civil partnership 
People with a 
particular sexual 
orientation
People with 
particular religion or 
belief
Trans people or 
people planning to 
or going through 
gender 
reassignment

Page 90



5

If there is potential for significant negative impacts on groups with protected characteristics which 
either cannot be mitigated or where there is uncertainty about the efficacy of measures, 
consideration should be given to consultation/engagement (or specific consultation and 
engagement) with those groups of people who may/will be impacted. Please refer to the separate 
guidance. If further consultation takes place then the Assessment of Impact above (2.3) should be 
revised taking into account any additional evidence.

Is further information or consultation required to complete this assessment? Yes/No
If an adverse negative impact has been identified that cannot be fully mitigated, can it be 
justified on grounds of promoting equality of opportunity for one group or for any other 
reason? i.e. is it a proportionate response to achieve a legitimate and justified aim.  
Please explain.

 Consider is the response proportionate/balanced
 Seek legal advice to cross check
 Refer to guidance to support your answer

Page 91



6

2.4 Conclusion

Signed (lead officer):  __________________________________________

Date:  

 

Page 92



Modern Gov – Consultation Implications Form 

Do any of the following apply to this issue/report? YES NO N/A
Consultation has already been completed.

A new plan, service or policy
Changing a current plan, service or policy.

The Council is 
considering

Implementation of a current plan, service or policy.
The Council needs evidence about the impact of 
changing external factors (demographic, economic, 
public policy) on community needs, perceptions and 
priorities.
The Council has sufficient evidence about 
community needs, perceptions and priorities on this 
issue/ policy/ plan/service. (including those of people 
with protected characteristics)

Evidence

There is an indication that the public or sections of 
the community are requesting changes to be made 
to Council plans, services or policies. (Complaints, 
petitions, Councillors ward information, MPs etc)
The Council has no or very little choice about 
implementation.
The Council has some/significant choice about 
implementation.
Are there external agencies who could be impacted 
significantly?

Changes 
proposed are 
prescribed by 
statute (the 
Council has a 
duty to 
implement 
change).

Are there internal stakeholders (services) who could 
be impacted?

There is a statutory duty to consult on this issue/plan/policy/service.
And the type of consultation is prescribed.

to undertake consultation on this issue.Council 
policy is: not to undertake consultation on this issue
It has been determined that a full equality impact assessment is required.

What is the scale and impact changes being considered could have?
(mark with an X) Little change                                                 Significant changes
Individuals/groups 
with protected 
characteristics
Few individuals

Most Households

Is consultation required? If no please summarise the reason below:

If yes please refer to the Council’s consultation toolkit available on the intranet.

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement

Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement 

2020/21

Page 95



1. Introduction

1.1. The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly 
means that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of 
the treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed. Surplus 
monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council's low risk appetite, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering investment return.

1.2. The second main function of the treasury management service is the 
funding of the Council's capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide 
to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow 
planning to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending 
obligations. The management of longer term cash may involve arranging 
long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On 
occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council 
risk or cost objectives.

1.3. The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority 
is critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure 
liquidity or the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, 
either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects. The treasury 
operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the 
investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the available 
budget. Since cash balances generally result from reserves and balances, 
it is paramount to ensure adequate security of the sums invested, as a 
loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund balance.

1.4. Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 
treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
activities (arising usually from capital expenditure) and are separate from 
the day-to-day treasury management activities.

1.5. Treasury Management is defined by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) as “The management of the local 
authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”  The Council’s Treasury Management Policy 
Statement is included at Annex 1.

Page 96



2. Reporting Requirements

Capital Strategy

2.1. The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all 
local authorities to prepare an additional report - a capital strategy - which 
will provide the following:

 A high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of services.

 An overview of how the associated risk is managed.
 The implications for future financial sustainability.

2.2. The aim of the Capital Strategy is to ensure that all elected Members fully 
understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital 
strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.

2.3. The Capital Strategy is reported separately from the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and includes non-treasury investments. 
This ensures the separation of the core treasury function under security, 
liquidity and yield principles, and the policy and commercialism 
investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset. 

2.4. The capital strategy also includes a section specifically on loans to third 
parties – how these are assessed and the steps undertaken to determine 
the interest rate.

2.5. Where a physical asset is being purchased as part of the capital strategy, 
details of research, advice, ongoing costs and investment requirements 
and any credit information will be disclosed as part of the business case, 
including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.

2.6. Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, 
there should also be consideration in the business case of why borrowing 
was required and if applicable, why the MHCLG Investment Guidance and 
CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to.

2.7. If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts 
and audit process, the strategy and revenue implications will be reported.

2.8. To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and 
the non-treasury operation, high-level comparators are shown throughout 
this report.

Page 97



Treasury Management Reporting

2.9. The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year:

a. Treasury Strategy, which looks forward at least three years and 
includes:

 Treasury Management Strategy, explaining how the investments 
and borrowings are to be organised, including treasury indicators; 

 The Council’s capital plans, including prudential indicators;
 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy, stating how residual 

capital expenditure is charged to revenue over time; and
 Investment Strategy, stating the parameters on how investments 

are to be managed.

b. Mid-Year Treasury Management Report, which updates members on 
treasury activities during the financial year and provides for revisions to 
the Treasury Strategy and indicators as necessary.

c. Annual Treasury Report, which provides the outturn for the previous 
financial year, summarises the treasury activity for that year and 
includes a full listing of actual prudential indictors.

2.10. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement contained in this Appendix 
addresses the first of these requirements.

2.11. The Audit & Accounts Committee has delegated responsibility for 
scrutinising the treasury function prior to reports being formally approved 
at Council.

2.12. The respective roles & responsibilities of the Council, its Audit & Accounts 
Committee and the Section 151 Officer are noted in Annex 2.

Page 98



3.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2020/21

3.1. The 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy Statement comprises the 
following principal elements:
Capital Programme 
(section 6)

Capital plans and the prudential indicators
Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy

Treasury Management 
(section 7)

Current treasury position
Treasury indicators 
Prospects for interest rates 
The borrowing strategy

The Annual 
Investment Strategy
(section 8)

Investment policy
Creditworthiness policy
Investment income

3.2. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement meets the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP 
Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and MHCLG Guidance.

4.    Training

4.1. The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer (the Chief Finance Officer) to 
ensure that Members and Officers with responsibility for treasury management 
receive adequate training. Training is particularly important for Members who 
are responsible for the scrutiny of the Council’s treasury management.  A bite 
size briefing training session was provided for the Audit Committee in June 
2019.

4.2. A skills assessments is completed by Members of the Audit Committee 
periodically. The outcomes of these assessments will be incorporated into a 
training plan – including any treasury management training needs and training 
events organised as required.

5.    Treasury Management Consultants

5.1. The Council has appointed Link Asset Services: Treasury solutions as its 
external treasury management advisor, providing the Council with access to 
specialist skills and resources. The Council recognises that the responsibility 
for treasury management decisions remains with the organisation at all times 
and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon our external service 
providers.

5.2. It also recognises that there is a value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills 
and resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of appointment of 
treasury advisors and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

Page 99



6.    The Capital Programme & Prudential Indicators 

Capital Expenditure

6.1. The capital expenditure prudential indicator comprises a summary of the 
Council’s capital programme, which is a key driver of treasury 
management activity.

6.2. The table below summarises the Council’s capital expenditure plans and 
how these plans are to be financed. Any shortfall of resources results in a 
funding borrowing need:

2018/19
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

£ £ £ £ £ £
Capital Expenditure: 2,227,000 3,308,000 6,005,000 3,413,000 2,608,000 2,371,000
   General Fund Services 2,227,000 3,249,000 6,005,000 3,395,000 2,608,000 2,310,000
   Commercial activities/ 
   non-financial investments* 0 59,000 0 18,000 0 61,000

Financed by:
   External Contributions 878,000 1,211,000 1,227,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
   S106 Contributions 130,000 0 0 0 0 0
   Capital Receipts 0 0 93,000 16,000 0 11,000
   Earmarked Reserves 0 0 221,000 0 0 0
   Capital Reserves 574,000 1,285,000 215,000 0 0 0
Net Financing Need for Year 645,000 812,000 4,249,000 1,897,000 1,108,000 860,000

*Commercial activities/ non-financial investments relate to areas such as capital 
expenditure on investment properties, loans to third parties etc.

6.3. The net financing need for commercial activities/ non-financial investments 
included in the above table against expenditure is shown below:

2018/19
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21
Estimate

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

£ £ £ £ £ £
   Commercial activities/ 
   non-financial investments 0 59,000 0 18,000 0 61,000

   Financed by 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net Financing Need for Year 0 59,000 0 18,000 0 61,000
Percentage of total net 
financing need 0% 7% 0% 1% 0% 7%

Page 100



The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement)

6.4. The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR). The CFR is the total outstanding capital expenditure 
which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. 
This is essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need. 

6.5. The CFR increases each time the Council procures capital expenditure 
that it does not immediately pay for (i.e. the CFR increases when its 
expenditure is financed through borrowing).

6.6. Local authorities are required each year to set aside some of their 
revenues as provision for debt repayment. This is known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). The CFR is reduced each year by this MRP; 
each year’s borrowing need is divided by the life of the assets for which 
borrowing was undertaken, resulting in an annual charge to revenue, thus 
reducing the Council’s CFR.

6.7. The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. leases held on the 
balance sheet). Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the 
Council's borrowing requirement, these types of scheme include a 
borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to separately borrow 
for these schemes. The Council had £0 of these schemes within the CFR 
at 1st April 2019. 

6.8. A new accounting standard, IFRS16, is being implemented in the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and 
therefore the Council’s accounts from 20202/21. This standard relates to 
‘Right-of-Use’ assets and effectively replaces the former accounting 
standard for Leasing. The value of the Right-of-Use assets will similarly 
increase the CFR. The estimated impact of this change is expected to be 
immaterial, therefore is not included at this stage. Should any changes to 
the CFR be significant, this will be revised during the year.

Page 101



6.9. The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement is shown in the table below:
2018/19
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) £ £ £ £ £ £

CFR – services 16,230,000 16,936,000 21,182,000 22,732,000 23,495,000 23,907,000

CFR – Commercial 
activities/ non-financial 
investments

0 59,000 (1,000) 17,000 (2,000) 59,000

Total CFR 16,230,000 16,995,000 21,181,000 22,749,000 23,493,000 23,966,000

Movement in CFR (242,000) 765,000 4,186,000 1,568,000 744,000 473,000

Represented by:
Net financing  need for 
the year 645,000 812,000 4,249,000 1,897,000 1,108,000 860,000

Less Minimum Revenue 
Provision* (887,000) (47,000) (63,000) (329,000) (364,000) (387,000)

Movement in CFR (242,000) 765,000 4,186,000 1,568,000 744,000 473,000

*  MRP in 2018/19 includes cessation of former finance leases; increase in MRP in 
2021/22 onwards due to purchase of fleet vehicles 

6.10. A key aspect of the regulatory and professional guidance is that elected 
members are aware of the size and scope of any commercial activity in 
relation to the authority’s overall financial position. The capital expenditure 
figures and details shown above demonstrate the scope of this activity 
and, by approving these figures, consider the scale proportionate to the 
Authority’s remaining activity.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

6.11. The Council is required each year to set aside some of its revenues as 
provision for debt repayment. This essentially allows to Council to “pay off” 
an element of the Capital Financing Requirement annually through a 
revenue charge known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The 
Council is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if 
required (voluntary revenue provision, VRP).

Page 102



6.12. MHCLG regulations require the full Council to approve an MRP Statement 
in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, so 
long as there is a prudent provision. The Council is recommended to 
approve the following: For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 
2008, the MRP is based on a 4% reduction on the CFR balance each 
year; from 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing (including finance 
leases) the Council will apply the ‘Asset Life Method’ under which MRP is 
based on the estimated life of the asset for which the borrowing is 
undertaken. This provides a reduction in the borrowing need over the 
asset’s life.

6.13. If the Council makes a capital loan to a third party without repayment until 
maturity which creates a borrowing requirement for the Council, it will 
consider whether MRP should be set aside. Where security is in place 
against the loan, an Expected Credit Loss assessment will be performed 
periodically, at least at each Balance Sheet date, under IFRS9. Where this 
security is found to have maintained or increased its value to the 
satisfaction of the value of the loan, MRP will not necessarily be required. 
Where the Expected Credit Loss assessment is not favourable, a 
voluntary revenue provision will be made, which could be reversed at a 
later date should the situation improve.

6.14. The MHCLG MRP Guidance allows any charges made in excess of the 
statutory minimum revenue provision, i.e. voluntary revenue provision 
(VRP) or overpayments to be reclaimed in later years if deemed 
necessary or prudent. In order for these sums to be reclaimed for use in 
the budget, this policy must disclose the cumulative overpayment made 
each year. Up until 31st March 2019, the total VRP overpayments were 
£0.

6.15. Any deviation from the MRP policy – for example in respect of commercial 
investment, must be fully appraised and justified in consideration of risk. 

6.16. The Council agreed to provide a loan of £20m to Ascent LLP for an initial 
period of 5 years, with an option to refinance on maturity. £14million of this 
loan has now been drawn; £6million of the original facility remains.

6.17. The Council has funded the majority of the loan through external 
borrowing with internal borrowing where appropriate. The initial term of the 
loan is 5 years (relatively short-term) and the loan is secured as a priority 
debtor of the company, therefore there is no MRP requirement for the 
borrowing undertaken in respect of the Ascent loan. 

6.18. The first tranche of the loan of £7,000,000 reached the end of the initial 5 
year term in October 2017 and has been refinanced between Ascent and 
the Council on a rolling 1 year basis, with the most recent arrangement in 
place until October 2020. Similarly, the second tranche of the loan of 

Page 103



£7,000,000 reached the end of the initial term in November 2019; this too 
has been refinanced until November 2020. These refinancing 
arrangements are pending the outcome of the Ascent Business Plan 
Review which will inform any further longer-term refinancing. Therefore, at 
this stage there is still no requirement for MRP.

Use of the Council’s Resources and Investment Position

6.19. The Council builds up capital and revenue reserves as necessary for 
future application. The application of these resources to either finance 
capital expenditure or to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year 
from new sources (for example, asset sales, revenue surpluses). 
Reserves are invested, pending application, to earn a return which 
supplements the revenue budget.

6.20. An estimate of the amount available at year end for core investment 
including revenue and capital reserves and balances is shown in the table 
below:

Year End 
Resources

2018/19
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

£ £ £ £ £ £

Total Reserves 10,547,000 9,902,000 10,280,000 10,233,000 10,070,000 10,121,000

Working capital * 180,000 0 0 0 0 0
(Under)/over 
borrowing (5,230,000) (4,995,000) (4,932,000) (4,603,000) (4,239,000) (3,852,000)

Expected core 
investments 5,497,000 4,907,000 5,348,000 5,630,000 5,831,000 6,269,000

* Shown as ‘0’ for estimation purposes as dependent on the value of creditors/debtors at year end 

Affordability Prudential Indicators

6.21. The previous sections outline the Council’s capital expenditure plans and 
funding requirements. This section assesses the affordability of capital 
investment plans and the impact on the Council’s overall finances. 

Page 104



Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

6.22. This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing costs net 
of investment income) as a percentage of the Council’s net revenue 
stream (Council Tax and Business Rates receipts & Government funding).

2018/19
Actual

2019/20 
Estimate

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

Services 0.76% (0.45%) 0.10% 3.19%* 3.51% 3.62%

Commercial activities/
Non-financial investments** (3.79%) (5.24%) (4.21%) (3.69%) (3.48%) (3.38%)

Total (3.03%) (5.69%) (4.11%) (0.50%) 0.03% 0.24%

* increasing financing costs (MRP) in 2021/22 from forecast borrowing on fleet 
programme.
** financing costs on commercial activities/ non-financial investments are a net income.

Interest payable & interest receivable

6.23. Given the capital projections above, interest payable & interest receivable 
budgets for the next three years are forecast as follows:

2020/21 
Estimate

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

Borrowing Costs* £332,730 £724,750 £810,210 £866,870

Ascent Loan & Debenture Income (£645,390) (£655,100) (£665,100) (£655,100)

Investment Income (£88,510) (£119,970) (£152,030) (£186,370)

*MRP related to IFRS16 Right-of-Use assets not included in the budget

7.    Treasury Management 

7.1. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is 
organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that 
sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity and the Council’s 
capital strategy. This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow 
and, where capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing 
facilities. This strategy covers the relevant treasury and prudential 
indicators, the current and projected debt and investment positions and 
the annual investment strategy.

Page 105



Current Debt Position

7.2. The Council’s debt position at 31st March 2019 and its forward projections 
are summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt against 
the underlying borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 
highlighting any under or over borrowing.

March ‘19
Actual

£

March ‘20 
Estimate  

£

March ‘21 
Estimate  

£

March ‘22 
Estimate  

£

March ‘23 
Estimate  

£

March ‘24 
Estimate  

£
External Borrowing 11,000,000 12,000,000 16,249,000 18,146,000 19,254,000 20,114,000

Other long-term liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gross Debt at 31st March 11,000,000 12,000,000 16,249,000 18,146,000 19,254,000 20,114,000

Change in Debt position (1,854,000) 1,000,000 4,249,000 1,897,000 1,108,000 860,000

Capital Financing 
Requirement 16,230,000 16,995,000 21,181,000 22,749,000 23,493,000 23,966,000

(Under)/ over borrowing (5,230,000) (4,995,000) (4,932,000) (4,603,000) (4,239,000) (3,852,000)

*   Other long-term liabilities will include Right-of-Use assets under accounting standard IFRS16 
to be adopted from 2020/21. These are assets formerly known as operating leases which will be 
included on the balance sheet and therefore increase the CFR, similar to the former treatment of 
Finance Leases. The impact is expected to be immaterial therefore is not included at this stage. 
Should any changes be significant, the CFR limit and forecast will be revised during the year.

7.3. The Council is required to ensure that its Gross Debt does not, except in 
the short term, exceed the total of the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 
the current year and the following two financial years. This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that 
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes.

7.4. The Council is complying with this indicator in the current year and does 
not envisage any difficulty in complying over the life of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. This view takes into account current budget and future 
proposals with regard to the capital programme.

Page 106



Treasury Indicators - Limits to Borrowing Activity

7.5. The Council sets limits to ensure that the revenue consequences of the 
capital programme on external borrowing remain affordable.

Operational Boundary

7.6. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to 
exceed. This represents the Capital Financing Requirement plus an 
additional allowance to cover short-term liquidity requirements.

Operational boundary 2019/20 
Set

2020/21 
Settimg

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

£ £ £ £ £
Capital Financing 
Requirement 18,318,000 21,181,000 22,749,000 23,493,000 23,966,000

Remaining Ascent Loan 
facility* 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000

Allowance for borrowing to 
cover short-term cash flow** 5,166,000 5,494,000 5,719,000 5,928,000 6,150,000

Total Gross Debt 29,484,000 32,675,000 34,468,000 35,421,000 36,116,000

* Pending Ascent Business Plan Review
**Amount required in short-term to cover precepts (the highest cash outflow)

Authorised Limit for External Debt

7.7. This indicator represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing – a 
legal limit beyond which external debt is prohibited.  This limit needs to be 
set or revised by the full Council. It is the statutory limit determined under 
Section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. The Government retains 
an option to control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a 
specific council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

Authorised limit 2019/20
Set

2020/21 
Setting

2021/22 
Estimate

2022/23 
Estimate

2023/24 
Estimate

£ £ £ £ £
Operational Boundary 29,484,000 32,675,000 34,468,000 35,421,000 36,116,000
‘Headroom’ 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Total Gross Debt 30,984,000 34,175,000 35,968,000 36,921,000 37,616,000

Page 107



Prospects for Interest Rates

7.8. The table in Annex 4, provided by Link, draws together a number of 
current City forecasts for short term (Bank Rate) and borrowing rates. The 
table and comments below summarise Link’s view on average interest 
rates:

% Mar-
20

Jun-
20

Sep-
20

Dec-
20

Mar-
21

Jun-
21

Sep-
21

Dec-
21

Mar-
22

Jun-
22

Sep-
22

Dec-
22

Mar-
23

Bank Rate 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25
5yr PWLB 

rate 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20

10r PWLB 
rate 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50

25yr PWLB 
rate 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.10

50yr PWLB 
rate 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90 4.00 4.00

7.9. Link’s interest rate forecast incorporates the assumption that Parliament 
and the EU agree a Brexit deal including terms of trade between the UK 
and EU by December 2020. At the time of writing, the next Bank of 
England base rate rise is forecast to take place at the beginning of 2021.

7.10. However, there is much speculation about the thinking of the members of 
the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) who make these decisions about 
base rate moves. Potential scenarios therefore could see a move in either 
direction. For example, subdued GDP growth continuing due to 
uncertainties surrounding Brexit depressing consumer and business 
confidence could encourage the Bank of England to make a cut in Bank 
Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic growth and deal with the 
adverse effects of this situation. Conversely an agreement on the detailed 
terms of a trade deal and the resulting increased confidence could lead to 
a boost to the rate of growth in subsequent years.  This could, in turn, 
increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the Bank of 
England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate.

7.11. Overall the expectation is that investment returns are likely to remain low 
during 202/21 but to be on a gently rising trend over the next few years. 

7.12. Borrowing rates with the PWLB were increased in October 2019 by 1% as 
a reaction to their historically low prices. This source of borrowing has 
therefore become comparatively expensive and Local Authority lending 
markets have once again increased there activity offering low risk 
relatively low cost funding for up to five years. Some financial institutions 
would also consider lending to local authorities for longer terms. A full 
assessment would be undertaken if this were to be required. 

Page 108



7.13. The use of internal borrowing, i.e. using cash balances to temporarily 
reduce external borrowing, has produced savings over the last few years.  
However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid incurring higher 
borrowing costs in the future when authorities may not be able to avoid 
new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of 
maturing debt.

7.14. There would remain a cost of carry, (the difference between higher 
borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new long-term 
borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances as this 
position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.

Borrowing Strategy

7.15. The Council’s capital financing requirement is currently funded in the 
majority by external borrowing but also and maintains an under-borrowed 
position.

7.16. As highlighted above, the Council has an estimated total net financing 
requirement of £8,114,000 over the four years ending March 2024. The 
Treasury Strategy assumes that this will be funded via external borrowing.  
Options for internal borrowing will be considered against any changes to 
forecast capital spend and forecast interest rates.

7.17. ‘New borrowing’ is anticipated during each year to support the general 
fund capital programme net financing need occurring in those years. The 
existing external debt relating to the Ascent Loan funding matures during 
2020/21. The capital financing requirement will be closely monitored in 
order to make a decision on any necessary financing. Interest rate 
forecasts will also be monitored to identify any opportunities to refinance 
maturing debt in advance to reduce interest charges in the long-term.

Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

7.18. The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its need purely to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.

7.19. The Council however may consider borrowing in advance to protect it from 
higher borrowing costs within approved Capital Financing Requirement 
estimates to finance new capital expenditure or refinance existing loans. 

7.20. This will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be 
demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds. 
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to 
prior appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year reporting 
mechanism.

Page 109



Debt Rescheduling

7.21. Debt rescheduling is the reorganisation of existing debt in such a way as 
to amend the debt repayments, reduce the principal sum borrowed, alter 
the degree of volatility of debt or vary the interest payable, thus managing 
the risk. The treasury team, supported by the Council’s treasury advisors, 
will monitor prospects for debt rescheduling to achieve overall financial 
benefit to the Council.

Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

7.22. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed 
rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower 
limits. The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators 
and limits:

Maturity Structure of Borrowing* 2020/21 (Fixed Interest Rates)
Lower Upper**

Under 12 months 0% 100%
%12 months to 2 years 0% 100%

2 years to 5 years 0% 100%
5 years to 10 years 0% 100%
10 years and above 0% 100%

*external debt only (excludes Leases)
**this will be reviewed pending the outcome of the Ascent Business Review – 100% allows flexibility at this stage

Maturity Structure of Borrowing* 2020/21 (Variable Interest Rates)
Lower Upper**

Under 12 months 0% 100%
12 months to 2 years 0% 50%
2 years to 5 years 0% 0%
5 years to 10 years 0% 0%
10 years and above 0% 0%

*external debt only (excludes Leases)
**this will be reviewed pending the outcome of the Ascent Business Review – 100% allows flexibility at this stage
  Variable borrowing would not be utilised where interest rate risk is too greater in the longer term.

Control of Interest Rate Exposure

7.23. The Council reviews and manages the interest rate exposure of both 
borrowing and investments through the borrowing and investment 
strategies included in this document. Officers will monitor the balance 
between variable and fixed interest rates to ensure the Council is not 
exposed to adverse fluctuations in fixed or variable interest rate 
movements.

Page 110



8.   Annual Investment Strategy

Investment Policy

8.1. The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to 
included both financial and non-financial investments. This report deals 
solely with financial investments (as managed by the treasury 
management team). Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase 
of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy document.

8.2. The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on 
Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”), the CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”) and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Guidance Notes 2018.

8.3. The Council’s principal investment priorities are the security of capital and 
the liquidity of its investments. In addition to this, the Council will aim to 
achieve the optimum return on its investments commensurate with proper 
levels of security and liquidity. 

8.4. The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on 
the management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to 
managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means:

 Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a 
list of highly creditworthy counterparties. This also enables 
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key 
ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short and long-term 
ratings.

 Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; 
it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on 
both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and 
political environments in which institutions operate. The assessment 
will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To achieve this consideration, the Council will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as ‘credit default 
swaps’ and overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.

8.5. The investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are 
listed in Annex 5 under the headings, ‘Specified’ and ‘Non-Specified’ 
Investments. ‘Specified’ investments are those with a high level of credit 
quaity and subject to a maturity limit of one year. ‘Non-specified’ 
investments are more complex instruments, those with less high credit 
quality, may be for periods of more than one year and should be subject to 
greater consideration by members and officers before use.

Page 111



8.6. Counterparty limits will be set as part of the Treasury Strategy and 
maintained as part of the Council’s treasury management practices.

8.7. The Council will pursue value for money in treasury management and will 
monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks 
for investment performance. Regular monitoring of investment 
performance will be carried out and reported on during the year and at the 
end of the financial year in its Annual Treasury Report.

8.8. The above criteria on risk management are unchanged from last year.

Creditworthiness Policy

8.9. This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset 
Services. This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach 
utilising credit ratings from three main credit rating agencies – Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays:

 Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;
 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely 

changes in credit ratings; and
 Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most 

creditworthy countries.

8.10. Credit watches and outlooks are issued by the ratings agencies. ‘Credit 
watches’ are considered short-term actions, whereas ‘outlooks’ are 
considered over a longer term time horizon. Link includes the release of a 
negative or positive watch/outlook in its creditworthiness analysis.

8.11. A ‘Credit Default Swap’ is a contract between two counterparties in which 
the buyer of the contract makes quarterly payments to the seller of the 
contract in exchange for a payoff if there is a credit event of the reference 
entity. The contract essentially gives protection or ‘insurance’. Therefore, 
CDS spreads provide perceived market sentiment regarding the credit 
quality of an institution and are also used in the creditworthiness analysis 
to determine the durational band of investment with a financial institution. 

8.12. Link's creditworthiness model combines credit ratings, credit watches and 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system, with an overlay of CDS spreads, to 
produce a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are then used to 
determine the duration for investments. 

Page 112



8.13. Only counterparties that fall within a ‘durational band’ will be included on 
the Council’s lending list. In conjunction with the recommended durational 
limits, the Council has assigned corresponding investment limits to each 
banding. The limits have been set separately for UK banks and 
International banks.

UK Banks 

Category Principal 
Limit

Maximum 
Length

Portfolio (% of 
highest balance**)

Yellow* £4.6m Up to 5 years 20%
Purple £4.6m Up to 2 years 20%
Orange £4.1m Up to 1 year 18%

Red £3.4m Up to 6 months 15%
Green £2.9m Up to 100 days 13%

No Colour - Not to be used -
* UK Government debt instruments
**assumes highest balance in 2020/21 is £23,000,000

International Banks

Category Principal 
Limit

Maximum 
Length

Portfolio (% of 
highest balance*)

Purple £3.4m Up to 2 years 15%
Orange £2.7m Up to 1 year 12%

Red £2.3m Up to 6 months 10%
Green £1.8m Up to 3 months 8%

No Colour - Not to be used -
* assumes highest balance in 2020/21 is £23,000,000

8.14. The Council’s lending list includes part and fully Nationalised UK banks, 
which have been assigned the ‘blue’ category as per Link’s 
creditworthiness matrix. This category has been allocated a longer 
durational period and higher investment limit since it has strong 
Government support. The table below assigns investment limits:

Category Principal 
Limit

Maximum 
Length

Portfolio (% of 
highest balance*)

Blue £4.6m Up to 1 year 20%
NatWest (the Council’s 

main bank account) £6.9m Up to 1 year 30%
* assumes highest balance in 2020/21is £23,000,000

8.15. The Council is alerted to changes in ratings and market movements 
through its use of the Link creditworthiness service. If a downgrade results 
in the counterparty no longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, it will 
no longer be used for new investments. All ratings will be monitored prior 
to any new investments being placed. 

Page 113



Group Limits

8.16. To reduce its risk further the Council has set a group limit for fixed term 
deposits in institutions with the same parent. The group limit will increase 
to the portfolio percentage of the colour band the institution is rated in at 
the time by a further 50% where at least the additional amount is held in 
an instant access account:

Category
Portfolio (% 
of highest 
balance*)

Individual 
Principal 

Limit

Portfolio % 
increased by 

50%
Group Principal 

Limit

Blue 20% £4.6m 30% £6.9m
Purple 20% £4.6m 30% £6.9m
Orange 18% £4.1m 27% £6.2m

Red 15% £3.4m 23% £5.2m
Green 13% £2.9m 20% £4.6m

* assumes highest balance in 2020/21 is £23,000,000 

Money Market Funds

8.17. The Council has access to several Money Market Funds (MMF) - all of 
which are ‘AAA’ rated. A ‘Money Market Fund’ is a pooled vehicle 
investing in a number of investment instruments with varying maturity 
periods in a number of different countries. Money Market Funds provide 
an alternative option for the Council when placing short-term funds and 
provide for diversification of the investment portfolio.

8.18. The Council has set an investment limit for each Money Market Fund:

Principal 
Limit

Maximum 
Length

Portfolio (% of 
highest balance*)

Individual MMF £4.6m Up to 1 year 20%
Total MMF investments** £6.9m Up to 1 year 30%

* assumes highest balance in 2020/21 is £23,000,000
** maximum held in MMF’s at any one time

Country Limits

8.19. A sovereign credit rating is the credit rating of a sovereign entity i.e. a 
country. The highest sovereign rating awarded is ‘AAA’. The evolving 
regulatory environment, in tandem with the rating agencies’ new 
methodologies, means that sovereign ratings are now of lesser 
importance in the assessment process and the new regulatory 
environment is attempting to break the link between sovereign support 
and domestic financial institutions. 

Page 114



8.20. While the Council understands the changes that have taken place, it will 
continue to use sovereign ratings of individual counties in addition to credit 
ratings when making investment decisions. When investing with 
institutions outside the UK, only banks and building societies located in 
countries with a minimum sovereign rating of ‘AAA’ will be used. This is in 
relation to the fact that the underlying domestic and, where appropriate, 
international economic and wider political and social background will still 
have an influence on the ratings of a financial institution. There are 
currently 10 ‘AAA’ rated countries approved for investments, as follows, 
this list will be updated during the year should any sovereign ratings 
change:

Ethical investing

8.21. Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA, makes clear that all 
investing must adopt the SLY principals, whereby security of investments 
is always the priority, followed by liquidity, then yield. There is a growing 
interest in local authority investing around Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG) issues including the incorporation of ESG metrics into 
credit rating agency assessments and a small number of financial 
institutions promoting ESG products. However, this is still an emerging 
market and any ESG consideration must always be subordinate to the 
SLY priorities in order to protect the Council’s funds. The Council, with the 
assistance of the Council’s advisors, Link, will maintain an interest in and 
keep under review investment opportunities with ESG links.

Investment income

8.22. The Council’s in-house managed funds are derived from a core balance 
available for capital and revenue funding and day-to-day cash flows. At 
31st March 2019 the core balances available for investment were 
£10,547,000. Core balances are available for investment in line with the 
profile of capital expenditure and requirements of the revenue budget. 
Investments are therefore made with reference to the core balance and 
cash flow requirements and the outlook for interest rates.

Investment Return Expectations

8.23. Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:
 March 2021 0.75%
 March 2022 1.00%
 March 2023 1.25%
 March 2024 1.50%

Australia Canada Denmark Germany Luxembourg

Netherlands Norway Singapore Sweden Switzerland

Page 115



8.24. For 2020/21 the Council has budgeted for an average investment return of 
0.75%. The average rates assumed on new investments is as follows: 

 Fixed Term Investments (3 month to 1 year), 1.04%
 Instant Access Business Accounts and short-term fixed 

deposits, an average of 0.61%.

8.25. The 2020/21 income budget is as follows:
 £645,390 from the loan/ debenture to Ascent LLP
 £88,150 from investments with other institutions

Long-term Investments (greater than 365 days)

8.26. When placing long-term investments with counterparties, other than under 
the Ascent LLP agreement, the Council’s liquidity requirements, 
availability of funds and counterparty eligibility need to be taken into 
consideration. 

8.27. These longer-term investments could include Property Funds or Multi-
Asset Funds. A full review and selection process would take place with 
input from the Council’s advisors, Link, in advance of entering in to any 
commitment to fully ensure that it is appropriate for the Council.

8.28. The table below sets the limit on the total principal funds that may be 
invested for greater than 365 days.

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Principal sums invested > 365 days £3,500,000 £3,500,000 £3,500,000 £3,500,000

Page 116



ANNEX 1 

Treasury Management Policy Statement

In accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management, 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council defines the policies and objectives of its 
treasury management activities as follows:

1. The Council defines its treasury management activities as: “The 
management of the authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks.”

2. The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control 
of risk to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury 
management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and 
reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered 
into to manage these risks.

3. The Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will 
provide support towards the achievement of its business and service 
objectives. It is therefore committed to the principles of achieving value for 
money in treasury management, and to employing suitable 
comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context 
of effective risk management.

Page 117



ANNEX 2

Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation

(i) Full Council
 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 

practices and activities;
 approval of annual strategy.

(ii) Audit & Accounts Committee
 approval of/ amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practices;
 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 

recommendations to the responsible body;
 budget consideration and approval;
 approval of the division of responsibilities;
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations;
 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms 

of appointment.

The treasury management role of the section 151 (responsible) officer

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/ practices for 
approval, reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
 submitting budgets and budget variations;
 receiving and reviewing management information reports;
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 

the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 
function;

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
 recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

Page 118



ANNEX 3
Management Practices for Non-Treasury Investments 

This Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property 
primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, 
requires careful investment management. Such activity includes loans supporting 
service outcomes, investments in subsidiaries, and investment property 
portfolios.

This Council will ensure that all the Council’s investments are covered in the 
capital strategy, investment strategy or equivalent, and will set out, where 
relevant, the organisation’s risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements 
for non-treasury investments. It will be recognised that the risk appetite for these 
activities may differ from that for treasury management.

The Council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing material 
investments, subsidiaries, joint venture and liabilities including financial 
guarantees and the organisation’s risk exposure.

Page 119



ANNEX 4
UK Interest Rate Forecast (Link)

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

12 Month LIBID 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

5yr PWLB Rate 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20

10yr PWLB Rate 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50

25yr PWLB Rate 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.10

50yr PWLB Rate 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90 4.00 4.00

Bank Rate

Link Asset Services 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25% 1.25%

Capital Economics 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 0.75% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 2.40% 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20%

Capital Economics 2.40% 2.50% 2.50% 2.60% 2.60% 2.80% 2.80% 2.90% - - - - -

10yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 2.70% 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50%

Capital Economics 2.70% 2.70% 2.80% 2.80% 2.90% 3.00% 3.00% 3.10% - - - - -

25yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 3.30% 3.40% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.70% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00% 4.10% 4.10%

Capital Economics 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% - - - - -

50yr PWLB Rate

Link Asset Services 3.20% 3.30% 3.30% 3.40% 3.50% 3.60% 3.60% 3.70% 3.80% 3.90% 3.90% 4.00% 4.00%

Capital Economics 3.10% 3.10% 3.20% 3.20% 3.30% 3.40% 3.40% 3.50% - - - - -

 

Page 120



ANNEX 5
Specified and Non-Specified Investments

Specified Investments

All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities up to maximum 
of 1 year*, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable.

Investment Instrument Minimum ‘High’ Credit Criteria Investment Limit**
Debt Management Agency 
Deposit Facility (DMADF) n/a n/a

Term deposits – local 
authorities n/a As per lending limits 

Yellow UK
Term deposits – housing 
associations n/a n/a

Bridging Loans (Community 
Groups within LA area)

Decision made on individual basis 
& subject to presentation of 
required documents

n/a

UK Government Gilts and 
Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating As per lending limits 

Yellow UK
Certificates of deposits (CDs) 
or corporate bonds with banks 
and building societies

 Based on Link Creditworthiness 
analysis. Lowest Band – GREEN
Sovereignty Rating –AAA (exc UK)

As per individual / 
group lending limits

Term deposits – banks and 
building societies 

 Based on Link Creditworthiness 
analysis. Lowest Band – GREEN
Sovereignty Rating –AAA (exc UK)

As per individual / 
group lending limits

UK (Part-)Nationalised Banks  Based on Link Creditworthiness 
analysis. Lowest Band – BLUE

As per individual / 
group lending limits

UK Instant Access Accounts  Based on Link Creditworthiness 
analysis. Lowest Band – GREEN

As per individual / 
group lending limits

* If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period should not exceed 
one year in aggregate 

** must conform to both institution and group limits set

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs):

Investments Minimum Credit 
Criteria

Investment Limit/ 
Max. % of total investments

Max. maturity 
period

Money Market Funds 
(CNAV & LVNAV) AAA rated As per individual / group 

lending limits Liquid

Page 121



Non-specified Investments

Non-specified investment instruments are assumed to take on greater risk and 
should therefore be subject to greater scrutiny. They include investments that are 
for a period of more than one year and instruments that the Council has very 
limited experience and expertise in dealing with. A maximum of £9,200,000 (40% 
of the projected highest balance) will be held in aggregate in non-specified 
investments.

Non-specified Investments Minimum Credit Criteria
Investment Limit 
/ Max. % of total 

investments
Max. maturity period

Term deposits – UK government 
(maturities in excess of 1 year) UK Sovereign Rating > 365 day limit 5 years

Term deposits – other LAs / Parish 
Councils (maturities in excess of a 
year)

n/a > 365 day limit

Individual case basis, 
inclusive of options for the 
Council to review terms at 
specified periods of time (no 
greater than 5 years)

Term & Callable deposits – banks and 
building societies (maturities in excess 
of 1 year)

Based on Link 
Creditworthiness analysis. 
Lowest Band – PURPLE

> 365 day limit 2 years

Commercial Paper

Based on Link 
Creditworthiness analysis. 
Lowest Band – GREEN
Sovereignty Rating AAA/ UK

£2,300,000 (10% 
of highest 
balance)

1 year

UK Government Gilts – all maturities UK Sovereign Rating
£2,300,000 (10% 
of highest 
balance)

2 years

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks  - all maturities Long term AAA

£2,300,000 (10% 
of highest 
balance)

6 months

Bonds issued by a financial institution 
which is guaranteed by the UK 
government – all maturities

UK Sovereign Rating
£2,300,000 (10% 
of highest 
balance)

2 years

Sovereign bond issues (i.e. other than 
the UK govt) – all maturities Long Term AAA

£2,300,000 (10% 
of highest 
balance)

2 years

Treasury Bills – all maturities UK Sovereign Rating
£3,400,000 (15% 
of highest 
balance)

2 years

Property Funds/ Multi Asset Funds Full due diligence to select 
appropriate fund > 365 day limit n/a

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs):

Investments Minimum Credit 
Criteria

Investment  Limit/ 
Max. % of total 

investments

Max. 
maturity 
period

    Government Liquidity Funds – 
    all maturities AAA rated £3,400,000 (15% of 

highest balance) 2 years

    Enhanced cash funds – 
    all maturities AAA rated £2,300,000 (10% of 

highest balance) Liquid

    Gilt Funds – all maturities UK Sovereign Rating £2,300,000 (10% of 
highest balance) 2 years

Page 122



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Audit & Accounts Committee

14 February 2020

TITLE: Treasury Management Update

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Ralphs - Council Leader SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Hazeldene - Deputy Director and Head 
of Finance,                                                      
Emily Bennetts – Finance Business Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: All

Appendices Attached – Appendix A – Treasury Management Mid-Year 
Update Report to 31st December 2019

1. Reason for the Report

1.1. The purpose of the report is to allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s 
Treasury Management performance in 2019/20 in compliance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management and generally accepted good practice.

2. Recommendation

2.1. That Members note the current Treasury Management position as at 31st 
December 2019.

3. Executive Summary

3.1. The CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by the 
Council in February 2010. This Council fully complies with its requirements, one 
of which is to produce at least one mid-year operational report.

3.2. This report comprises the following:

 The latest interest rate forecast;

 Investment income earned to date and projected for 2019/20;

 The current investment portfolio;

 The current and projected borrowing requirements with projected 
borrowing costs for 2019/20; and

 Compliance against prudential and treasury indicators set in the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2019/20.

Page 123

Agenda Item 9



3.3. The main headlines include:
 The Bank of England base rate remains unchanged at 0.75% with the next 

forecast increase at March 2021.

 A shortfall of £28,000 is forecast against the investment income budget 
due to the delayed increase in interest rates and continuing internal 
borrowing.

 A surplus of £9,310 is anticipated from the Ascent debenture and loan 
income subject to the timing of the implementation of the proposal for the 
Ascent Delivery model and new loan arrangement.

 The borrowing costs budget to support the existing Ascent loan balance 
and a potential general fund borrowing requirement is currently forecast to 
be £83,000 under budget owing to the use of internal borrowing and re-
profiling of the capital programme. 

 The average return on investments was 0.75% during the period 1st 
October to 31st December. This compares favourably to short-term industry 
benchmarks.

 The Council’s investment portfolio totalled £13.8million spread across six 
separate institutions as at 31st December 2019.

 The Council’s current level of debt is £10million at an average annual 
borrowing rate of 1.50%.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1. An effective Treasury Management function is critical in safeguarding and 
effectively managing the financial resources at the Council’s disposal. Sufficient 
financial resources are required to deliver and underpin all of the Council’s main 
priorities.

5. Alternative Options

5.1. This report sets out the Treasury Management position for Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council for 2019/20 to date and the projected outturn. As 
such it is a statement of fact and there are no options.

Andrew P Stokes
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

‘Treasury Management – Governance & 
Scrutiny Arrangements’ (Audit & Accounts 
Committee September 2009)

‘Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2019/20’ (Audit & Accounts 
Committee February 2019)

Finance & 
Procurement 
Moorlands House, 
Leek

Claire Hazeldene
Deputy Director & Head of Finance
Claire.Hazeldene@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Emily Bennetts
Finance Business Partner
emily.bennetts@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 124



Appendix A

Treasury Management Update 
31st December 2019

1. Introduction 

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

3. Investment Income

4. Investment Portfolio

5. Borrowing Position

6. Prudential Indicators

Page 125



1. Introduction 

1.1. Treasury Management is defined as “The management of the Authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those 
risks”.

1.2. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management which recommends that Members should be updated on 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year.

1.3. The Audit & Accounts Committee has delegated responsibility for 
scrutinising the treasury function.  The Committee’s role includes approval 
of the annual treasury management strategy and scrutiny of operational 
treasury management reports.  Decisions taken by the Audit & Accounts 
Committee are reported to full Council.

1.4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20 was 
approved by Council on 8th February 2019. This report details treasury 
management performance up to the 31st December 2019 and projects 
forward for the remainder of the financial year.

2. Economic Forecast – Interest Rates

2.1. The Council’s treasury advisers, Link Asset Services (‘Link’), provide the 
latest bank rate and PWLB (Public Works Loan Board) forecast: 

% Mar-
20

Jun-
20

Sep-
20

Dec-
20

Mar-
21

Jun-
21

Sep-
21

Dec-
21

Mar-
22

Jun-
22

Sep-
22

Dec-
22

Mar-
23

Bank Rate 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25
5yr PWLB 

rate 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20

10r PWLB 
rate 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50

25yr PWLB 
rate 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.10

50yr PWLB 
rate 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90 4.00 4.00

2.2. Link’s interest rate forecast takes account of the continuing uncertainties 
around the exit of the EU and political situations both domestic and 
international. The next increase for the Bank of England base rate to 1.00% 
is forecast for the quarter ending March 2021 with no further increase 
beyond this until June 2022. Link continues to acknowledge that unfolding 
events could prompt movements in rates in either direction at any time. 

Page 126



3. Investment Income 

3.1. Interest earned on investment deposits up to 31st December 2019 totalled 
£66,290. The Council has budgeted to receive £117,580 in investment 
income in 2019/20. The budget was set with an expectation of higher 
interest rates than the current environment: 1.00% for the first three 
quarters of the year and a further potential rate rise to 1.25% at the end of 
the year. The Bank of England base rate remains at 0.75% and is now not 
expected to rise until 2021. In addition the investment portfolio is reduced 
due to the continuation of internal borrowing. Therefore a shortfall of 
£28,000 is forecast on the investment income budget.

3.2. The average interest rate achieved on the Council’s investments is shown 
in the table below; this compares favourably to the LIBID rates, the 
recognised industry benchmark:

Comparator Average 
Rate Q1

Average 
Rate Q2

Average 
Rate Q3

SMDC Average 0.81% 0.78% 0.75%
SMDC long-term fixed (>364 days) 1.18% 1.18% 1.18%
SMDC short-term fixed (<364 days) - - -
SMDC instant access 0.72% 0.69% 0.67%
Benchmarks
*LIBID 7 day rate 0.57% 0.56% 0.57%
*LIBID 3 month rate 0.68% 0.64% 0.64%
*LIBID 6 month rate 0.78% 0.69% 0.74%
*LIBID 12 month rate 0.91% 0.75% 0.83%
Base Rate at the end of the period 0.75% 0.75% 0.75%

                      *LIBID = London Inter Bank Bid Rate

3.3. The table below highlights the level of investment activity and the rates 
obtained in the period from 1st October to 31st December 2019.  
Investments are made in line with Link’s creditworthiness guidance and the 
duration limits applied to each colour banding.

Institution
Country 

of 
Domicile

Amount Length Rate

No fixed investments during the period
Reserve Accounts
(instant access accounts and money 
market funds)

UK £2,776,361
(daily average) Various 0.67%

3.4. The rates achieved by the Council vary by institution, by duration of 
investment and by the timing of when the investment was made. The 
Council’s lending criteria restricts the number of financial institutions that 
are eligible to be on the lending list, and the amount that can be invested 
with eligible counterparties (and counterparty groups) at any one time. 

Page 127



3.5. The majority of the investment portfolio is held on a short-term basis (<1 
year). The Council uses same day access business accounts, money 
market funds, fixed term deposits, and certificates of deposits (via the use 
of custodian, King & Shaxson), which offer competitive rates and access to 
banks that would not necessarily deal direct with the Authority for the sums 
invested.

Ascent Joint Venture

3.6. The Council established a Joint Venture with Your Housing Group in 
October 2010 to provide affordable housing across the District.  Each party 
provided a £5million debenture to the Joint Venture Company, Ascent LLP; 
the Council receiving interest at 2.0% on debenture monies drawn. In 
addition, the Council also provided a loan facility of £14million (from a 
£20million approved facility) with interest payable based on the PWLB rate 
at the date of each drawdown for the specified period plus a 1.25% risk 
premium. The average total interest rate for the year is 3.53%.

3.7. A report was approved by Cabinet on 18th June 2019 (exempt by the virtue 
of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972) reviewing the Ascent Business Plan and Delivery Model and 
proposing a new loan arrangement with Your Housing.  In line with the 
Council’s financial regulations, the new loan arrangement was subsequently 
approved by Council on 10th July 2019. 

3.8. Following this approval, the Council is now working with Your Housing on 
the dissolution of Ascent, repayment of the original Loan and Debenture 
from Ascent and the completion of a new loan agreement.

3.9. The existing £14million Loan is a priority debtor therefore would be repaid in 
full.  The £5million Debenture owed to the Council and similarly the 
£5million Debenture owed to Your Housing are of equal priority and are 
expected to be subject to an impairment estimated at £895,000 which would 
be shared equally between the two parties, the Council’s share being 
£447,500 (as outlined in the Cabinet report).  

3.10. The 2019/20 income budget was based on the original investments 
continuing: £100,000 income from the Debenture and £484,270 from the 
Loan. Based on the existing arrangements being in place until at least the 
end of the current financial year, a surplus income of £9,310 is forecast due 
to the new rates applied to the refinanced tranches on 11th October, 3.83% 
(was 3.05%) and 21st November, 3.90% (was average 3.47%). This 
forecast is subject to change should new arrangements be in place before 
the end of the year.

Page 128



4. Investment Portfolio

4.1. The Council manages its investments in-house and invests with financial 
institutions meeting the Council’s approved lending criteria.  The Council’s 
investment portfolio at 31st December 2019 totalled £13,773,000, as shown 
in the table below:

Financial Institution
Country 

of 
Domicile

Amount
Maximum 

recommended lending 
duration

Interest 
rate at end 
of period

Average 
Maturity

NatWest Bank UK £3,873,000 BLUE (12 months) 0.30% Instant access
Federated MMF UK £2,700,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.73% Instant access
Handelsbanken UK £2,100,000 ORANGE (12 months) 0.65% Instant access
Lloyds Bank UK £2,000,000 ORANGE (12 months) 1.18% 364 days
Aberdeen MMF UK £1,900,000 WHITE (12 months) 0.73% Instant access
Santander UK £1,200,000 RED (6 months) 1.00% 95 day notice

TOTAL £13,773,000
NB: MMF = Money Market Fund

4.2. The maximum investment term, as recommended by Link, is shown by 
colour banding in the table below:

4.3. Group limits are also applied:

Category
Portfolio (% of 

highest 
balance*)

Individual 
Principal 

Limit

Portfolio % 
increased by 

50%

Group 
Principal 

Limit
BLUE 20% £4.0m 30% £6.0m

PURPLE 20% £4.0m 30% £6.0m
ORANGE 18% £3.6m 27% £5.4m

RED 15% £3.0m 23% £4.6m
GREEN 13% £2.6m 20% £4.0m

Money Market Funds 18% £3.6m 23% £4.6m

Colour Banding Maximum Duration 
of Investment

UK 
Banks

International 
Banks

PURPLE Up to 2 years £4.0m £3.0m
ORANGE Up to 12 months £3.6m £2.4m

RED Up to 6 months £3.0m £2.0m
GREEN Up to 100 days £2.6m £1.6m

BLUE (Part & fully nationalised 
financial institutions) Up to 1 year £4.0m n/a

BLUE (NatWest) Up to 1 year £6.0m n/a

Money Market Funds Up to 1 year £3.6m n/a

Page 129



4.4. The average annual level of funds available for investment up to 31st 
December 2019 was £11.4million. Investments are generally made up of 
short-term cash and core cash. Short-term cash is dependent on the timing 
of major payments e.g. precept payments, salaries and creditor payments, 
and major receipts e.g. receipt of grants and Council Tax direct debits.  
Core cash is dependent on capital programme commitments.

5. Borrowing Position

5.1. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, it is a statutory duty of 
the Council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to 
borrow.  Therefore, the Council establishes ‘affordable borrowing limits’ as 
part of the prudential indicators within the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement.

5.2. The Council’s outstanding borrowing at 31st December 2019 totalled 
£10,000,000 all with other Local Authorities:

Lender External 
Borrowing

Current Average 
Interest Rate

Remaining 
Maturity period

Local Authority Loans £10,000,000 1.50% Up to 1 year

5.3. The ‘operational boundary’ (£29,484,000) and ‘authorised limit’ (£30,984,000) 
indicators govern the maximum level of external borrowing to fund the capital 
programme, plus any short-term liquidity requirements.  They were set 
through the Treasury Management Strategy Statement to account for the 
general fund borrowing requirement; an allowance for borrowing to cover 
short-term liquidity; and funding of the loan to the Joint Venture Company, 
Ascent. The current level of borrowing is well within prudential limits.

5.4. There has been no ‘new’ borrowing so far during the year. Maturity and 
refinancing activity is summarised in the table below:

Amount Lender Interest 
Rate Term Month

Maturing Loans
£1,000,000 Vale of Glamorgan Council 0.95% 6 months August
£1,000,000 Western Isles Council 1.00% 9 months October
£1,500,000 Milton Keynes Council 2.00% 5 years November
£1,000,000 Gloucestershire City Council 1.95% 4.9 years December
£4,500,000 Total maturities

Refinancing
£1,500,000 Brighton & Hove City Council 0.99% 1 year November
£2,000,000 Gloucestershire City Council 0.95% 1 year December
£3,500,000 Total refinancing

Page 130



5.5. There are three further maturities taking place during the fourth quarter of the 
year, a total of £4million. It is anticipated that the full amount will be 
refinanced on a short term basis, pending the outcome of the Your Housing 
loan arrangements. 

5.6. The £294,390 budget for borrowing costs was based on externally funding 
the full Ascent loan balance of £14million and the potential for £2.8million of 
new loans to be taken mid-year to support the general fund borrowing 
requirement. Between £3million and £4million of the Ascent loan balance has 
been internally funded during the year and there has been no external 
borrowing for other general fund projects either because of re-profiling or 
internal funding, therefore an underspend of £83,000 is currently forecast 
against the budget. The treasury team will continue to monitor refinancing, 
internal and new external borrowing requirements and opportunities 
considering the movement in interest rates and the cost of carry of any 
borrowings taken.

6. Prudential Indicators

6.1. The Council has operated within the treasury management and prudential 
indicators set in its Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2019/20 and 
complies with the Council’s Treasury Management Practices.

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to the Audit and Accounts Committee

14th February 2020

Appendices attached: 
Appendix A: Strategic Risks (by exception)
Appendix B: Operational Risks (by exception)
Appendix C: Project Risks (by exception)
Appendix D: Opportunity Risks (all registers by exception)

1.        Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to allow the robust scrutiny of the Council’s Risk 
Management arrangements in accordance with generally accepted good 
practice.  

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the committee notes the Council’s current risk position and the mitigation 
/ fruition plans summarised within Appendix A (strategic risks), Appendix B 
(operational risks), Appendix C (project risks) and Appendix D (opportunity 
risks). 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers are reviewed 
by the Audit and Accounts Committee on an exception basis. This report is 
based upon the Council’s position as at December 2019.   

3.2 The latest analysis of the Strategic Risk Register reveals that the Council has 
identified and assessed 15 strategic risks, of which 40% are rated as 'high' 

TITLE: Risk Management Update (overview of 
strategic, operational and project risks)   

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 

CONTACT OFFICER: Information Business Partner

WARDS INVOLVED: Non-specific

Page 133

Agenda Item 10



and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. The six ‘high’ rated 
risks are listed in full at Appendix A.   

3.3 The Operational Risk Registers reveal that the Council has identified and 
assessed 32 operational risks in total, of which five are rated as ‘high’ and 
therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance thresholds. The risks falling within 
the ‘high’ category are listed in full at Appendix B.

3.4 The project risk registers now cover 12 projects and the risk profile is bulleted 
below:

 0% Critical 
 3% High – 1 risk 
 23% Medium – 7 risks
 74% Low – 23 risks

4. Evaluation of Options

4.1 There are no options to consider

5. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

5.1 Risk Management impacts on all service areas and therefore links to each of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan aims.   

6. Implications

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2 Workforce
None 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4 Financial Considerations
Effective Risk Management contributes to financial objectives 

6.5 Legal
None

6.6 Sustainability
None

6.7 Internal and External Consultation
None

Page 134



6.8 Risk Assessment
The Council’s Risk Registers are a critical element in the Council’s 
Risk Management Framework.  

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) & Chief Finance Officer

Background Papers Location Contact details

Risk Registers – December 2019 Moorlands House Information Business Partner
Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk 
Tel Ext 4057

Page 135

mailto:Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.gov.uk


7. Background and Introduction

7.1 The Council ensures that it undertakes a deliberate and systematic 
identification of the key risks that might prevent, degrade, delay or enhance 
the achievement of its objectives and priorities. The Council's Risk 
Management Strategy sets out the process for undertaking this on an ongoing 
basis. 

7.2 In addition to the identification of risks, managers also have to quantify them in 
terms of likelihood and potential impact. The risks are then recorded in the 
Council's Risk Registers. These have three aspects – strategic, operational 
and project risks. 

7.3 Under the Risk Management Strategy, the Council’s ‘risk tolerance’ threshold 
is set along the border between ‘medium’ and ‘high’ rated residual risks. The 
Strategy stipulates that mitigating actions should be identified for all risks that 
exceed this threshold.

7.4 The Council’s Strategic, Operational and Project Risk Registers are reviewed 
on a quarterly basis and reported into the Corporate Risk Management Group 
and the Audit and Accounts Committee on an exception basis. The 
appendices provide details of all risks that have been rated as ‘high’ or above, 
and therefore beyond the Council’s risk tolerance threshold.  

8. Strategic Risks

8.1 The strategic risk register is currently being reviewed in light of the new 
corporate plan to ensure it remains relevant; capturing the threats and 
opportunities around revised priorities. 

8.2 The December 2019 analysis of the Strategic Risk Register reveals that the 
Council has identified and assessed 15 Strategic Risks, of which 40% are 
rated as 'high' and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold. 
There has been no significant change to the risk register from the previously 
reported position. There continue to be four opportunity risks within the 
register – housing growth, business growth, commercialism (trading) and 
effective contractor relations, which the alliance is working to reap the 
benefits from. 

8.3 The Council’s risk profile is displayed below and remains unchanged from the 
previously reported position.    

Residual Risk 
Rating

Staffs Moorlands
Risks

Alliance
Risks

Total
Risks

Critical - - -
High - 6 6
Medium - 7 7
Low - 2 2

Total Risks 15

Page 136



 

Matrix 1: Risk Threats 

Matrix 2: Risk Opportunities

   
8.4 The six high rated risks are mapped on Matrix 1 above and the four 

opportunity risks are shown on Matrix 2. The categories of risk now recorded 
on the strategic risk register cover a broader range of risk types than 
before. The graphic below illustrates the risk profile across both threats and 
opportunities and also across our Corporate Plan aims.     

Impact
1 2 3 4 5

5
4

3

-  IT Security
- MTFP
- Ext Funding 
for Growth 

- Contract 
Mngt

- Investment 
into assets 

2

  
Safeguarding 

duty 

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

1

Impact
5 4 3 2 1

5
4

Effective 
contractor 
relations

3

Housing & 
Business 
Growth

Council 
Trading

2

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

1

Page 137



9. Operational Risks 

9.1 The December 2019 analysis of the Operational Risk Registers reveals that 
the Council has identified and assessed 32 operational risks in total, of which 
five are rated as ‘high’ and therefore above the Council’s risk tolerance 
threshold. The following new risks / amended assessments have been made 
since the last report:

 In September a new risk pertaining to the possibility of a snap election in 
the context of Brexit uncertainty was added to the Legal and Elections risk 
register. This will be reviewed once the UK has left the EU.  

 An escalation of the public markets risk within the Regeneration risk 
register due to the failure to attract potential contractors for the recent 
procurement exercise to assist with the erection of market stalls.

9.2 The five risks falling within the ‘high’ category are listed in full at Appendix B. A 
full breakdown of the Council’s operational risk profile is given below:

Residual Risk 
Rating

Staffs 
Moorlands 

Risks

Alliance
Risks

Total Risks

Critical - - -
High 1 4 5
Medium - 7 7
Low 1 19 20

Total Risks 32
   

9.3 The greatest number of operational risks sits within the Operational Services 
area, which encompasses waste and recycling; street scene, leisure, and 
horticulture.

9.4 An analysis of the alignment of risk to our corporate objectives shows that 

Aim
 1: T

hreats

Aim
 1: O

pportu
nitie

s

Aim
 2: T

hreats

Aim
 2: O

pportu
nitie

s

Aim
 3: T

hreats

Aim
 3: O

pportu
nitie

s

Aim
 4: T

hreats

Aim
 4: O

pportu
nitie

s
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Page 138



most operational risks relate to the use of resources in order to achieve value 
for money.  

10. Project Risks

10.1 The alliance’s project management methodology requires all projects to 
present an assessment of associated risks at Stage Two of the decision-
making process for project approval.

10.2 December’s risk review has seen additional risks added to two of the current 
projects – supplier confidence (Civica Pay) and options review (Leisure 
Management). In addition, a new project has been added in December 
addressing the risks associated with the Assets Database implementation.  

 Digital Portal
 Committee Management System 
 Hybrid Mail 
 AES Phased Implementation 
 Management of Countryside sites (SM)
 Cornhill (SM) 
 Leek Mill Quarter (SM)
 Local Plan (SM)
 Leisure Management (additional risk relating to options review)
 Civica Pay (additional risk relating to supplier confidence)
 Enhanced Trading 
 Assets Database NEW

 
10.3 The profile of project risk threats overall is bulleted below: 

 0% Critical 

Page 139



 3% High – 1 risk 
 23% Medium – 7 risks
 74% Low – 23 risks 

10.4 In addition, a total of 21 opportunity risks have been identified across eight of 
the above projects and all above tolerance positive risks are reported in 
Appendix D.  

 

Page 140



Appendix A: Above tolerance Strategic Risks
AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk Description 
(vulnerability)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRT 
- 2

Delivery of MTFP 
through the 
Efficiency and 
Rationalisation 
Strategy

Effective programme and 
project management 
methodology for the 
transformation programme. 
Performance Management 
Framework monitors the 
achievement of Council Aims. 
2017/18 efficiency savings 
targets have been met (Yr 1). 
Nov 2018 - efficiencies are on 
track. Leisure procurement 
projects completed. MTFP Nov 
2019 iteration completed.

4 3 1. Monthly Transformation Board 
meetings to oversee key projects 
linked to the efficiency and 
rationalisation strategy e.g. 
housing delivery programmes to 
facilitate growth and the various 
income generation projects. 2. 
Accelerated procurement projects 
including environmental services 
(phase 3) and facilities 
management. 3. MTFP presented 
alongside budget. 

1. ongoing 2. As 
per project 
milestones 3. 
MTFP - Feb 2020

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRT 
- 5

Effective contract 
management

1. Contract register in place. 2. 
Clear specification at the point 
of contract appointment e.g. 
KPIs. 3. Allocated contract 
manager within service areas. 4. 
Pre-qualification checks. 5. Due 
diligence undertaken. 6. 
Insurance requirements. 7. 
Bond / Financial Security 
guarantee for high value / high 
risk larger contracts.  8. Ensure 
Payments to suppliers are 
processed in accordance with 
the terms of the appointments 
(to ensure cash flow in supply 
chain). 

5 3 1. Procurement Business Partner 
meetings with Service Managers 
have a contract management focus 
and will provide prompts for 
ongoing contractor checks needed 
e.g. insurance reviews. 2. Updated 
Procurement Strategy will have an 
enhanced focus on contract 
management, including a new 
Toolkit for use by contract 
managers. 3. Implement the 
contract management module of 
the e-tendering system to help 
with contract monitoring and 
consolidation of data. 4. Carry out 
a risk-prioritisation exercise for 
major contracts and conduct 
annual financial health checks 
against the most critical 

1. Held quarterly. 
2. By end of 
2019/20 3. 4. and 
5. During 
2019/20.

P
age 141



AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk Description 
(vulnerability)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

contractors.  5. Review Suppliers 
contract list and activity in market, 
market insight on strength of 
trading.

Dai 
Larner

SRRT 
- 6

External funding 
for growth / 
regeneration 
schemes

1. Pre-Brexit bids have been 
guaranteed. 2. Lobbying of LEP 
for future funding and 
investment.  

4 3 1. Seek alternative funding sources 
e.g. Homes England. 2. Consider 
the feasibility of utilising the 
Council's borrowing ability to 
finance key schemes. 

1. Linked to 
accelerated 
housing delivery 
programme 2. As 
dictated by 
project timescales

Mark 
Trillo

SRRT 
- 9

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults – 
fulfilling our legal 
duty

1. Revised Joint Policy in place 
for Safeguarding Children and 
Vulnerable Adults. 2. Council is 
a member of the District 
Safeguarding Network (Staffs).3 
All staff have been briefed on 
the safeguarding policy and 
identified staff have received 
level 1 training in safeguarding 
children. 4. Training on adult 
safeguarding has been provided 
to key staff members. 

5 2 The Alliance Safeguarding Group 
meets quarterly to manage risks. 
All staff members receive training 
according to a rolling -programme 
linked to their level of risk. The 
Safeguarding Policy and actions are 
reviewed annually though a report 
to Elected Members

Ongoing

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRT 
- 13

Investment into 
council assets and 
long term planning

Asset register on databases. 
Ownership information within 
land terrier format. Capital 
spend identified broadly on 
MTFP only. 

5 3 1. Options for Assets Database 
researched and project initiated on 
Transformation Board. 
Recommendation by 1st Oct, with 
a view to implementation starting 
by 31st Dec.  2. Consider the scope 
and options for condition surveys 
of the public buildings. 
Procurement options being looked 
at. Project outline being drawn up 
by 31st October 3. Asset 

1. 01.04.2020 2. 
01.09.2020  3. 
01.04.2021

P
age 142



AMT 
Owner 

Ref Risk Description 
(vulnerability)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Management Plan (AMP) to be 
worked through to determine the 
level and extend of capital schemes 
and planned maintenance 
following the condition survey 
data. 

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRT 
- 17

Cyber risk and IT 
Security 

1. ICT security policy 2. Staff 
training (ICT Use 2018) 3. 
Annual health checks - 
December 2017 was the last 
one 4. IT strategy infrastructure 
review completed and IT 
Infrastructure project 
completed. 5. Health check 
completed March 2019 with no 
issues. 6. Microsoft Licence 
audit completed, again with no 
compliance issues. 
Infrastructure health check 
underway - Sept 2019            

4 3 1. Develop an IT / Digital Strategy 
providing direction for the alliance 
in the medium term 2. Regular 
training and communication 
updates 3. Socitm commissioned to 
do a strategic review, which will 
involve IT security arrangements 
and will inform the procurement of 
a new IT contract.  4. New 
Microsoft Licensing Agreement 

1. Strategy - June 
2020 2. GDPR 
online training 
Spring 2019. 3. IT 
Contract due 
October 2020 4. 
Feb 2020

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Above Tolerance Operational Risks
Service Ref Risk Description 

(vulnerability)
Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Democratic 
and 
Community

DC1 Breach of equality 
regulations

1. Equality impact 
assessments undertaken                           
2.Equalities policy in place                                              
3. Equality impact has been 
written into the new project 
methodology currently being 
introduced.
4. Staff training programme 
delivered.
5. Monitor completion and 
quality of EIAs through the 
Mod Gov. system. EIA has 
been revised in Modern Gov 
Mar 2019.

4 3 Training for managers on 
Equality Impact Assessment 
and associated use of the 
Mod Gov report writing 
function. 

January 2020

Finance and 
Procurement

FP1 Risk to income 
stream/budgetary 
overspend

1. Budget monitoring                                                            
2. Efficiency programme                    
3. Consider latest intelligence 
for budget reviews                        
4.Contingency reserve in place 

4 3 1. Ensure there is a provision 
in the General Fund on an 
annual review basis. 
 2. Monitor budget position 
and target specific areas 
quarterly throughout the 
year                              3. 
Resourcing of efficiency and 
transformation process via 
the Transformation Board 
monthly

Ongoing continual 
process

P
age 145



Service Ref Risk Description 
(vulnerability)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

FP2 Pension Liability 
risk to budget

1. Monitoring of pension 
liability. 2. Careful 
consideration of pension cost 
implications when awarding 
contracts (externalisation of 
services). 3. Base budgets on 
latest intelligence. 4. Manage 
pressure through the Financial 
Planning process.   5. Close 
liaison with pensions authority                                                                
6. Careful workforce planning 

4 3 1. Flag up potential long 
term risks and manage 
carefully as part of the 
medium term financial 
planning process.                                                            
2. The LGPS triennial 
valuation outcomes have 
been incorporated into the 
updated MTFP in Feb 2017.  
The next review will take 
place in 3 years.

1. Ongoing                                                                                                                                                                                      
2. Ongoing

FP3 Treasury 
Management 
failure(General)

1. Professional training of staff                           
2. Professional advice and 
support 3. Careful control of 
lending list including 
investment limits on 
institutions through formally 
adopted Treasury 
Management strategy.                
4. Full compliance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy's 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management

5 2 1. Carry out regular credit 
checks and react to latest 
developments in treasury 
management risk
Incorporate into the annual 
Treasury Management 
Strategy - reported to Full 
Council each February

Ongoing continual 
process

Regeneration V4 Long term Financial 
sustainability of 
market operations 
across the District

Procurement exercise to seek 
business partners to assist 
running the markets has now 
been issued. No suppliers 
tendered for the work. 
Potential suppliers are now 
being contacted directly.  The 
current political desire 

4 4 Review of market services 
within Regeneration and 
identification of 
opportunities for joint 
project delivery.

February 2020

P
age 146



Service Ref Risk Description 
(vulnerability)

Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

presently is to keep the 
market operations in house 
and continue to implement 
the agreed markets 
improvement plan under the 
Visitor Services' remit. A 
review of market trader terms 
and conditions has been 
undertaken. A number of cost 
saving proposals will be 
implemented from April 2020.  
Financial review has been 
completed.

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C: Above Tolerance Project Risks
Project Ref Risk Description 

(vulnerability)
Current Controls Impact Likelihood Further Mitigation Plans Date

Leek Mill 
Quarter 

1 Lack of funding to 
progress the 
development project 

1. Explore funding 
opportunities from all 
available sources. 2. Work 
with private sectors owners to 
develop new masterplan 
vision

3 5 1. A Leek Mill Quarter masterplan 
is being considered in partnership 
with SCC and PENDA (Kier) to 
explore redevelopment 
opportunity of Cross Street Mill & 
the wider area including London 
Mill to improve development 
potential and therefore viability. 
2. Conversations with HLF are 
ongoing regarding a Stage I bid. 3. 
London Mill property has been 
purchased by a Liverpool based 
developer (trophy homes) but 
despite initial contact, they are 
choosing not to engage with us 
on aspirations at present.  
Viability remains an issue.  4. No 
contact with owners of York Mill.

Ongoing

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D: Above Tolerance Opportunity Risks 
AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

Strategic
Dai 
Larner

SRRO 
- 1

Housing Growth 1. Affordable Homes Programme. 
2. Empty Homes Strategy in 
place. 3. Local Plan approved for 
High Peak. 4. Accelerated Housing 
Delivery Programme

5 3 1. Empty homes strategy 
implementation. 2. Focus on growth 
agenda through Local Plan delivery - 
realisation of Accelerated Housing 
Delivery Programme. 3. Adoption of SM 
Local Plan 4. Work with Homes England 
to access funding to support housing 
growth.   

1. As per 
action plan 
timescales 2. 
Project 
timescales. 3. 
End of 2019. 4. 
Underway 

Dai 
Larner

SRRO 
- 2

Business Growth 1. Growth Hub referrals. 2. 
County working e.g. participation 
in Derbyshire 100% retention 
pilot for 2018/19. 3. Provision of 
employment units 4. Business 
Newsletters advising of grant 
funding opportunities and 
training events to help businesses 
survive and flourish

5 3 1. Implement the accelerated business 
growth and employment programme. 2. 
Work with LEP partners to access vital 
funding to support business growth

1. As per 
project 
timescales 2. 
Ongoing as per 
individual 
scheme 
requirements

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRO 
- 3

Council trading 
(commercialism)

1. Project underway within 
Income Generation stream of the 
Efficiency and Rationalisation 
strategy. 2. External support 
commissioned 3. Joint Ventures 
4. Independent assessments of 
the alliance's commercial acumen 
5. regional benchmarking around 
income generation

4 3 1. Development of commercial 
competency framework that underpins 
our Values, for use in recruitment and 
staff development 2. Income Generation 
project 3. Develop a Commercial 
Strategy and action plan 

1. April 2020  
2. as per 
project 
timescales  3. 
2020-2021

Andrew 
Stokes

SRRO 
- 4

Effective 
contractor 
relationships

Current procurement and 
contract management 
arrangements

3 4 1. Greater focus on Council as 
commissioner.  2. Effective contract 
management arrangements that build 
up effective partnership arrangements.  

1. New 
Commissioning 
roles in place 
for AES phase 

P
age 151



AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

3. Focus on Contract Management 
within the Procurement Strategy

2 onwards. 2. 
As per CM 
actions on 
SRRT 5.  3. 
Procurement 
Strategy 
refresh by the 
end of 
2019/20

Operational
Tanya 
Cooper

ODT
OR1

Efficiency 
opportunities 
arising from the 
implementation 
of new IT systems

IT strategy being evaluated to 
create a clearer picture of the 
way forward and the required 
actions

3 4 Background work around the IT strategy 
is being evaluated by Exec Director for 
Transformation

Q2

Projects
Mary 
Walker 
– Cust 
Portal

Port4 There is a huge 
opportunity to 
work with 
partners to 
increase levels of 
digital inclusion 
across the 
Alliance.

Established working 
relationships with external 
partners to help those that 
may feel digitally excluded, 
particularly via the CAB.

The installation of iPads / self-
serve equipment in reception 
areas. CGI are assisting the 
Alliance with compiling a 
digital strategy. This will bring 
digital to the forefront of 
everything that we do, and will 
be a living document 
communicated widely to all 

4 3 Review the 'triage' process each quarter 
to ensure that the correct messages are 
being given to vulnerable residents.

Support staff by carrying out monthly 
monitoring sessions with individuals to 
support them through the early phase 
of OneVu launch.

Re-iterate the self serve message 
through weekly training sessions. 
Guidance notes and training to be 
placed on the CS procedures intranet 
page.

Partnership working with Citizens 
Advice has increased, in light of UC. This 

Monthly

Quarterly

July 2017 
onwards

Ditto

P
age 152



AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

staff.

Business partners working 
with service areas to improve 
and increase services online. 
Floorwalkers introduced to 
reception areas to signpost 
and assist with self serve.

should help the Alliance to support 
vulnerable residents with digital 
services.
June 2019 - continue to work closely 
with partners internally and externally 
Sept 2019 - Staff available to assist 
those who cannot self serve (volumes of 
requests are low) Dec 2019 continue to 
provide self serve facilities in reception 
areas and further team training sessions 
held to provide staff with full skill set to 
assist customers 

ongoing

Andrew 
Stokes 
– 
Country 
Sites

CSi1 Management of 
the sites by a 
charity will 
inherently open 
up opportunities 
to funding not 
open to a LA.

SWT is an existing charity so will 
be aware of funding 
opportunities.

3 4 Successful funding opportunities to be 
recorded to demonstrate success.

Transfer date 
unknown as 
SOTCC have 
not yet gained 
approvals 
required for 
project to 
proceed.

Andrew 
Stokes 
– 
Leisure 

L1 Management of 
the sites by one 
contractor 
delivers financial 
efficiencies to 
the Alliance.

Report of financial outcomes will 
be shared by the provider. 
Provider has increased control in 
regards to setting of charges for 
service delivered; proposals to 
change such must be approved 
by the Client.

4 5 Annual review of charges and financial 
position assessed by Client.

June 2020

Dai 
Larner - 
Cornhill

1 Delivery of up to 
300 new homes 
and 10,000sqft 
employment 
space (delivery of 

Homes England SSF only 
approved at EOI - full business 
case to be submitted by end of 
Sept 19. Funding will require legal 
agreements between HE, SMDC 

4 4 1. Pre-app discussions on housing 
elements of reserve matters. 2. Heads of 
terms for SMDC j/v or land transfer to 
commence jan 20.

Outcome from 
HE business 
case/funding 
offer 
01/02/2020)

P
age 153



AMT 
Owner

Ref Opportunity Controls Impact Likelihood Fruition Plans Date

Local plan site 
and additional 
income to 
council from 
business rates & 
council tax)

and Casey Group.  

Andrew 
Stokes 
– Civica 
Pay

5 Off site hosting Benefits of hosted solution 
evaluated 

2 5 Outcomes and work packages to be 
defined in project plan post June

Jul-20

Andrew 
Stokes 
– Enh’d 
Trading

1 New income 
streams are 
identified

SWT is an existing charity so will 
be aware of funding 
opportunities.

3 4 Project implementation April 2020

  

P
age 154



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Audit & Accounts Committee

14 February 2020

TITLE: 2019/20 Internal Audit Periodic Report
October 2019 to January 2020

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: John Leak - Head of Audit

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific 

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1 Audit Reports Issued Between 1st 
October 2019 and 31st January 2020
Appendix 2 Internal Audit 2019/20 Progress 
Information as at 31st January 2020
Appendix 3 2018/19 Audit Recommendations 
Implementation

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the Council to “undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, 
control and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal 
auditing standards or guidance”. In accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards, the Audit Manager must report periodically to the Audit 
Committee on the internal audit activity’s performance relative to its plan.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the committee note the progress information contained within this report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 
information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2019/20 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management.

Page 155

Agenda Item 11



3.2 All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to date 88% of 2019/20 
audit recommendations that are due have been implemented. Where 
deficiencies in internal control have been identified and not corrected, Internal 
Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an appropriate manner and they 
will continue to monitor such cases. It should be noted that it is the 
responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed recommendations.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The assurance provided by the work of Internal Audit informs the Annual 
Governance Statement and therefore helps to confirm effective use of financial 
and other resources to ensure value for money.  

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

ANDREW P STOKES
Executive Director (Transformation) and Chief Finance Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

None John Leak
Head of Audit
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 156



6. Detail

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 The purpose of this report is to summarise current year performance 
information for the Council’s Internal Audit service for the 2019/20 financial 
year. This includes a breakdown of audits in progress and completed to date, 
the number and classification of recommendations made, agreed and where 
applicable, implemented by management.

6.1.2 The work of the internal audit service is primarily based upon an annual risk 
assessed audit plan, which for the financial year 2019/20 was agreed by this 
Committee at the 14th June 2019 meeting. The Internal Audit service also carry 
out work outside of the audit plan for which a contingency is usually built in. 
This unplanned work consists mainly of internal control consultancy work and 
special investigations into suspected fraud and irregularity.

6.2 Audits Reports Issued & Status of Agreed Recommendations

6.2.1 A summary of the Audit Reports issued during the period 1st October 2019 to 
31st January 2020 is shown in the table below. Further details of these audits 
outlining key issues and strengths and improvements are shown in Appendix 
1.

RecommendationsService Audit
High 
Risk

Medium 
Risk

Low 
Risk

Assurance

Assets Assets & 
Facilities

0 4 10 Satisfactory

Assistant Chief 
Executive

Health & Safety 0 1 8 Satisfactory

Housing & 
Benefits

Housing Tenancy 
Allocation

0 0 0 Substantial

Environmental 
Health

Taxi Licensing 0 1 6 Satisfactory

Finance Procurement 0 2 13 Satisfactory

Finance Insurance 0 1 5 Satisfactory

Democratic & 
Community 
Services

Member Services 0 0 9 Satisfactory

6.2.2 A further breakdown of all of the audits in progress and completed during the 
current financial year including the current status of audit recommendations is 
detailed in Appendix 2.  All audit recommendations have been agreed, and to 
date 88% of 2019/20 audit recommendations that are due have been 
implemented. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified and 

Page 157



not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 
appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases. It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations.

6.2.3 Members will note that in addition to every individual audit recommendation 
being allocated a risk, every audit completed has been given an ‘assurance 
opinion’ based upon Internal Audit’s assessment of the internal control 
environment. These assurance opinions inform the annual audit opinion on the 
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s internal control 
environment. The control levels are defined as follows:

Control Level Definition
Substantial There is a robust framework of controls designed to achieve 

the objectives and controls are consistently applied.
Satisfactory There is a sufficient framework of controls which for the most 

part, are consistently applied.  However, weakness in the 
design or inconsistent application of controls within a few 
areas put achievement of particular objectives at risk.

Limited Weaknesses in the system or the level of non compliance 
with controls in a number of areas are such to put the 
system objectives at risk.

Unsatisfactory There is a significant breakdown in the framework of 
controls, which leaves the system open to significant abuse 
or error.

6.2.4 Appendix 3 is a summary of recommendations made in the previous financial 
year 2018/19 implemented to date. This information will keep Members 
informed of progress made to ensure that all previous year audit 
recommendations are implemented. Due dates for implementation of some 
previous year recommendations will fall into 2019/20 and beyond depending 
on when the audit was carried out so this appendix will show when those 
recommendations become due for implementation. In due course, all 
recommendations will fall due and it will be possible to clearly identify which 
recommendations have not been implemented.

6.2.5 To date 86% of 2018/19 audit recommendations that are due have been 
implemented. Where deficiencies in internal control have been identified and 
not corrected, Internal Audit are satisfied that they will be resolved in an 
appropriate manner and they will continue to monitor such cases.  It should be 
noted that it is the responsibility of relevant Managers to implement agreed 
recommendations.

6.3 Audits In Progress

6.3.1 The status of audits that are currently in progress is shown in the table below.

Page 158



Service Audit Status
Assets Parking Audit Complete. Quality control stage.

Regeneration Tourism Audit Complete. Quality control stage.

Environmental 
Health

E.H Licensing Audit in Progress.

Environmental 
Health

Food Safety Audit in Progress.

Customer Services Hybrid Mail Audit in Progress.

Finance AES Governance Audit in Progress.

Service 
Commissioning

AES Contract 
Management

Audit in Progress.

Finance Sundry Debtors Audit in Progress.

Finance Treasury 
Management

Audit in Progress.

Development 
Services

Development 
Control

Audit in Progress.

Finance Recovery Audit in Progress.

6.4 Progress against Audit Plan

6.4.1 The 2019/20 financial year has seen steady progress against planned audits 
and all of the audits in progress or nearing completion as detailed in 6.3 above 
will be completed soon. It is anticipated at this stage that a satisfactory year 
end position will be achieved.

6.4.2 Current key progress information is summarised in the following table, 
excluding unplanned work unless otherwise stated:

Page 159



Summary Progress Information to 31st January 2020
Percentage of Audit Plan completed / substantially completed 44%
Percentage of Audit Plan In Progress 28%
Number of recommendations made (including unplanned work) 95
Percentage of recommendations agreed with Service Managers 
(including unplanned work)

100%

Percentage of recommendations implemented within agreed 
timescale (including unplanned work)

88%

6.4.3 Should recommendations have not been agreed, compensating controls exist 
or service managers have accepted the risk / inefficiency of the current system 
for the benefit of service delivery.

Page 160



APPENDIX 1

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED BETWEEN 1st OCTOBER 2019 &
31st JANUARY 2020

Assets & Facilities
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 The preferred options for the future 

provision of property management services 
should be finalised at the earliest 
opportunity.

 Procedures detailing the monitoring of the 
contract for the provision of property 
management services should be 
appropriately documented including KPI’s.

 Supporting documentation should be 
produced and appropriately authorised for 
contract payments.

 All current lessees of council buildings 
should have an up to date lease agreement 
which is subject to regular review to ensure 
that its terms remain appropriate.

 Complaints are appropriately handled in 
accordance with corporate procedures.

 Lease invoices (where set up) are 
automatically generated from the sales 
ledger on a monthly basis.

 A small income is received from external 
room bookings.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Property Management Contract 2
Contract Payments 1
Leases 1 2
Service Charges 1 1
Room Bookings 2 1
Building Access & Security 3
Total 4 8 2

Page 161



APPENDIX 1

Health & Safety
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 A procedure should be developed to 

ensure that health and safety 
recommendations referred to Derbyshire 
County Council are reviewed and updated 
regularly, and that works are completed in 
accordance with the contract.

 The Health & Safety Committee plays a key 
role in ensuring that any relevant business 
decisions made by the Alliance, take Health 
and Safety matters into account.

 All staff have access to the Health and 
Safety Portfolio via the Intranet.

 Workplace accidents have reduced over the 
last 3 years.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Staff Training 1
Accident Reporting 1 2
Inspection Programme 1 2
Display Screen Equipment Assessments 1
Service Area Risk Assessments 1
Total 1 6 2

Page 162



APPENDIX 1

Housing Tenancy Allocation
Assurance Level

Assurance: SUBSTANTIAL
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide substantial assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 SMDC became a member of the Home-

Options partnership in 2017, to join HPBC, 
Derbyshire Dales District Council, Amber 
Valley Borough Council and Erewash 
Borough Council.  This delivers greater 
choice to those seeking housing and 
enables people to make well-informed 
decisions about their housing options.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

None
Total

Page 163



APPENDIX 1

Taxi Licensing
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 Personal and sensitive data should be 

securely held with access restricted to 
authorised employees. 

 Revised policy and procedures have been 
implemented.

 Improved processes around obtaining DBS 
clearance.

 Introduction of a penalty points scheme to 
improve drivers compliance with 
regulations.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Access to Files 1
Supporting Documentation 2
Licence Documents 1
Renewal Reminders 1
Enforcement 1
Disclosure & Barring Checks 1
Total 1 4 2

Page 164



APPENDIX 1

Procurement
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 A review of the ‘Permitted Exemptions to 

the Procurement Procedure Rules’ should 
be undertaken to ensure that such cases 
are restricted to exceptional occasions 
based on justified reasons.

 All exemptions should be In accordance 
with Procurement Procedure Rule 11.1.

 There is regular correspondence with 
relevant service areas to assist in the 
development of the Procurement Forward 
Plan.

 An electronic webform has been developed 
which is required to be completed for all 
planned procurement activity. 

 An electronic tendering system is used for 
all relevant procurement exercises which 
provides security over the tender 
documents and has increased efficiency 
over administration functions.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Purchase Orders 1
Procurement Strategy 1
Performance Indicators 1
Forward Plan 1 2
Supplier Spend 2
Tender Documentation 2
Permitted Exemptions 2 2
Legal Contracts 1
Total 2 10 3

Page 165



APPENDIX 1

Insurance
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 A procedure should be developed to ensure 

that evidence of a regular suppliers public 
liability insurance is obtained and reviewed 
annually, (where appropriate) for any 
procurement below £25,000.

 A joint Alliance procurement exercise was 
undertaken for the insurance contract 
commencing 1st July 2019 which was 
awarded to Zurich Municipal.  This resulted 
in a saving of £196,000 per annum (against 
budget).

 There is a good working relationship with 
Zurich Municipal and a member of Zurich 
attends the Risk Management meetings.

 The levels of insurance claims are low with 
a total of 24 claims during 2018/19.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Procedure Notes 1 1
Insurance Policies 1
Zurich Municipal Vehicle Insurance 
Database

1

Renewals 1
Public Liability Insurance 1
Total 1 3 2

Page 166



APPENDIX 1

Member Services
Assurance Level

Assurance: SATISFACTORY
It is our opinion that controls currently in place within the system provide satisfactory assurance 
that risks material to the achievement of the systems objectives outlined in the Scope and 
Objectives section of this report are adequately managed.

Key Findings

Key Issues Strengths and Improvements
 The Modern.Gov Committee Management 

System has been fully implemented and 
has been effective in streamlining and 
automating  processes.

 Positive feedback received following the 
recent Member induction programme.

 Increased levels of Councilor/Ward/Area 
information has been made available.

Summary of Recommendations

An analysis of the recommendations categorised by risk and classification (regulatory or added 
value) is shown below: 

High Medium LowDescription
R A R A R A

Meetings, Minutes & Agendas 1
Expenses Claims 2 1
Councillor Pages 1 1
Civic Regalia 2
Civic Transport 1
Total 7 2

 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – 2019/20 PROGRESS INFORMATION AS AT 31st JANUARY 2020

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS

HIGH RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

MEDIUM RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

LOW RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS

Regulatory Added 
value

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Assets & Facilities 12 2 0 0 0 4 10 Satisfactory
Civica SharedServices Data 
Breaches

7 0 0 0 0 4 2 1 3 2 2 Limited

Health & Safety 7 2 0 0 0 1 8 Satisfactory
BACS Transmissions 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 0 0 Satisfactory
Sickness & Time Management 10 2 0 0 0 1 0 0 11 3 3 Satisfactory
Bank Contract 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 Substantial
Housing Tenancy Allocation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Taxi Licensing 5 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 6 0 0 Satisfactory
Safeguarding 7 2 0 0 0 2 2 2 7 4 3 Satisfactory
Procurement 12 3 0 0 0 2 13 2 2 Satisfactory
Insurance 4 2 0 0 0 1 5 Satisfactory
Member Services 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 Satisfactory
Parking Quality Control Stage
Tourism Quality Control Stage
Environmental Health Licensing Audit in Progress
Food Safety Audit in Progress
Hybrid Mail Audit in Progress
AES Governance Audit in Progress
AES Contract Management Audit in Progress
Sundry Debtors Audit in Progress
Treasury Management Audit in Progress
Development Control Audit in Progress
Recovery Audit in Progress
TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 95 0 18 77
ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 0 0 5 4 11 10

Key:
Risk Class
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly.

Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures. 

Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 
breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision.

Added 
Value

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer.

Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 
information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision.

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL INTERNAL AUDIT – 2018/19 AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS IMPLEMENTATION

AUDIT TOTAL 
RECOMMENDATIONS

HIGH RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

MEDIUM RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

LOW RISK
RECOMMENDATIONS

ASSURANCE OPINION / 
COMMENTS

Regulatory Added 
value

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Agreed / (Not 
Agreed)

Due to 
date

Actioned 
to date

Pest Control & Animal Welfare 8 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 7 7 Satisfactory
VAT 7 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 7 4 Satisfactory
Commercial Properties 10 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 10 6 6 Satisfactory
Media & Communications 5 3 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 7 7 Satisfactory
Leisure Contract Management 6 2 0 0 0 2 2 2 6 6 6 Satisfactory
Transparency Code 2015 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 Satisfactory
Markets 8 1 0 0 0 3 2 2 6 3 3 Satisfactory
Community Safety 2 2 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 2 2 Satisfactory
Housing Agency 6 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 6 5 5 Satisfactory
On-line Payment & Misc Income 6 6 0 0 0 1 1 1 11 11 11 Satisfactory
Electoral Registration 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 11 11 Satisfactory
Building Control 12 3 0 0 0 5 1 1 10 1 1 Limited
Ethics & Culture 4 5 0 0 0 1 1 1 8 5 5 Satisfactory
Enforcement 10 2 0 0 0 3 3 3 9 6 6 Satisfactory
Risk Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 Substantial
ICT Asset Management 7 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 7 7 6 Satisfactory
Pollution 11 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 15 1 Satisfactory
Capital Accounting 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Sundry Debtors 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 Satisfactory
Budgetary Control 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial
Purchasing Cards 8 3 0 0 0 2 2 2 9 9 9 Satisfactory
Treasury Management 4 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 3 2 2 Satisfactory
NNDR 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 1 1 Satisfactory
GDPR / Information Governance 23 2 0 0 0 4 3 3 21 19 19 Satisfactory
Council Tax 10 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 6 6 Satisfactory
Creditor Payments 3 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 2 2 2 Satisfactory
Payroll 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 6 0 Satisfactory
Housing Benefits 13 3 0 0 0 3 3 1 13 12 9 Satisfactory
Housing Strategy 9 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 9 8 8 Satisfactory
Recovery 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 2 Satisfactory
General Ledger 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Substantial

TOTAL RECOMMENDATIONS 244 0 38 206
ACTION TAKEN TO DATE 0 0 29 27 172 145

Key:
Risk Class
High Significant control weakness / inefficiency exists with a high likelihood of occurring, potentially 

causing a breach of legislation / legal requirements and/or a substantial loss or damage to Council 
assets, information and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation promptly.

Regulatory To ensure the integrity of internal controls and/or compliance with Regulations / 
Policies and Procedures. 

Medium Control weakness / inefficiency exists with a moderate likelihood of occurring, potentially causing a 
breach of organisational policies and procedures, loss or damage to Council assets, information 
and reputation.  Considered essential to implement recommendation to ensure adequate system 
controls / necessary improvement in service provision.

Added 
Value

Intended as an enhancement to the existing system which may provide a benefit 
to either the user or the customer.

Low Minor control weakness / inefficiency exists with a minimal impact on the Council assets, 
information and reputation.  Considered necessary to implement recommendation to provide 
management with additional assurance regarding the adequacy of system controls / improvement 
in service provision.

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Audit & Accounts Committee

14 February 2020

TITLE: Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
Policy & Procedures

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Sybil Ralphs - Council Leader 
SMDC

CONTACT OFFICER: John Leak - Head of Audit

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific 

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 Policy & Procedures

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The Council must have arrangements in place to ensure compliance with the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and those arrangements 
are subject to inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office 
(IPCO). This is achieved through the adoption of a set of Policy and 
Procedures that ensure compliance with the requirements of the legislation. 
The Council has had arrangements and procedures in place for authorising 
and conducting necessary surveillance since 2002. Members should review 
the use of RIPA and set the policy at least once per year. They should also 
consider internal reports on use of RIPA periodically to ensure it is being used 
consistently with the policy and that the policy remains fit for purpose.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the committee note the Council’s use of RIPA powers and the outcome of 
the November 2019 Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office Inspection 
Report.

2.2 That the updated Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Policy and 
Procedures attached at Appendix 1 are approved and adopted.

Page 173

Agenda Item 12



3. Executive Summary

3.1 RIPA was introduced in order to provide the correct balance between an 
individual’s right to privacy under the Human Rights Act 1998 and the proper 
use of data and surveillance by public authorities, such as the police and local 
councils, who are entrusted by law to carry out certain enforcement duties. 
The Act identifies certain areas where carrying out these enforcement duties 
will inevitably conflict with individuals’ rights to privacy. The main areas which 
are of concern to the Council are:

 The use of directed surveillance;
 The use of covert human intelligence sources (CHIS);
 Obtaining communications and data about communications.

3.2 Some of the Council’s activities necessarily require surveillance as part of their 
enforcement functions such as environmental, planning and licensing 
enforcement and other fraud investigations. However, the use of RIPA powers 
by the Council has been very limited and no authorisations have been granted 
since 2008. The current policy and procedures were approved and adopted by 
this committee in September 2016.

3.3 The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office carry out an inspection of the 
Council’s arrangements for managing the use of RIPA authorisations 
approximately every three years, the last inspection of the Alliance joint 
arrangements by the now defunct OSC taking place in June 2016.

3.4 The latest inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office was 
undertaken during November 2019 and their Inspection Report was received 
by the Council in December 2019.

3.5 Only two core recommendations were made which related to the requirement 
for annual Policy approval and reporting to elected members of the Alliance’s 
use of RIPA, and the development of a structured annual training programme. 
Both of these recommendations will be implemented accordingly.

3.6 In addition the IPCO report contained one observation regarding revision of 
the Policy and Procedures to include all references to the latest legislation and 
codes of practice. The Council’s Policy and Procedures (Appendix 1) have 
therefore been updated to reflect this observation.

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 Maintaining up-to date policy and procedures and reporting on their use will 
ensure that the Council complies with its legislative duties under RIPA.

5. Alternative Options

5.1 There are no options to consider.

Page 174



MARK TRILLO
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 & 
subsequent amendments

Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 – changes to 
provisions under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA)

Investigatory Powers Act 2016

OSC/IPCO Inspection Reports

John Leak
Head of Audit
john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 175



6. Detail

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 The Council must have arrangements in place to ensure compliance with the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and those arrangements 
are subject to inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office 
(IPCO), formally the Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC). The Council 
has therefore had arrangements and procedures in place for authorising and 
conducting necessary surveillance since 2002 and the current policy and 
procedures were approved and adopted by this committee in September 2016.

6.1.2 The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office carry out an inspection of the 
Council’s arrangements for managing the use of RIPA authorisations 
approximately every three years, the last OSC inspection of the Alliance joint 
arrangements taking place in June 2016.

6.1.3 The latest inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office was 
undertaken during November 2019 and their Inspection Report was received 
by the Council in December 2019.

6.1.4 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the use of RIPA powers 
and outcome of the December 2019 Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s 
Office Report, and to seek approval for adoption of updated Policy and 
Procedures.

6.2 The Council’s Use of RIPA

6.2.1 RIPA was introduced in order to provide the correct balance between an 
individual’s right to privacy under the Human Rights Act 1998 and the proper 
use of data and surveillance by public authorities, such as the police and local 
councils, who are entrusted by law to carry out certain enforcement duties. 
The Act identifies certain areas where carrying out these enforcement duties 
will inevitably conflict with individuals rights to privacy. The main areas which 
are of concern to the Council are:

 The use of directed surveillance ;
 The use of covert human intelligence sources (CHIS); and
 Obtaining communications and data about communications.

6.2.2 Some of the Council’s activities necessarily require surveillance as part of their 
enforcement functions. Examples include environmental, planning and 
licensing enforcement and other fraud investigations. RIPA provides the 
statutory framework for the granting of authority to carry out surveillance. 
Where the Council is required to gather evidence using surveillance and/or 
covert human intelligence sources, these measures must be subject to an 
authorisation, review and cancellation procedure to ensure that it is lawful. In 
addition, the Council must comply with the Codes of Practice issued by the 
Home Secretary in accordance with the Act. Detailed operational procedures 
have been developed to back-up the Council’s policy to ensure that this is the 
case. These procedures include details of the Council’s authorising officers.

Page 176



6.2.3 As a responsible local authority, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has 
ensured that no individual, whether an employee of the Council or otherwise, 
has suffered as a result of a breach of any provision of RIPA. It is essential 
that all activities of this nature, whether they will lead to prosecution or not, are 
carried out in accordance with RIPA, the Codes of Practice and the Council’s 
policy and procedures. Investigations which are not authorised could leave the 
Council open to legal challenge by individuals who consider that there has 
been an intrusion of their privacy. However, the use of RIPA powers by the 
Council has been very limited and no authorisations have been granted since 
2008.

6.3 Inspections and Review of RIPA Policy and Procedures

6.3.1 Two significant changes governing how local authorities use RIPA were 
contained within the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and became law from 
1st November 2012 onwards.  Local authority authorisations and notices under 
RIPA for the use of directed surveillance and the use of CHIS can only be 
given effect once an order approving the authorisation or notice has been 
granted by a Justice of the Peace. In addition, the crime threshold was 
introduced for directed surveillance by local authorities which means that 
directed surveillance under RIPA can only be authorised to prevent or detect 
criminal offences that are either punishable, whether on summary conviction 
or indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months’ imprisonment or are 
related to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco.

6.3.2 In order to ensure that the Council’s arrangements remained up-to date, the 
Policy and Procedures were therefore updated in February 2013 to ensure 
that they continued to reflect best practice. There was also a need to 
standardise procedures across the Alliance so that officers apply the same 
processes across both authorities. Following this update of policy and 
procedures, training for practitioners from relevant services and authorising 
officers was provided.

6.3.3 Following an inspection of the Alliance arrangements for managing the use of 
RIPA authorisations by the Office of Surveillance Commissioners in May 2013, 
the Policy and Procedures were again updated in February 2014 to include 
guidance on the use of social networking sites and internet. Subsequently in 
December 2014, the Home Office issued revised Codes of Practice for Covert 
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources, incorporating the latest 
legislative changes and the Council’s Policy and Procedures were updated to 
reflect these in September 2015.

6.3.4 The last inspection by the now defunct OSC took place in June 2016 which 
concluded that the Alliance joint arrangements for RIPA compliance were 
good and in particular, the RIPA Policy was commended and described as one 
of the best policy and guidance documents seen in any second-tier authority. 
The Council’s Policy and Procedures were updated to reflect the single 
recommendation contained in this report in September 2016.

Page 177



6.3.5 Subsequently the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 became law in late 2016. 
This Act primarily relates to obtaining communications and data about 
communications and also introduced a new oversight framework, establishing 
the Investigatory Powers Commissioner. The first inspection of the Alliance’s 
arrangements to ensure compliance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) by the IPCO took place in November 2019. The 
report was issued in December 2019 and only two core recommendations 
were made which will be implemented accordingly:
 Elected members should be sighted on the authority’s use of the 

legislation and set policy at least once a year; and
 To develop a structured annual training programme.

6.3.6 In addition the IPCO report contained one observation regarding revision of 
the Policy and Procedures to include all references to the latest legislation and 
codes of practice. The Council’s Policy and Procedures (Appendix 1) have 
therefore been updated to reflect this observation.

Page 178



APPENDIX 1

         

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY 
POWERS ACT 2000

POLICY & PROCEDURES

JANUARY 2020

Page 179



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION PAGE

POLICY

1 INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE………………………………….. 1

2 DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE……………..……………………... 2

3 COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS)………. 3

4 ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA………………... 4

5 ONLINE COVERT ACTIVITY ……………………………………. 5

6 AUTHORISATION…………………………………………………. 8

7 RESPONSIBILITIES….……………………………………………. 9

PROCEDURES

8 DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE PROCEDURES…………………. 12

9 COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCE PROCEDURES 28

Page 180



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 1

RIPA Policy

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

1.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) was introduced in 
order to provide the correct balance between an individuals right to privacy 
under the Human Rights Act 1998 and the proper use of data and surveillance 
by public authorities, such as the police and local councils, who are entrusted 
by law to carry out certain enforcement duties.

1.2 The Act identifies certain areas where carrying out these enforcement duties 
will inevitably conflict with individuals rights to privacy. The main areas which 
are of concern to the Council are :

 The use of directed surveillance;
 The use of covert human intelligence sources (CHIS); and
 The acquisition of communications data.

1.3 Some of the Council’s activities will necessarily require surveillance as part of 
their enforcement functions. Examples include benefit fraud investigations, 
other fraud investigations and environmental, planning and licensing 
enforcement. The use of a CHIS may also be required by some Councils in 
very rare circumstances. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
provides the statutory framework for the granting of authority to carry out 
surveillance.

1.4 The requirement to acquire communications data is also very unlikely but if 
necessary this will be dealt with via the SPoC service offered by the National 
Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN).

1.5 Where the Council is required to gather evidence using surveillance and/or 
covert human intelligence sources or acquire communications data, these 
measures must be subject to an authorisation, review and cancellation 
procedure to ensure that it is lawful. A crime threshold (see 2.1 below) applies 
only to the authorisation of directed surveillance under RIPA, not to the 
authorisation of the use of CHIS or acquisition of communications data. 
Authorisation can only be given effect once an order approving the 
authorisation or notice has been granted by a Justice of the Peace (JP). In 
addition, the Council must comply with the Codes of Practice issued by the 
Home Secretary in accordance with the Act.

1.6 As a responsible local authority, the Council wishes to ensure that no 
individual, whether an employee of the Council or otherwise, suffers as a 
result of a breach of any provision of RIPA. It is essential that all activities of 
this nature, whether they will lead to prosecution or not, are carried out in 
accordance with RIPA, the Codes of Practice and this policy. Investigations 
which are not authorised could leave the Council open to legal challenge by 
individuals who consider that there has been an intrusion of their privacy.

Page 181



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 2

RIPA Policy

1.7 It is necessary to have a corporate policy in order to describe and record the 
way in which the Council complies with RIPA. The policy applies to:

 all employees ;
 elected members ; and
 third parties acting on the Council’s behalf, including all contractors, 

consultants and agents.

1.8 Where covert surveillance activities are unlikely to result in the obtaining of 
private information about a person, or where there is a separate legal basis for 
such activities, neither the 2000 Act nor the Home Office Codes of Practice 
need apply.

2. DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE

2.1 The use of directed surveillance is subject to the requirements of RIPA. 
Directed surveillance is defined by the Act as covert (carried out in a manner 
calculated to ensure that persons subject to the surveillance are unaware it is 
taking place) but not intrusive (covert and carried out in relation to anything 
taking place on residential premises or in a private vehicle and involves the 
presence of an individual on the premises or vehicle or is carried out by a 
surveillance device), and is undertaken :

 for the purposes of a specific investigation or specific operation to prevent 
or detect criminal offences that are either punishable, whether on summary 
conviction or indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months' 
imprisonment  or are related to the underage sale of alcohol and tobacco 
(the crime threshold);

 in such a manner as is likely to result in the obtaining of private information 
about a person (whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes 
of the investigation or operation) ; and

 otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or 
circumstances the nature of which is such that it would not be reasonably 
practicable for an authorisation under Part II of the 2000 Act to be sought 
for the carrying out of the surveillance.

Private information includes any information relating to a person’s private or 
family life including any aspect of a person’s private or personal relationship 
with others, such as family and professional or business relationships. 
Information which is non-private may include publicly available information 
such as books, newspapers, journals, TV and radio broadcasts, newswires, 
web sites, mapping imagery, academic articles, conference proceedings, 
business reports, and more. Such information may also include commercially 
available data where a fee may be charged, and any data which is available 
on request or made available at a meeting to a member of the public. 

Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy when in a public 
place, covert surveillance of that person’s activities in public may still result in 

Page 182



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 3

RIPA Policy

the obtaining of private information. Surveillance of publicly accessible areas 
of the internet should be treated in a similar way, recognising that there may 
be an expectation of privacy over information which is on the internet, 
particularly where accessing information on social media websites.

2.2 The statutory RIPA Code of Practice on covert surveillance makes it clear that 
general observation activities (which may include monitoring of publicly 
accessible areas of the internet in circumstances where it is not part of a 
specific investigation or operation), observation at trouble ‘hotspots’, 
immediate response to events and overt use of CCTV are all techniques which 
do not require RIPA authorisation. An authorisation for directed surveillance 
is only appropriate for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation, 
insofar as that investigation or operation is necessary on the grounds specified 
in the 2000 Act when in performance of its ‘core functions’ (‘specific public 
functions’, undertaken by a particular public authority, in contrast to the 
‘ordinary functions’ which are those undertaken by all authorities).

2.3 RIPA regulates the way in which the Council carries out directed surveillance 
via the Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Code of Practice 
(August 2018) and sets a legal framework for any conduct carried out in 
accordance with the Act. This version of the code reflects changes introduced 
by the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (“the 2016 Act”), including the new 
oversight framework, establishing the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
(“the Commissioner”). 

3. COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS)

3.1 If the use and conduct of a CHIS is being considered, urgent advice should be 
sought from the Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA before embarking on 
such a process. The use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS) is 
subject to the requirements of RIPA. A CHIS is defined by the Act as a person 
who establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with another 
person for the covert purpose of facilitating anything that :

 covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide access 
to any information to another person; or

 covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship or 
as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship.

A relationship is used covertly if, and only if, it is conducted in a manner 
calculated to ensure that the person is unaware of its purpose. A relationship 
is used covertly, and information obtained is disclosed covertly, if and only if 
the relationship is used or the information is disclosed in a manner that is 
calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is unaware of 
the use or disclosure in question. Public authorities are not required to seek or 
obtain an authorisation just because one is available. The use or conduct of a 
CHIS, can be a particularly intrusive and high-risk covert technique, requiring 
dedicated and sufficient resources, oversight and management. Authorisation 
is therefore advisable where a public authority intends to task someone to act 

Page 183



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 4

RIPA Policy

as a CHIS, or where it is believed an individual is acting in that capacity and it 
is intended to obtain information from them accordingly. Unlike directed 
surveillance, which relates specifically to private information, authorisations for 
the use or conduct of a CHIS do not relate specifically to private information, 
but to the covert manipulation of a relationship to gain any information. The 
Council will not in the normal course of any directed surveillance activity, use 
covert human intelligence sources, however if there is a justifiable need, this 
will be authorised in accordance with RIPA and the Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012.

3.2 Not all human source activity will meet the definition of a CHIS as a 
relationship will not have been established or maintained for a covert purpose. 
Many sources merely volunteer or provide information that is within their 
personal knowledge, without being induced, asked, or tasked by a public 
authority (public volunteers). If personal knowledge has been acquired by 
mere observation, the informant is not a CHIS, however if personal knowledge 
is acquired in the course of (or as a result of the existence of) a personal or 
other relationship, the informant is a CHIS. If a public authority acts on the 
information provided by such a person without taking reasonable steps to 
protect their safety, it may be in breach of its duty of care if the person suffers 
reprisals. Therefore an authorisation will be required if a relationship exists 
between the subject and the CHIS, even if specific information has not been 
sought by the public authority.

3.3 RIPA regulates the way in which the Council can utilise a CHIS via the Covert 
Human Intelligence Sources Code of Practice (August 2018) and sets a legal 
framework for any conduct carried out in accordance with the Act. This version 
of the code reflects changes introduced by the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 
(“the 2016 Act”), including the new oversight framework, establishing the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner (“the Commissioner”).

4. ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA

4.1 The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA) governs how we use the 
investigatory powers available to us. These powers provide for the lawful 
acquisition of communications data (CD) including the who, where, when, how 
and with whom of a communication but not the content (i.e. what was said). 
IPA groups CD into two categories:

 ‘entity data’ - this data is about entities or links between them and describes 
or identifies the entity but does not include information about individual 
events. Entities could be individuals, groups and objects (such as mobile 
phones or other communications devices);;

 ‘events data’ - events data identifies or describes events in relation to a 
telecommunication system which consist of one or more entities engaging 
in an activity at a specific point, or points, in time. 

4.2 Local authorities must submit all their communication data applications, via the 
National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) for the consideration of Office for 

Page 184



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 5

RIPA Policy

Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA). All applications must be 
authorised by OCDA prior to any communications data being acquired on 
behalf of a Local Authority. Applicants within local authorities are therefore 
required to consult a National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) SPoC throughout 
the application process. The accredited SPoCs at NAFN will scrutinise the 
applications independently. They will provide advice to the local authority 
ensuring it acts in an informed and lawful manner. The SPoC is an individual 
trained to facilitate the lawful acquisition of communications data and effective 
co-operation between a public authority, the OCDA and telecommunications 
operators and postal operators. Section 60A of the Act provides for the 
independent authorisation of communications data requests by the IPC. The 
OCDA performs this function on behalf of the IPC. An authorising officer in 
OCDA can authorise any request, for any purpose from any public authority. 
The introduction of the OCDA means the acquisition of communications data 
by local authority officers is no longer subject to judicial approval by a 
magistrate.

4.3 In addition to being considered by a NAFN SPoC, the local authority making 
the application must ensure someone of at least the rank of the senior 
responsible officer in the local authority is aware the application is being made 
before it is submitted to an authorising officer in OCDA. The local authority 
senior responsible officer must be satisfied that the officer(s) verifying the 
application is (are) of an appropriate rank and must inform NAFN of such 
nominations. NAFN will be responsible for submitting the application to OCDA 
on behalf of the local authority.

4.4 A local authority may not make an application that requires the processing or 
disclosure of internet connection records for any purpose.

4.5 If the acquisition of communications data is being considered, detailed 
guidance is provided in the Home Office Communications Data Code of 
Practice (November 2018). Advice should be sought from the Senior 
Responsible Officer for RIPA before embarking on such a process.

5. ONLINE COVERT ACTIVITY

5.1 The growth of the internet, and the extent of the information that is now 
available online, presents new opportunities for public authorities to view or 
gather information which may assist them in preventing or detecting crime or 
carrying out other statutory functions, as well as in understanding and 
engaging with the public they serve. It is important that public authorities are 
able to make full and lawful use of this information for their statutory purposes. 
Much of it can be accessed without the need for RIPA authorisation; use of the 
internet prior to an investigation should not normally engage privacy 
considerations. But if the study of an individual’s online presence becomes 
persistent, or where material obtained from any check is to be extracted and 
recorded and may engage privacy considerations, RIPA authorisations may 
need to be considered. The viewing of open source activity is addressed by 
the Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Code of Practice (August 

Page 185



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 6

RIPA Policy

2018) paragraphs 3.10 to 3.17 and the Covert Human Intelligence Sources 
Code of Practice (August 2018) paragraphs 4.11 to 4.17.

5.2 The internet may be used for intelligence gathering and/or as a surveillance 
tool. Where online monitoring or investigation is conducted covertly for the 
purpose of a specific investigation or operation and is likely to result in the 
obtaining of private information about a person or group, an authorisation for 
directed surveillance should be considered. Where a person acting on behalf 
of the Council is intending to engage with others online without disclosing his 
or her identity, whether by publicly open websites such as an online news and 
social networking service, or more private exchanges such as e-messaging 
sites, a CHIS authorisation may be needed. This would include:

 An investigator using the internet to engage with a subject of interest at the 
start of an operation, in order to ascertain information or facilitate a meeting 
in person;

 Directing a member of the public (such as a CHIS) to use their own or 
another internet profile to establish or maintain a relationship with a subject 
of interest for a covert purpose.

5.3 A CHIS authorisation will not always be appropriate or necessary for online 
investigation or research. Some websites require a user to register providing 
personal identifiers (such as name and phone number) before access to the 
site will be permitted. Where a member of a public authority sets up a false 
identity for this purpose, this does not in itself amount to establishing a 
relationship, and a CHIS authorisation would not immediately be required, 
though consideration should be given to the need for a directed surveillance 
authorisation if the conduct is likely to result in the acquisition of private 
information, and the other relevant criteria are met.

5.4 Where a website or social media account requires a minimal level of 
interaction, such as sending or receiving a friend request before access is 
permitted, this may not in itself amount to establishing a relationship. Equally, 
the use of electronic gestures such as “like” or “follow” to react to information 
posted by others online would not in itself constitute forming a relationship. 
However, it should be borne in mind that entering a website or responding on 
these terms may lead to further interaction with other users and a CHIS 
authorisation should be obtained if it is intended for an officer of a public 
authority or a CHIS to engage in such interaction to obtain, provide access to 
or disclose information. Where it is intended that more than one officer will 
share the same online persona, each officer should be clearly identifiable 
within the overarching authorisation for that operation, providing clear 
information about the conduct required of each officer and including risk 
assessments in relation to each officer involved.

5.5 In deciding whether online surveillance should be regarded as covert, 
consideration should be given to the likelihood of the subject(s) knowing that 
the surveillance is or may be taking place. Use of the internet itself may be 
considered as adopting a surveillance technique calculated to ensure that the 
subject is unaware of it, even if no further steps are taken to conceal the 

Page 186



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 7

RIPA Policy

activity. Conversely, if reasonable steps have been taken to inform the public 
or particular individuals that the surveillance is or may be taking place, this can 
be regarded as overt and a directed surveillance authorisation will not 
normally be available. 

5.6 Depending on the nature of the online platform, there may be a reduced 
expectation of privacy where information relating to a person or group of 
people is made openly available within the public domain, however in some 
circumstances privacy implications still apply. This is because the intention 
when making such information available was not for it to be used for a covert 
purpose such as investigative activity. This is regardless of whether a user of a 
website or social media platform has sought to protect such information by 
restricting its access by activating privacy settings. 

5.7 Where information about an individual is placed on a publicly accessible 
database, for example the telephone directory or Companies House, which is 
commonly used and known to be accessible to all, they are unlikely to have 
any reasonable expectation of privacy over the monitoring by public authorities 
of that information. Individuals who post information on social media networks 
and other websites whose purpose is to communicate messages to a wide 
audience are also less likely to hold a reasonable expectation of privacy in 
relation to that information. 

5.8 Whether a public authority interferes with a person’s private life includes a 
consideration of the nature of the public authority’s activity in relation to that 
information. Simple reconnaissance of such sites (i.e. preliminary examination 
with a view to establishing whether the site or its contents are of interest) is 
unlikely to interfere with a person’s reasonably held expectation of privacy and 
therefore is not likely to require a directed surveillance authorisation. But 
where a public authority is systematically collecting and recording information 
about a particular person or group, a directed surveillance authorisation 
should be considered. These considerations apply regardless of when the 
information was shared online. 

5.9 In order to determine whether a directed surveillance authorisation should be 
sought for accessing information on a website as part of a covert investigation 
or operation, it is necessary to look at the intended purpose and scope of the 
online activity it is proposed to undertake. Factors that should be considered in 
establishing whether a directed surveillance authorisation is required include:

 Whether the investigation or research is directed towards an individual or 
organisation;

 Whether it is likely to result in obtaining private information about a person 
or group of people;

 Whether it is likely to involve visiting internet sites to build up an 
intelligence picture or profile;

 Whether the information obtained will be recorded and retained;
 Whether the information is likely to provide an observer with a pattern of 

lifestyle;

Page 187



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 8

RIPA Policy

 Whether the information is being combined with other sources of 
information or intelligence, which amounts to information relating to a 
person’s private life;

 Whether the investigation or research is part of an ongoing piece of work 
involving repeated viewing of the subject(s);

 Whether it is likely to involve identifying and recording information about 
third parties, such as friends and family members of the subject of interest, 
or information posted by third parties, that may include private information 
and therefore constitute collateral intrusion into the privacy of these third 
parties.

5.10 Internet searches carried out by a third party on behalf of the Council, or with 
the use of a search tool, may still require a directed surveillance authorisation. 

6. AUTHORISATION

6.1 Under RIPA and the statutory Codes of Practice, directed surveillance and 
covert human intelligence sources should only be authorised if the authorising 
officer is satisfied that :

 the action is necessary (in a democratic society) on one or more of the 
grounds identified in the Codes of Practice ; and

 the surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved

A local authority who wishes to authorise the use of directed surveillance or 
CHIS under RIPA will need to obtain an order approving the grant or renewal 
of an authorisation or notice from a JP (a District Judge or lay magistrate) 
before it can take effect. If the JP is satisfied that the statutory tests have been 
met and that the use of the technique is necessary and proportionate he/she 
will issue an order approving the grant or renewal for the use of the technique 
as described in the application. This judicial approval mechanism is in addition 
to the existing authorisation process under the relevant parts of RIPA as 
outlined in the Codes of Practice. The amendment means that local 
authorities are no longer able to orally authorise the use of RIPA 
techniques. All authorisations must be made in writing and require JP 
approval. The authorisation cannot commence until this has been obtained.

In addition, local authorities can only authorise use of directed surveillance 
under RIPA to prevent or detect criminal offences that are either punishable, 
whether on summary conviction or indictment, by a maximum term of at least 
6 months' imprisonment or are related to the underage sale of alcohol and 
tobacco (the crime threshold). Examples of cases where the offence being 
investigated attracts a maximum custodial sentence of six months or more 
could include more serious criminal damage, dangerous waste dumping and 
serious or serial fraud.

6.2 If during the investigation it becomes clear that the activity being investigated 
does not amount to a criminal offence or that it would be a less serious 
offence that does not meet the crime threshold the use of directed surveillance 

Page 188



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 9

RIPA Policy

should cease. If a directed surveillance authorisation is already in force it 
should be cancelled. When a relevant error has occurred, the Council must 
notify the Investigatory Powers Commissioner as soon as reasonably 
practicable, and no later than ten working days (or as agreed with the 
Commissioner) after it has been established by appropriate internal 
governance processes that a relevant error has occurred. 

6.3 Local authorities cannot authorise directed surveillance for the purpose of 
preventing disorder unless this involves a criminal offence(s) which meets the 
crime threshold and may not authorise the use of directed surveillance under 
RIPA to investigate low-level offences which may include, for example, 
littering, dog control and fly-posting. However covert surveillance may be 
conducted under other legislation without the protection afforded by an 
authorisation under RIPA.

6.4 Local Authorities are NOT authorised to conduct Intrusive Surveillance.

6.5 Local Authorities have no statutory powers to interfere with private property. If 
any ‘trespass’ is being considered during the course of authorised 
surveillance, the matter should be referred to the Executive Director (People) 
and Monitoring Officer as a matter of urgency.

6.6 Full details of the procedures to be followed for directed surveillance and 
covert human intelligence sources including details of the Council’s 
Authorising Officers and the completion of the required documents can be 
found in this Policy and Procedures document.

6.7 Authorisation procedures for the acquisition of communications data are 
referred to in Section 4 of this document.

7. RESPONSIBILITIES

7.1 The Council is committed to ensuring that any enforcement, investigation or 
other activity is carried out in accordance with the Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000. To ensure compliance all relevant policies and procedures 
must comply fully with the Act and be fit for purpose. Policy and Procedures 
and subsequent revisions will be approved by elected members.

7.2 The Council accepts its responsibility to comply with any statutory Codes of 
Practice issued by the Home Secretary in accordance with the Act. The Codes 
of Practice, which are made mandatory by the Act, are reflected in the 
Council’s RIPA 2000 Procedures.

7.3 In compliance with the Act, copies of the Codes of Practice will be available, 
for reference purposes, to members of the public and to all members of staff, 
elected members and third parties acting on behalf of the Council in any of the 
prescribed activities. All employees and members will be made aware of their 
duties and responsibilities under the Act.

Page 189



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 10

RIPA Policy

7.4 The Council expects that all officers, members and third parties acting on 
behalf of the Council, to perform their duties in a manner which respects the 
rights of the individual in accordance with the Human Rights Act 1998.

7.5 The Council should ensure that their actions when handling private information 
obtained by means of covert surveillance or by means of the use or conduct of 
a CHIS comply with relevant legal frameworks and the CSPI and CHIS codes, 
so that any interference with privacy is justified in accordance with Article 8(2) 
of the European Convention on Human Rights. Compliance with these legal 
frameworks, including data protection requirements, will ensure that the 
handling of private information so obtained continues to be lawful, justified and 
strictly controlled, and is subject to robust and effective safeguards.

7.6 All material obtained under the authority of a covert surveillance or through the 
use or conduct of a CHIS must be handled in accordance with safeguards 
which the Council has implemented in line with the requirements of the CSPI 
and CHIS codes. Dissemination, copying and retention of material must be 
limited to the minimum necessary for authorised purposes.

7.7 The Council regards any unlawful breach of any provision of the Act by any 
employee of the Council as a disciplinary matter. Any employee who breaches 
this policy may be dealt with under the Council’s disciplinary procedure.

7.8 The Council’s Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer will be the 
Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for RIPA responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate steps are taken within the authority to comply with the 
requirements of the Act. These will include, but not be limited to:

 ensuring the integrity of the process in place within the Council to authorise 
directed surveillance and interference with property or wireless telegraphy 
and the management of CHIS;

 ensuring compliance with Part II of the 2000 Act and with statutory codes 
of practice;

 oversight of the reporting of errors to the relevant oversight Commissioner 
and the identification of both the cause(s) of errors and the implementation 
of processes to minimise repetition of errors;

 engagement with the Commissioners and inspectors when they conduct 
their inspections;

 where necessary, overseeing the implementation of any post inspection 
action plans recommended or approved by a Commissioner;

 nominating officers who will be designated as authorising officers for the 
purposes of the Act and Codes of Practice and ensuring that they are of an 
appropriate standard in light of any recommendations in the inspection 
reports prepared by the Investigatory Powers  Commissioner;

 ensuring that sufficient resources will be allocated to support the process ;
 producing and maintaining corporate RIPA 2000 procedures and 

documentation based upon each of the statutory Codes of Practice as 
necessary ;

Page 190



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 11

RIPA Policy

 ensuring, by means of risk assessment, that activities which may be 
covered by the Act are subject to proper justification, authorisation, 
enactment and completion ;

 ensuring that where relevant, staff and members are adequately trained 
and regularly reminded of their duties and responsibilities in respect of the 
Act ;

 ensuring that any authorised activity undertaken is proportionate to the 
matter under investigation and is in accordance with Article 8 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 - the right to respect for private and family life (subject to 
the restrictions prescribed, which must be prescribed by law, necessary in 
a democratic society and a proportionate measure) ;

 ensuring that elected members periodically review the authority’s use of 
RIPA powers and that those powers are being used consistently within the 
policy and procedures;

 ensuring measures are in place to inform investigating and authorising 
officers of any changes to existing Codes of Practice, new Codes of 
Practice and relevant case law which may require changes in procedures ; 
and

 ensuring that a central register of all authorisations, renewals and 
terminations is maintained and used to monitor compliance with the Act, 
Codes of Practice, Council Policy and procedures.

7.9 The officer in charge of each authorised directed surveillance operation will be 
responsible for the conduct of the operation. All activities which are covered by 
RIPA must be carried out in accordance with the Act, the statutory Codes of 
Practice and the Council’s approved policy and procedures.

 

Page 191



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 12

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

8. DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE PROCEDURES

8.1 Who in the Council may authorise directed surveillance?

8.2 What additional authorisation for directed surveillance is required?

8.3 How is an application for the authorisation of directed surveillance made?

8.4 What will the Authorising Officer have to consider?

8.5 What is meant by the term necessary and proportionate?

8.6 What is the procedure for applying for judicial approval?

8.7 What will the Justice of the Peace consider and decide?

8.8 How long will the authorisation last?

8.9 Can the Council carry out surveillance with other organisations?

8.10 When should reviews take place?

8.11 Can an authorisation be renewed?

8.12 Can or should an authorisation be revoked?

8.13 What is legally privileged material and other confidential material?

8.14 How can knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege be obtained?

8.15 Are there any special rules for legally privileged material and other confidential 
material?

8.16 What records must be kept?

8.17 Who keeps the record?

8.18 Will the material obtained be required as evidence in criminal proceedings?

8.19 How should the material obtained be handled?

8.20 What if surveillance activity has taken place without lawful authority?

8.21 Who is responsible for overseeing compliance with the 2000 Act?

8.22 Is the use of CCTV regulated by the Act?

8.23 Are there any specific situations not requiring authorisation?

Page 192



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 13

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

8.24 What reference documents are there?

Page 193



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 14

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

8.1 Who in the Council may authorise directed surveillance?

The following officers have been duly trained and are designated as 
Authorising Officers:

 Chief Executive Mr Simon W Baker
 Executive Director (Transformation) & CFO Mr Andrew P Stokes
 Executive Director (Place) Mr Neil Rodgers

Ideally the Authorising Officer should not be responsible for authorising their 
own activities, i.e. those operations or investigations in which they are directly 
involved or for which they have direct responsibility.

8.2 What additional authorisation for directed surveillance is required?

A local authority who wishes to authorise the use of directed surveillance 
under RIPA will need to obtain an order approving the grant or renewal of an 
authorisation or notice from a JP (a District Judge or lay magistrate) before it 
can take effect. If the JP is satisfied that the statutory tests have been met and 
that the use of the technique is necessary and proportionate he/she will issue 
an order approving the grant or renewal for the use of the technique as 
described in the application. This judicial approval mechanism is in addition to 
the existing authorisation process under the relevant parts of RIPA as outlined 
in the Codes of Practice.

8.3 How is an application for the authorisation of directed surveillance 
made?

An application for authorisation for Directed Surveillance must be in writing on 
the current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-use-of-directed-
surveillance ). It should specify:

 the action to be authorised;
 the identities, where known, of those to be the subject of directed 

surveillance;
 an account of the investigation or operation and nature of the surveillance;
 the grounds on which the authorisation is sought (e.g. for the purpose of 

preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder);
 why the directed surveillance is considered to be necessary and 

proportionate to what it seeks to achieve (see 8.5 below);
 an explanation of the information which it is desired to obtain as a result of 

the authorisation;
 the potential for collateral intrusion, that is to say, interference with the 

privacy of persons other than the subjects of the surveillance, and an 
assessment of the risk of such intrusion or interference and why any 
intrusion is justified;

Page 194

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-use-of-directed-surveillance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-use-of-directed-surveillance


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 15

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

 the likelihood of acquiring any legally privileged or confidential material;

There should then be a record of whether authority was given or refused, by 
whom and the time and date.

8.4 What will the Authorising Officer have to consider?

The Authorising Officer must be satisfied that the authorisation is necessary in 
accordance with Section 28(3) of the 2000 Act for directed surveillance and 
Statutory Instrument 2003 Number 3171 and the Protection of Freedoms Act 
2012:

 for the purpose of preventing or detecting criminal offences that are either 
punishable, whether on summary conviction or indictment, by a maximum 
term of at least 6 months' imprisonment or are related to the underage sale 
of alcohol and tobacco (the crime threshold).

Before authorising surveillance the authorising officer should also take into 
account the risk of intrusion into the privacy of persons other than those who 
are directly the subjects of the investigation or operation (collateral intrusion). 
Measures should be taken, wherever practicable, to avoid or minimise 
unnecessary intrusion into the privacy of those who are not the intended 
subjects of the surveillance activity. Where such collateral intrusion is 
unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised, provided this intrusion is 
considered proportionate to what is sought to be achieved. An application for 
an authorisation should include an assessment of the risk of any collateral 
intrusion including the likelihood that any equipment or software deployed may 
cause intrusion on persons or property other than the subject(s) of the 
application. If an automated system such as an online search engine is used 
to obtain the information, the authorising officer should be made aware of its 
potential extent and limitations. The authorising officer should take this into 
account, when considering the proportionality of the surveillance.

The Authorising Officer must also believe that the surveillance is necessary 
and proportionate to what it seeks to achieve (see 8.5 below), and should set 
out, in their own words, why they are satisfied or why they believe the activity 
is necessary and proportionate. A bare assertion is insufficient.

8.5 What is meant by the term necessary and proportionate?

The person granting the authorisation must believe that the covert surveillance 
authorisation is necessary in the circumstances of the particular case for the 
statutory grounds detailed above. In order to be satisfied, the conduct that it is 
aimed to prevent or detect must be identified and clearly described, 
particularly if it is questionable whether serious crime criteria are met. Often 
missed is an explanation of why it is necessary to use the covert techniques 
requested.

Page 195



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 16

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

Then, if the activities are necessary, an authorisation should demonstrate how 
an authorising officer has reached the conclusion that the activity is 
proportionate to what it seeks to achieve; including an explanation of the 
reasons why the method, tactic or technique proposed is not disproportionate. 

Proportionality is a very important concept, and it means that any interference 
with a persons rights must be proportionate to the intended objective. This 
involves balancing the intrusiveness of the activity on the target and others 
who might be affected by it against the need for the activity in operational 
terms. The activity will not be proportionate if it is excessive in the 
circumstances of the case or if the information which is sought could 
reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means. Thus where 
surveillance is proposed, that action must be designed to do no more than 
meet the objective in question. All such activity should be carefully managed to 
meet the objective in question and must not be arbitrary or unfair. 

Proportionality is not only about balancing the effectiveness of covert methods 
over overt methods but of explaining why the particular covert method, 
technique or tactic is the least intrusive. It is insufficient to make a simple 
assertion or to say that the 'seriousness' of the crime justifies any or every 
method available. It may be unacceptable to advance lack of resources or a 
potential cost saving as sufficient ground to use technological solutions which 
can be more intrusive than a human being. This critical judgment can only 
properly be reached once all other aspects of an authorisation have been fully 
considered.

8.6 What is the procedure for applying for judicial approval?

Following approval by the authorising officer the Council will contact Her 
Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service (HMCTS) administration team at the 
magistrates’ court as soon as possible to request a hearing. The Council will 
then provide the JP with a copy of the original RIPA authorisation or notice 
and the supporting documents setting out the case. This forms the basis of the 
application to the JP and should contain all information that is relied upon. In 
addition, the local authority will provide the JP with a partially completed 
judicial application/order form.

The order section of this form will be completed by the JP and will be the 
official record of the JP’s decision. The Council will need to obtain judicial 
approval for all initial RIPA authorisations/applications and renewals and the 
local authority will need to retain a copy of the judicial application/order form 
after it has been signed by the JP. There is no requirement for the JP to 
consider either cancellations or internal reviews.

On the rare occasions where out of hours access to a JP is required then it will 
be for the Council to make local arrangements with the relevant HMCTS legal 
staff who will require basic facts about the authorisation and the urgency. If the 
urgency is agreed, then arrangements will be made for a suitable JP to 
consider the application and attendance and evidence will be required. In 

Page 196



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 17

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

these cases the Council will need to provide two partially completed judicial 
application/order forms so that one can be retained by the JP. The Council 
should provide the court with a copy of the signed judicial application/order 
form the next working day.

No RIPA authority is required in immediate response to events or situations 
where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain it (for instance when criminal 
activity is observed during routine duties and officers conceal themselves to 
observe what is happening).

The hearing is a ‘legal proceeding’ and therefore local authority officers need 
to be formally designated to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or 
provide information as required by the JP. It is envisaged that the case 
investigator will be able to fulfil this role, however if practicable the Authorising 
Officer should be present to answer questions about their reasoning on 
necessity, proportionality, collateral intrusion and risk. If the Authorising Officer 
is not present, any comments made by the magistrate should be reported to 
them and recorded together with any action taken by the Authorising Officer to 
incorporate or address them. The hearing will be in private and heard by a 
single JP who will read and consider the RIPA authorisation or notice and the 
judicial application/order form. He/she may have questions to clarify points or 
require additional reassurance on particular matters.

8.7 What will the Justice of the Peace consider and decide? 

The JP will consider whether he or she is satisfied that at the time the 
authorisation was granted or renewed or the notice was given or renewed, 
there were reasonable grounds for believing that the authorisation or notice 
was necessary and proportionate. They will also consider whether there 
continues to be reasonable grounds. In addition they must be satisfied that the 
person who granted the authorisation or gave the notice was an appropriate 
designated person within the local authority and the authorisation was made in 
accordance with any applicable legal restrictions, for example that the crime 
threshold for directed surveillance has been met.

The forms and supporting papers must by themselves make the case. It is not 
sufficient for the Council to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or 
supported in the papers provided. If more information is required to determine 
whether the authorisation or notice has met the tests then the JP will refuse 
the authorisation. If an application is refused the Council may consider 
whether they can reapply, for example, if there was information to support the 
application which was available to the Council, but not included in the papers 
provided at the hearing.

Following their consideration of the case the JP will complete the order section 
of the judicial application/order form  recording their decision. The JP may 
decide to:

Page 197



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 18

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

 Approve the Grant or renewal of an authorisation or notice which will then 
take effect and the Council may proceed to use the technique in that 
particular case;

 Refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation or notice so the 
Council may not use the technique in that case. Where an application has 
been refused the Council may wish to consider the reasons for that refusal. 
For example, a technical error in the form may be remedied without the 
Council going through the internal authorisation process again. The Council 
may then wish to reapply for judicial approval once those steps have been 
taken;

 Refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation or 
notice. The court must not exercise its power to quash the authorisation or 
notice unless the Council has had at least 2 business days from the date of 
the refusal in which to make representations.

There is no complaint route for a judicial decision unless it was made in bad 
faith. A local authority may only appeal a JP decision on a point of law by 
judicial review.

8.8 How long will the authorisation last?

The written authorisation will cease to have effect (unless renewed or 
cancelled) at the end of a period of 3 months beginning with the date on which 
it took effect and expiring at 23:59 hours the day preceding. 

8.9 Can the Council carry out surveillance with other organisations?

Any person granting or applying for an authorisation will also need to be aware 
of particular sensitivities in the local community where the surveillance is 
taking place and of any similar activities being undertaken by other public 
authorities which could impact on the deployment of surveillance. It is 
therefore recommended that where an authorising officer from a public 
authority considers that conflicts might arise they should consult a senior 
officer within the police force area in which the investigation or operation is to 
take place. Where possible, the Council should seek to avoid duplication of 
authorisations as part of a single investigation or operation. For example, 
where the Council is conducting directed surveillance as part of a joint 
operation, only one authorisation is required. The tasking or lead organisation 
should normally obtain or provide the authorisation under Part II of the 2000 
Act. For example, where surveillance is carried out by the Council on behalf of 
HMRC, authorisations would usually be sought by HMRC and granted by their 
authorising officer.

In some circumstances it may be appropriate or necessary for a public 
authority to work with third parties who are not themselves a public authority 
(such as an individual, company or non-governmental organisation) to assist 
with an investigation. Where that third party is acting in partnership with or 
under the direction of a public authority, then they are acting as an agent of 

Page 198



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 19

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

that authority and any activities that third party conducts which meet the 2000 
Act definitions of directed surveillance should be considered for authorisation 
under those Acts by the public authority on whose behalf that activity is being 
undertaken. Similarly, a surveillance authorisation should also be considered 
where the public authority is aware that a third party (that is not a public 
authority) is independently conducting surveillance and the public authority 
intends to make use of any suitable material obtained by the third party for the 
purposes of a specific investigation being undertaken by that public authority. 

8.10 When should reviews take place?

There must be regular reviews of any authorisations given and the records of 
these reviews must be in writing and authorised by the Authorising Officer on 
the current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-use-of-directed-
surveillance ). Any proposed or unforeseen changes to the nature or extent of 
the surveillance operation that may result in the further or greater intrusion into 
the private life of any person should also be brought to the attention of the 
authorising officer by means of a review. Where a directed surveillance 
authorisation provides for the surveillance of unidentified individuals whose 
identity is later established, the terms of the authorisation should be refined at 
a review to include the identity of these individuals. The frequency of reviews 
should be considered at the outset by the authorising officer as is considered 
necessary and practicable. Particular attention is drawn to the need to review 
authorisations frequently where the surveillance involves a high level of 
intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or confidential 
information is likely to be obtained. The results of a review should be recorded 
on the central record of authorisations and should be retained for at least three 
years.

8.11 Can an authorisation be renewed?

If at any time before an authorisation ceased to have effect, the Authorising 
Officer considers it necessary for the authorisation to continue for the same 
purpose for which it was given, then he/she may request renewal of the 
authorisation by a JP in writing on the current Home Office form (available 
here https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-form-for-directed-
surveillance ).

Applications for renewals should not be made until shortly before the original 
authorisation period is due to expire but must take account of factors which 
may delay the renewal process (e.g. intervening weekends or the availability 
of the Council’s authorising officer and a JP to consider the application). A 
renewal must be authorised prior to the expiry of the original authorisation, but 
it runs from the expiry date and time of that original authorisation. The renewal 
will normally be for 3 months and authorisations may be renewed more than 
once if still considered necessary and proportionate and approved by the JP. 

Page 199

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-use-of-directed-surveillance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-use-of-directed-surveillance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-form-for-directed-surveillance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-form-for-directed-surveillance


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 20

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

The renewal should be kept/recorded as part of the central record of 
authorisations. The request for a renewal of an authorisation should record:

 whether this is the first renewal, or on how many occasions it has been 
renewed;

 the same information as outlined for an original application;
 details of any significant difference in the information given in the previous 

authorisation;
 the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the surveillance;
 the content and value to the investigation or operation of the information so 

far obtained by the surveillance;
 whether any privileged material or confidential information was obtained as 

a result of activity undertaken under the authorisation, to which the 
safeguards in chapter 9 of the CSPI code should apply;

 the results of regular reviews of the investigation or operation;
 an estimate of the length of time the surveillance will continue to be 

necessary.

8.12 Can or should an authorisation be revoked?

The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must 
cancel it if he/she is satisfied that the directed surveillance no longer meets the 
criteria for authorisation. Those acting under an authorisation must keep their 
authorisations under review and notify the authorising officer if they consider 
that the authorisation is no longer necessary or proportionate, and so should 
therefore be cancelled. Cancellation of directed surveillance must be in writing 
on the current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-use-of-directed-
surveillance-form ) and the date and time when such an instruction was given 
should be recorded in the central record of authorisations. When cancelling an 
authorisation, the authorising officer should record on the form:

 the date and times (if at all) that surveillance took place and the order to 
cease the activity was made;

 the reason for cancellation;
 ensure that surveillance equipment has been removed and returned;
 provide directions for the management of the product;
 ensure that detail of property interfered with, or persons subjected to 

surveillance since the last review or renewal is properly recorded;
 record the value of the surveillance or interference (i.e. whether the 

objectives as set in the authorisation were met).

As soon as a decision is taken to cease surveillance, an instruction must be 
given to those involved in the operation to stop all surveillance of the 
subject(s). The date on which that instruction is given should also be recorded.

Page 200

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-use-of-directed-surveillance-form
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-use-of-directed-surveillance-form


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 21

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

8.13 What is legally privileged material and other confidential material?

Confidential material is anything:

 which is subject to legal privilege, for example, communications between 
legal advisers and their clients. Legal privilege does not apply to 
communications or items held, or oral communications made, with the 
intention of furthering a criminal purpose (whether the lawyer is acting 
unwittingly or culpably). Legally privileged communications will lose their 
protection if the professional legal adviser is intending to hold or use them 
for a criminal purpose. But privilege is not lost if a professional legal adviser 
is properly advising a person who is suspected of having committed a 
criminal offence.

 which is confidential personal information, for example information about 
someone’s health or spiritual counselling or other assistance given or to be 
given to them;

 which is confidential constituent information, for example information about 
private constituency matters discussed between a Member of Parliament 
and a constituent;

 which is confidential journalistic material (this includes related 
communications), that is, material obtained or acquired for the purposes of 
journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence.

8.14 How can knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege be obtained?

Directed surveillance that is carried out in relation to anything taking place on 
so much of any premises specified in article 3(2) of the RIPA (Extension of 
Authorisation Provisions: Legal Consultations) Order 2010 as is, at any time 
during the surveillance, used for the purposes of ‘legal consultations’ shall be
treated for the purposes of Part II of the 2000 Act as intrusive surveillance and 
cannot therefore be conducted by the Council.

Where directed surveillance is likely or intended to result in the acquisition of 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, an authorisation shall only be 
granted or approved if the authorising officer is satisfied that there are 
exceptional and compelling circumstances that make the authorisation 
necessary:

 Where the surveillance is not intended to result in the acquisition of 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, such exceptional and 
compelling circumstances may arise in the interests of national security or 
the economic well-being of the UK, or for the purpose of preventing or 
detecting serious crime;

 Where the surveillance is intended to result in the acquisition of knowledge 
of matters subject to legal privilege, such circumstances will arise only in a 
very restricted range of cases, such as where there is a threat to life or limb, 
or to national security, and the surveillance is reasonably regarded as likely 
to yield intelligence necessary to counter the threat.

Page 201



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 22

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

8.15 Are there any special rules for legally privileged material and other 
confidential material?

Additional safeguards are required where the use of directed surveillance is 
likely to result in the acquisition of knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege:

 The Authorising Officer must be the Chief Executive or (in his absence) 
Executive Directors who must be satisfied that the proposed directed 
surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved;

 if directed surveillance is not intended to result in the acquisition of 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, but it is likely that such 
knowledge will nevertheless be acquired during the operation, the 
application should identify all steps which will be taken to mitigate the risk of 
acquiring it;

 where matters subject to legal privilege via the use of directed surveillance 
are deliberately obtained, they may be used to counter the threat which led 
to it being obtained, but it will not be admissible in court;

 knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, whether or not it is acquired 
deliberately, must be kept separate from law enforcement investigations or 
criminal prosecutions;

 In cases likely to result in obtaining knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege, the authorising officer or Investigatory Powers Commissioner may 
require regular reporting so as to be able to decide whether the 
authorisation should continue;

 where legally privileged material or other confidential material has been 
acquired and retained for purposes other than its destruction, it should be 
clearly marked as subject to legal privilege or as confidential and the matter 
should be reported to the relevant Commissioner or Inspector during their 
next inspection and the material should be made available to him if 
requested;

 confidential material should be destroyed as soon as its retention is no 
longer necessary;

 Where there is any doubt as to the handling and dissemination of 
confidential information or information which may be subject to legal 
privilege, advice should be sought from Legal Services before any further 
dissemination of the material takes place. Similar advice should also be 
sought where there is doubt over whether information is not subject to legal 
privilege due to the “in furtherance of a criminal purpose” exception;

 In those cases where items identified by Legal Services as being legally 
privileged have been acquired, this should be reported to the Commissioner 
as soon as reasonably practicable;

 In the course of an investigation, a public authority must not act on or 
further disseminate legally privileged items unless it has first informed the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner that the items have been obtained, 
except in urgent circumstances;

 The retention of legally privileged information, or its dissemination to an 
outside body, should be accompanied by a clear warning that it is subject to 
legal privilege. It should be safeguarded by taking reasonable steps to 

Page 202



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 23

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

ensure there is no possibility of it becoming available, or its contents 
becoming known, to any person whose possession of it might prejudice any 
criminal or civil proceedings to which the information relates;

 Any dissemination of legally privileged material to an outside body should 
be notified to the relevant Commissioner or Inspector during their next 
inspection;

 Other confidential information, which can include both oral and written 
communications, is held subject to an express or implied undertaking to 
hold it in confidence or it is subject to a restriction on disclosure or an 
obligation of confidentiality contained in existing legislation.

8.16 What records must be kept?

Original documentation should be forwarded to the SRO for entry on the 
Central Record, oversight and secure storage. Practitioners should work from 
copy documents.

The following records must be kept centrally for a period of at least three years 
(up to five years desirable) from the ending of each authorisation. This 
information should be regularly updated whenever an authorisation is granted, 
renewed or cancelled and should be made available to the relevant 
Commissioner or an Inspector from the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s 
Office upon request :

 the type of authorisation;
 the date the authorisation was given;
 name and position of the authorising officer;
 the unique reference number (URN) of the investigation or operation;
 the title of the investigation or operation, including a brief description and 

names of subjects, if known;
 whether the urgency provisions were used, and if so why;
 details of attendances at the magistrates’ court to include the date of 

attendances at court, the determining magistrate, the decision of the court 
and the time and date of that decision;

 the dates of any reviews;
 if the authorisation has been renewed, when it was renewed and who 

authorised the renewal, including the name and position of the authorising 
officer;

 whether the investigation or operation is likely to result in obtaining 
confidential information as defined in the code of practice;

 whether the authorisation was granted by an individual directly involved in 
the investigation;

 the date the authorisation was cancelled;
 where any application is refused, the grounds for refusal as given by the 

issuing authority or Judicial Commissioner;
 a record of whether, following a refusal of any application by a Judicial 

Commissioner, there is an appeal to the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner;

Page 203



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 24

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

 where there is such an appeal and the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
also refuses the issuing of an application, the grounds for refusal given.

The following documentation should also be centrally retrievable for at least 
three years (up to five years desirable) from the ending of each authorisation:

 a copy of the application and a copy of the authorisation together with any 
supplementary documentation and notification of the approval given by the 
authorising officer;

 a record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place;
 the frequency of reviews prescribed by the authorising officer;
 a record of the result of each review of the authorisation;
 a copy of any renewal of an authorisation, together with the supporting 

documentation submitted when the renewal was requested;
 the date and time when any instruction to cease surveillance was given;
 the date and time when any other instruction was given by the authorising 

officer;
 a copy of the order approving or otherwise the grant or renewal of an 

authorisation from a Justice of the Peace (JP).

8.17 Who keeps the record?

The central register of records will be kept under the direction of the Council’s 
SRO (Executive Director and Monitoring Officer) and held by the Council’s 
Head of Audit.

8.18 Will the material obtained be required as evidence in criminal 
proceedings?

The Council must ensure that arrangements are in place for the secure 
handling, storage and destruction of material obtained through the use of 
directed surveillance in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. Where 
the product of surveillance could be relevant to pending or future criminal or 
civil proceedings, it should be retained in accordance with established 
disclosure requirements for a suitable further period, commensurate to any 
subsequent review.

8.19 How should the material obtained be handled?

Authorising officers, through their relevant Data Controller, must ensure 
compliance with the appropriate data protection requirements under the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and any relevant internal arrangements produced by 
individual authorities relating to the handling and storage of material.

The number of persons to whom any of the material acquired through covert 
surveillance is disclosed, and the extent of disclosure, should be limited to the 
minimum necessary for the authorised purpose(s). This obligation applies 
equally to disclosure to additional persons within the Council and to disclosure 
outside the Council. In the same way, only so much of the material may be 

Page 204



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 25

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

disclosed as the recipient needs; for example if a summary of the material will 
suffice, no more than that should be disclosed.

Material obtained through covert surveillance may only be copied to the extent 
necessary for the authorised purposes, and all copies, extracts and 
summaries of it, must be handled and stored securely, so as to minimise the 
risk of loss or theft. It must be held so as to be inaccessible to persons without 
the required level of security clearance (where applicable). This requirement to 
store such material securely applies to all those who are responsible for the 
handling of the material.

In particular, each public authority must apply the following protective security 
measures:

 physical security to protect any premises where the information may be 
stored or accessed; 

 IT security to minimise the risk of unauthorised access to IT systems; 
 an appropriate security clearance regime for personnel which is designed 

to provide assurance that those who have access to this material are 
reliable and trustworthy. 

Information obtained through covert surveillance, and all copies, extracts and 
summaries which contain such material, should be scheduled for deletion or 
destruction and securely destroyed as soon as they are no longer needed for 
the authorised purpose(s). If such information is retained, it should be 
reviewed at appropriate intervals to confirm that the justification for its 
retention is still valid. In this context, destroying material means taking such 
steps as might be necessary to make access to the data impossible.

8.20 What if surveillance activity has taken place without lawful authority?

An error must be reported if it is a relevant error. Examples of relevant errors 
occurring would include circumstances where:

 Surveillance activity has taken place without lawful authority;
 There has been a failure to adhere to the safeguards set out in the relevant 

statutory provisions and Chapter 9 of the CSPI Code.

When a relevant error has occurred, the Council must notify the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner as soon as reasonably practicable, and no later than 
ten working days (or as agreed with the Commissioner) after it has been 
established by appropriate internal governance processes that a relevant error 
has occurred. A full report must be sent to the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner including information on the cause of the error; the amount of 
surveillance conducted and material obtained or disclosed; any unintended 
collateral intrusion; any analysis or action taken; whether any material has 
been retained or destroyed; and a summary of the steps taken to prevent 
recurrence. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner must inform a person of 
any relevant error relating to that person if the Commissioner considers that 

Page 205



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 26

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

the error is a serious error and that it is in the public interest for the person 
concerned to be informed of the error.

8.21 Who is responsible for overseeing compliance with the 2000 Act?

The Investigatory Powers Act provides for an Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner (“the Commissioner”), whose remit includes providing 
comprehensive oversight of the use of the powers to which the CSPI code 
applies, and adherence to the practices and processes described in it. The 
Commissioner, and those that work under the authority of the Commissioner, 
will ensure compliance with the law by inspecting public authorities and 
investigating any issue which they believe warrants further independent 
scrutiny. The Commissioner will have unfettered access to all locations, 
documentation and information systems as necessary to carry out their full 
functions and duties and all relevant persons using investigatory powers must 
provide all necessary assistance.

In addition, the Investigatory Powers Act  establishes an independent 
Investigatory Powers Tribunal which has full powers to investigate, and decide 
upon, any case where a person complains that the conduct of the Council in 
exercising its powers whilst carrying out surveillance has infringed their human 
rights.

8.22 Is the use of CCTV regulated by the Act?

Guidance on the operation of overt CCTV cameras is provided in the 
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice issued under the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012. Although the provisions of the 2000 Act or of the covert 
surveillance code of practice do not normally cover the use of overt CCTV 
surveillance systems since members of the public are aware that such 
systems are in use by virtue of clearly visible signage, there may be occasions 
when the Council wishes to use overt CCTV systems for the purposes of a 
specific investigation or operation for the surveillance of a specific person or 
group of people which is likely to result in the obtaining of private information 
about a person (namely, a record of their movements and activities) and 
therefore falls properly within the definition of directed surveillance.. In such 
cases, the CCTV systems may be used covertly and authorisation for directed 
surveillance may be necessary.

8.23 Are there any specific situations not requiring authorisation?

The following specific activities constitute neither directed nor intrusive 
surveillance:

 the use of a recording device by a covert human intelligence source in 
respect of whom an appropriate use or conduct authorisation has been 
granted permitting them to record any information obtained in their 
presence;

Page 206



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 27

RIPA 2000 Directed Surveillance Procedures

 the recording, whether overt or covert, of an interview with a member of the 
public where it is made clear that the interview is entirely voluntary and that 
the interviewer is a member of a public authority;

 the covert recording of noise where: the recording is of decibels only or 
constitutes non-verbal noise (such as music, machinery or an alarm) or the 
recording of verbal content is made at a level which does not exceed that 
which can be heard from the street outside or adjoining property with the 
naked ear.

8.24 What reference documents are there?

The Council and those persons acting under Part II of the 2000 Act must have 
regard to the Codes of Practice issued under the Act. The Covert Surveillance 
and Property Interference Code of Practice is available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-
human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice .

Current Home Office prescribed RIPA forms for use by officers applying for 
authority, review, renewal and cancellation of Directed Surveillance are 
available here https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2 .

Home Office guidance on the judicial approval process for RIPA and the crime 
threshold for directed surveillance, including a flowchart outlining the 
procedure for application to a JP and judicial application / order form is 
available here https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-
authority-use-of-ripa . 

Further Home Office guidance on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
is available here https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism .

Further information on the work of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s 
Office is available here https://www.ipco.org.uk/ . 

Where fraud or corruption is suspected, officers are required to give due 
regard to the requirements of the Council’s Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy which is available on the Council’s intranet.

If further guidance is required, please contact the Head of Audit on 01538 
395695 or e-mail john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk .

Page 207

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
https://www.ipco.org.uk/
mailto:john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 28

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9. RIPA 2000 COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCE PROCEDURES

9.1 Who in the Council may authorise use of a Covert Human Intelligence Source 
(CHIS)?

9.2 What additional authorisation for use of a CHIS is required?

9.3 How is an application for authorisation made?

9.4 What will the Authorising Officer have to consider?

9.5 What is meant by the term necessary and proportionate?

9.6 What is the procedure for applying for judicial approval?

9.7 What will the Justice of the Peace consider and decide?

9.8 How long will the authorisation last?

9.9 Can the Council carry out the use or conduct of a CHIS with other 
organisations?

9.10 When should reviews take place?

9.11 Can an authorisation be renewed?

9.12 Can or should an authorisation be revoked?

9.13 What management arrangements should be in place for the Covert Human
Intelligence Source?

9.14 Can a juvenile be a Covert Human Intelligence Source?

9.15 What about vulnerable persons?

9.16 What type of things can a CHIS be asked to do?

9.17 What is legally privileged material and other confidential material?

9.18 Is an authorisation for acquiring matters subject to legal privilege different to 
other authorisations?

9.19 What if a CHIS unintentionally obtains, provides access to or discloses 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege?

9.20 Are there any special rules for legally privileged material and other confidential 
material?

9.21 What records must be kept?

Page 208



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 29

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.22 What information should be kept about the CHIS?

9.23 Who may see the records?

9.24 Who keeps the records?

9.25 Will the material obtained be required as evidence in criminal proceedings?

9.26 How should the material obtained be handled?

9.27 What if covert human intelligence source activity activity has taken place 
without lawful authority?

9.28 Who is responsible for overseeing compliance with the 2000 Act?

9.29 What about other types of informants?

9.30 What reference documents are there?

Page 209



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 30

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.1 Who in the Council may authorise use of a Covert Human Intelligence 
Source (CHIS)?

If the use and conduct of a CHIS is being considered, urgent advice should be 
sought from the Senior Responsible Officer for RIPA before embarking on 
such a process.

The following officers have been duly trained and are designated as 
Authorising Officers by the Chief Executive:

 Chief Executive Mr Simon W Baker
 Executive Director (Transformation) & CFO Mr Andrew P Stokes
 Executive Director (Place) Mr Dai Larner

Ideally the Authorising Officer should not be responsible for authorising a 
CHIS in connection with their own activities, i.e. those operations or 
investigations in which they are directly involved or for which they have direct 
responsibility, or where he/she would be the Controller or Handler.

9.2 What additional authorisation for use of a CHIS is required?

A local authority who wishes to authorise the use of a CHIS under RIPA will 
need to obtain an order approving the grant or renewal of an authorisation or 
notice from a JP (a District Judge or lay magistrate) before it can take effect. If 
the JP is satisfied that the statutory tests have been met and that the use of 
the technique is necessary and proportionate he/she will issue an order 
approving the grant or renewal for the use of the technique as described in the 
application. This judicial approval mechanism is in addition to the existing 
authorisation process under the relevant parts of RIPA as outlined in the 
Codes of Practice.

9.3 How is an application for authorisation made?

An application for authorisation for the use or conduct of a CHIS must be in 
writing on the current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-the-use-of-covert-
human-intelligence-sources-chis ). It should specify:

 the details of the purpose for which the CHIS will be used;
 the identities, where known, of those to be the subject of the use or conduct 

of the CHIS;
 an account of the investigation or operation and details of what the CHIS 

will be asked to do;
 the grounds on which the authorisation is sought (e.g. for the purpose of 

preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder);
 why the use of CHIS is considered to be necessary and proportionate to 

what it seeks to achieve (see 9.5 below);
 an explanation of the information which it is desired to obtain as a result of 

the authorisation;

Page 210

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-the-use-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/application-for-the-use-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 31

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

 details of the level of authority required;
 the potential for collateral intrusion, that is to say, interference with the 

privacy of persons other than the subjects of the investigation, and an 
assessment of the risk of such intrusion or interference and why any 
intrusion is justified;

 the likelihood of acquiring any legally privileged or confidential material and 
what that material might be; 

 where the intention is to acquire knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege, the exceptional and compelling circumstances that make the 
authorisation necessary.`

There should then be a record of whether authority was given or refused, by 
whom, and the time and date.

9.4 What will the Authorising Officer have to consider?

The Authorising Officer must be satisfied that the authorisation is necessary in 
accordance with Section 29(3) of the 2000 Act for covert human intelligence 
sources and Statutory Instrument 2003 Number 3171 and the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012:

 for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder.

The Authorising Officer must also believe that:

 a risk assessment has been carried out to determine the risk to the CHIS of 
any tasking and the likely consequences should the role of the CHIS 
become known. The ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS, after the 
cancellation of the authorisation, should also be considered at the outset;

 the use of the CHIS is necessary and proportionate to what needs to be 
achieved (see 9.5 below). The authorising officer should set out, in their 
own words, why they are satisfied or why they believe the activity is 
necessary and proportionate. A bare assertion is insufficient;

 it is in compliance with relevant Articles of the European Convention on 
Human Rights, particularly Articles 6 and 8;

 satisfactory arrangements exist for the management of the CHIS;
 satisfactory arrangements exist for the statutory roles of handler and 

controller;
 there are arrangements for a person (the record keeper) to have 

responsibility for maintaining the source records in compliance with 
Statutory Instrument 2000 Number 2725.

9.5 What is meant by the term necessary and proportionate?

The person granting the authorisation must believe that the CHIS authorisation 
is necessary in the circumstances of the particular case for the statutory 
grounds detailed above. In order to be satisfied, the conduct that it is aimed to 
prevent or detect must be identified and clearly described. Often missed is an 
explanation of why it is necessary to use the covert techniques requested.

Page 211



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 32

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

Then, if the use of the source is necessary, an authorisation should 
demonstrate how an authorising officer has reached the conclusion that the 
use of a source is proportionate to what it seeks to achieve; including an 
explanation of the reasons why the method, tactic or technique proposed is 
not disproportionate.

Proportionality is a very important concept, and it means that any interference 
with a persons rights must be proportionate to the intended objective. This 
involves balancing the intrusiveness of the use of the source on the target and 
others who might be affected by it against the need for the source to be used 
in operational terms. The use of a source will not be proportionate if it is 
excessive in the circumstances of the case or if the information which is 
sought could reasonably be obtained by other less intrusive means. Thus the 
use or conduct of the CHIS must be designed to do no more than meet the 
objective in question. All such activity should be carefully managed to meet the 
objective in question and must not be arbitrary or unfair.

Proportionality is not only about balancing the effectiveness of covert methods 
over overt methods but of explaining why the particular covert method, 
technique or tactic is the least intrusive. It is insufficient to make a simple 
assertion or to say that the 'seriousness' of the crime justifies any or every 
method available. It may be unacceptable to advance lack of resources or a 
potential cost saving as sufficient ground to use technological solutions which 
can be more intrusive than a human being. This critical judgment can only 
properly be reached once all other aspects of an authorisation have been fully 
considered.

9.6 What is the procedure for applying for judicial approval?

Following approval by the authorising officer the Council will contact Her 
Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service (HMCTS) administration team at the 
magistrates’ court as soon as possible to request a hearing. The Council will 
then provide the JP with a copy of the original RIPA authorisation or notice 
and the supporting documents setting out the case. This forms the basis of the 
application to the JP and should contain all information that is relied upon. In 
addition, the local authority will provide the JP with a partially completed 
judicial application/order form.

The order section of this form will be completed by the JP and will be the 
official record of the JP’s decision. The Council will need to obtain judicial 
approval for all initial RIPA authorisations/applications and renewals and the 
local authority will need to retain a copy of the judicial application/order form 
after it has been signed by the JP. There is no requirement for the JP to 
consider either cancellations or internal reviews.

On the rare occasions where out of hours access to a JP is required then it will 
be for the Council to make local arrangements with the relevant HMCTS legal 
staff who will require basic facts about the authorisation and the urgency. If the 

Page 212



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 33

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

urgency is agreed, then arrangements will be made for a suitable JP to 
consider the application and attendance and evidence will be required. In 
these cases the Council will need to provide two partially completed judicial 
application/order forms so that one can be retained by the JP. The Council 
should provide the court with a copy of the signed judicial application/order 
form the next working day.

No RIPA authority is required in immediate response to events or situations 
where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain it (for instance when criminal 
activity is observed during routine duties and officers conceal themselves to 
observe what is happening).

The hearing is a ‘legal proceeding’ and therefore local authority officers need 
to be formally designated to appear, be sworn in and present evidence or 
provide information as required by the JP. It is envisaged that the case 
investigator will be able to fulfil this role. The hearing will be in private and 
heard by a single JP who will read and consider the RIPA authorisation or 
notice and the judicial application/order form. He/she may have questions to 
clarify points or require additional reassurance on particular matters.

9.7 What will the Justice of the Peace consider and decide? 

The JP will consider whether he or she is satisfied that at the time the 
authorisation was granted or renewed or the notice was given or renewed, 
there were reasonable grounds for believing that the authorisation or notice 
was necessary and proportionate. They will also consider whether there 
continues to be reasonable grounds. In addition they must be satisfied that the 
person who granted the authorisation or gave the notice was an appropriate 
designated person within the local authority and the authorisation was made in 
accordance with any applicable legal restrictions.

The forms and supporting papers must by themselves make the case. It is not 
sufficient for the Council to provide oral evidence where this is not reflected or 
supported in the papers provided. If more information is required to determine 
whether the authorisation or notice has met the tests then the JP will refuse 
the authorisation. If an application is refused the Council may consider 
whether they can reapply, for example, if there was information to support the 
application which was available to the Council, but not included in the papers 
provided at the hearing.
Following their consideration of the case the JP will complete the order section 
of the judicial application/order form  recording their decision. The JP may 
decide to:

 Approve the Grant or renewal of an authorisation or notice which will then 
take effect and the Council may proceed to use the technique in that 
particular case;

 Refuse to approve the grant or renewal of an authorisation or notice so the 
Council may not use the technique in that case. Where an application has 
been refused the Council may wish to consider the reasons for that refusal. 

Page 213



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 34

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

For example, a technical error in the form may be remedied without the 
Council going through the internal authorisation process again. The Council 
may then wish to reapply for judicial approval once those steps have been 
taken;

 Refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation or 
notice. The court must not exercise its power to quash the authorisation or 
notice unless the Council has had at least 2 business days from the date of 
the refusal in which to make representations.

There is no complaint route for a judicial decision unless it was made in bad 
faith. A local authority may only appeal a JP decision on a point of law by 
judicial review.

It is important that the CHIS is fully aware of the extent and limits of any 
conduct authorised and that those involved in the use of a CHIS are fully 
aware of the extent and limits of the authorisation in question.

9.8 How long will the authorisation last?

Except in relation to a juvenile CHIS and access to or disclosure of knowledge 
of matters subject to legal privilege, the written authorisation will cease to have 
effect (unless renewed) at the end of a period of 12 months beginning with the 
date on which it took effect and expiring at 23:59 hours the day preceding. 

9.9 Can the Council carry out the use or conduct of a CHIS with other 
organisations?

Any person granting or applying for an authorisation will also need to be aware 
of any particular sensitivities in the local community where the CHIS is being 
used and of similar activities being undertaken by other public authorities 
which could have an impact on the deployment of the CHIS. Consideration 
should also be given to any adverse impact on community confidence or 
safety that may result from the use or conduct of a CHIS or use of information 
obtained from that CHIS. It is therefore recommended that where an 
authorising officer from a public authority considers that conflicts might arise 
they should, where possible, consult a senior officer within the police force 
area in which the CHIS is deployed. All public authorities, where possible, 
should consider consulting with other relevant public authorities to gauge 
community impact.

Where possible, the Council should seek to avoid duplication of authorisations 
as part of a single investigation or operation. For example, where the Council 
is conducting the use or conduct of a CHIS as part of a joint operation, only 
one authorisation is required. The tasking or lead organisation should normally 
obtain or provide the authorisation under Part II of the 2000 Act. For example, 
where the use or conduct of a CHIS is carried out by the Council on behalf of 
HMRC, authorisations would usually be sought by HMRC and granted by their 
authorising officer.

Page 214



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 35

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.10 When should reviews take place?

There must be regular reviews of any authorisations given and the records of 
these reviews must be in writing and authorised by the Authorising Officer on 
the current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reviewing-the-use-of-covert-
human-intelligence-sources-chis ).The authorising officer should determine 
how often a review should take place which should be as frequently as is 
considered necessary and proportionate, but should not prevent reviews being 
conducted in response to changing circumstances. Particular attention should 
be given to the need to review authorisations frequently where they involve a 
high level of intrusion into private life or significant collateral intrusion, or the 
use of a CHIS may provide access to particularly sensitive information. The 
review should include the use made of the source during the period 
authorised, the tasks given to the source, the information obtained from the 
source and the reasons why executive action is not possible at this stage. The 
results of a review should be recorded on the central record of authorisations 
and the results of a review should be retained for at least five years. 

Where the nature or extent of intrusion into the private or family life of any 
person becomes greater than that anticipated in the original authorisation, the 
authorising officer should immediately review the authorisation and reconsider 
the proportionality of the operation. This should be highlighted at the next 
renewal.

Where a CHIS authorisation provides for interference with the private and 
family life of initially unidentified individuals whose identity is later established, 
a new authorisation is not required provided the scope of the original 
authorisation envisaged interference with the private and family life of such 
individuals.

Any proposed changes to the nature of the CHIS operation (i.e. the activities 
involved) should immediately be brought to the attention of the authorising 
officer. The authorising officer should consider whether the proposed changes 
are within the scope of the existing authorisation and whether they are 
proportionate (bearing in mind any extra interference with private or family life 
or collateral intrusion), before approving or rejecting them. Any such changes 
should be highlighted at the next renewal.

9.11 Can an authorisation be renewed?

If at any time before an authorisation ceased to have effect, the Authorising 
Officer considers it necessary for the authorisation to continue for the same 
purpose for which it was given, then he/she may request renewal of the 
authorisation by a JP in writing on the current Home Office form (available 
here https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-of-authorisation-to-
use-covert-human-intelligence-sources ). Applications for renewals should not 
be made until shortly before the original authorisation period is due to expire 
but must take account of factors which may delay the renewal process (e.g. 

Page 215

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reviewing-the-use-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reviewing-the-use-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-of-authorisation-to-use-covert-human-intelligence-sources
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/renewal-of-authorisation-to-use-covert-human-intelligence-sources


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 36

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

intervening weekends or the availability of the Council’s authorising officer and 
a JP to consider the application). A renewal must be authorised prior to the 
expiry of the original authorisation, but it runs from the expiry date and time of 
that original authorisation.

The renewal will normally be for 12 months and authorisations may be 
renewed more than once if still considered necessary and proportionate and 
approved by the JP. The renewal should be kept/recorded as part of the 
central record of authorisations. The request for a renewal of an authorisation 
should record:

 whether this is the first renewal, or on how many occasions it has been 
renewed;

 the same information as outlined for an original application;
 details of any significant difference in the information given in the previous 

authorisation;
 the reasons why it is necessary to continue with the CHIS;
 the use made of the CHIS in the period since the grant or, as the case may 

be, latest renewal of the authorisation;
 the tasks given to the CHIS during that period and the information obtained 

from the conduct or use of the CHIS;
 the results of regular reviews of the use of the CHIS.

9.12 Can or should an authorisation be revoked?

The Authorising Officer who granted or last renewed the authorisation must 
cancel it if he/she is satisfied that the use of the CHIS no longer meets the 
criteria for authorisation or that satisfactory arrangements for the CHIS’s case 
no longer exist. Cancellation of the use of the CHIS must be in writing on the 
current Home Office form (available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-covert-human-
intelligence-sources-chis ) and the date and time when such an instruction 
was given should be recorded in the central record of authorisations.

As soon as a decision is taken to cease the operation, an instruction must be 
given to those involved in the operation to stop using the CHIS. The date on 
which that instruction is given should also be recorded.

Where necessary, the safety and welfare of the CHIS should continue to be 
taken into account after the authorisation has been cancelled and risk 
assessments maintained. The authorising officer will wish to satisfy 
themselves that all welfare matters are addressed, and should make 
appropriate comment in their written commentary.

9.13 What management arrangements should be in place for the Covert 
Human Intelligence Source?

The following persons must be nominated in relation to each CHIS:

Page 216

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cancellation-of-covert-human-intelligence-sources-chis


RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 37

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

 A Handler - this person must be an officer of the Council (usually of a 
position below that of the authorising officer) and that person will have day 
to day responsibility for dealing with the CHIS, recording the information 
supplied by the CHIS and for monitoring the CHIS's security and welfare;

 A Controller - this person must be an officer of the Council and that person 
will have a general oversight of the use made of the CHIS;

 A Record Keeper - this person must be an officer of the Council who is 
given the responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the 
CHIS (usually the handler).

The Handler will need to explain to the CHIS what he or she must do. For 
example, the CHIS may be an environmental health officer who is asked to 
undertake a test purchase of items which are unfit for consumption.

It is not the intention that authorisations be drawn so narrowly that a separate 
authorisation is required each time the Handler asks the CHIS to do 
something. Rather, an authorisation might cover, in broad terms, the nature of 
the CHIS’s task. If this changes, then a new authorisation may need to be 
sought.

When unforeseen action occurs, it must be recorded as soon as practicable 
after the event and, if the existing authorisation is insufficient, the existing 
authorisation must be updated and reauthorised (for minor amendments) or a 
new authorisation should be obtained before any further such action is carried 
out. Similarly where it is intended to task a source in a new way or significantly 
greater way than previously identified, the Handler or Controller must refer the 
proposed tasking to the authorising officer, who should consider whether a 
separate authorisation is required. This should be done in advance of any 
tasking and the details of such referrals must be recorded.

The day to day contact with the CHIS is to be conducted by the Handler. 
Some arrangements may be made in direct response to information provided 
by the CHIS on the occasion of his or her meeting with the Handler.

In cases where the authorisation is for the use or conduct of a CHIS whose 
activities benefit more than a single public authority, responsibilities for the 
management and oversight of that CHIS may be taken up by one authority or 
can be split between the authorities. The controller and handler of a CHIS 
need not be from the same public authority. In such situations, however, the 
public authorities involved must lay out in writing their agreed oversight 
arrangements.

Steps should be taken to protect the safety and welfare of the CHIS, when 
carrying out actions in relation to an authorisation, and to others who may be 
affected by the actions of a CHIS. Before authorising the use or conduct of a 
CHIS, the Authorising Officer should ensure that a risk assessment is carried 
out to determine the risk to the CHIS of any action and the likely 
consequences should the role of the CHIS become known to the subject of the 
investigation or those involved in the activity which is being investigated. The 

Page 217



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 38

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS after the cancellation of the 
authorisation should also be considered at the outset.

The Handler is responsible for bringing to the Controller’s attention any 
concerns about the personal circumstances of the source, insofar as they 
might affect:

 the validity of the risk assessment;
 the proper conduct of the CHIS;
 the safety and welfare of the CHIS.

Where deemed appropriate, the Controller must ensure that the information is 
considered by the Authorising Officer, and a decision taken on whether or not 
to allow the authorisation to continue.

9.14 Can a juvenile be a Covert Human Intelligence Source?

A juvenile is a person under the age of 18. Special safeguards apply to the 
authorisation where the CHIS would be a juvenile.

Authorisations should not be granted unless:

 a risk assessment has been undertaken as part of the application, covering 
the physical dangers and the psychological aspects of the use of the 
juvenile;

 the risk assessment has been considered by the Authorising Officer and he 
or she is satisfied that any risks identified in it have been properly 
explained;

 the Authorising Officer has given particular consideration as to whether the 
juvenile is to be asked to get information from a relative, guardian or any 
other person who has for the time being taken responsibility for the welfare 
of the juvenile. A juvenile under the age of 16 must never be authorised to 
give information against his or her parents or any person who has parental 
responsibility for him or her.

Authorisations should not be granted unless the Authorising Officer believes 
that management arrangements exist which will ensure that there will be at all 
times a person who has responsibility for ensuring that an appropriate adult 
will be present between any meetings between Council representatives and a 
CHIS under 16 years of age.

Authorisations for the use of a juvenile as a CHIS can be granted only by the 
Chief Executive or (in his absence) Executive Directors. The duration of such 
an authorisation is four months from the time of grant or renewal (instead of 
twelve months), and the authorisation should be subject to at least monthly 
review. For the purpose of these rules, the age test is applied at the time of the 
grant or renewal of the authorisation.

Page 218



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 39

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.15 What about vulnerable persons?

Vulnerable persons are those who are or may be in need of community care 
services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness and who is or 
may be unable to take care of himself or herself, or unable to protect himself 
or herself against significant harm or exploitation. Only in the most exceptional 
circumstances should a vulnerable person be authorised to act as a CHIS and 
the authorisation must be given by the Chief Executive or (in his absence) 
Executive Directors.

9.16 What type of things can a CHIS be asked to do?

Once authorised a CHIS could be asked to obtain information, to provide 
access to information or to otherwise act incidentally for the benefit of the 
Council in the performance of its statutory enforcement and regulatory 
functions.  A CHIS, whether or not wearing or carrying a surveillance device, in 
residential premises or a private vehicle, does not require additional 
authorisation to record any activity taking place inside those premises or that 
vehicle which takes place in their presence.

A CHIS must not be asked to install a surveillance device nor intercept post 
or any other communications including those sent by telephone or email.

A CHIS must not be asked to do anything or not to do something which would 
involve the commission of a criminal offence by the CHIS, for example, a CHIS 
must not be asked to steal a document to get information.

9.17 What is legally privileged material and other confidential material?

Confidential material is anything:

 which is subject to legal privilege, for example, communications between 
legal advisers and their clients. Legal privilege does not apply to 
communications or items held, or oral communications made, with the 
intention of furthering a criminal purpose (whether the lawyer is acting 
unwittingly or culpably). Legally privileged communications will lose their 
protection if the professional legal adviser is intending to hold or use them 
for a criminal purpose. But privilege is not lost if a professional legal adviser 
is properly advising a person who is suspected of having committed a 
criminal offence.

 which is confidential personal information, for example information about 
someone’s health or spiritual counselling or other assistance given or to be 
given to them;

 which is confidential constituent information, for example information about 
private constituency matters discussed between a Member of Parliament 
and a constituent;

 which is confidential journalistic material (this includes related 
communications), that is, material obtained or acquired for the purposes of 
journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence.

Page 219



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 40

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.18 Is an authorisation for acquiring matters subject to legal privilege 
different to other authorisations?

The acquisition of matters subject to legal privilege (whether deliberate or 
otherwise) is subject to additional safeguards. These safeguards provide for 
three different circumstances where legally privileged items will or may be 
obtained. They are: 

 where the Council seeks to grant or renew an authorisation for the use or 
conduct of a CHIS, in circumstances where it is intended to obtain, provide 
access to or disclose knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, in 
which case the 2010 Legal Privilege Order will apply. Before an authorising 
officer grants or renews an authorisation to which the Order applies, they 
must give notice to and seek approval from a Judicial Commissioner (the 
approving officer). The authorising officer is prohibited from granting or 
renewing an authorisation until they have received confirmation in writing 
that the approving officer has approved the application. If the approving 
officer does not approve the application, the authorising officer may still 
grant an authorisation in respect of the use or conduct of the CHIS in 
question, but may not authorise the use or conduct of the CHIS to obtain, 
provide access to or disclose knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege. Approving officers may only approve, and authorising officers may 
only authorise, the use or conduct of CHIS to acquire knowledge of matters 
subject to legal privilege if they are satisfied that there are exceptional and 
compelling circumstances that make the authorisation necessary, for 
example, a threat to life a or limb or to national security, and it is likely to 
yield intelligence necessary to counter the threat.

 Where the use or conduct is not intended to result in the acquisition of 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege, but it is likely that such 
knowledge will nevertheless be acquired during the CHIS deployment the 
application should include, in addition to the reasons why the use or 
conduct is considered necessary, an assessment of how likely it is that 
information which is subject to legal privilege will be obtained. The Council 
should also confirm that any inadvertently obtained material that is subject 
to legal privilege will be treated in accordance with the safeguards set out in 
the CHIS code and that reasonable and appropriate steps will be taken to 
minimise access to the material that is subject to legal privilege.

 Where an application for an authorisation is made where the purpose or 
one of the purposes is to obtain items that, if they were not created or held 
with the intention of furthering a criminal purpose, would be subject to 
privilege and where the public authority considers that the items are likely to 
be created or held to further a criminal purpose, the application must 
include a statement to that effect and the reasons for believing that the 
items are likely to be created or held to further a criminal purpose. This 
includes applications to which the 2010 Legal Privilege Order would 
otherwise apply (see 2(2)(b) of the Order). Information which may 
undermine the assessment that material is likely to be created or held to 
further a criminal purpose must also be included in the application to ensure 

Page 220



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 41

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

the authorising officer can make an informed assessment about the nature 
of the material. The authorisation can only be approved where the 
authorising officer considers that the items are likely to be created or held 
with the intention of furthering a criminal purpose.

9.19 What if a CHIS unintentionally obtains, provides access to or discloses 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege?

Public authorities should make every effort to avoid their CHIS unintentionally 
obtaining, providing access to or disclosing knowledge of matters subject to 
legal privilege. If a public authority assesses that a CHIS may be exposed to 
such knowledge unintentionally, the public authority should task the CHIS in 
such a way that this possibility is reduced as far as possible. The reactive 
nature of the work of a CHIS, and the need for a CHIS to maintain cover, may 
make it necessary for a CHIS to engage in conduct which was not envisaged 
at the time the authorisation was granted, but which is incidental to that 
conduct, and may lead them to be exposed to matters subject to legal 
privilege. Such incidental conduct is regarded as properly authorised by the 
RIPA 2000 Act, even though it was not specified in the initial authorisation. 
This is likely to occur only in exceptional circumstances, such as where the 
obtaining of such knowledge is necessary to protect life and limb, including in 
relation to the CHIS, or national security, in circumstances that were not 
envisaged at the time the authorisation was granted.

When debriefing the CHIS, the public authority should make every effort to 
ensure that any knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege which the CHIS 
may have obtained is not disclosed to the public authority, unless there are 
exceptional and compelling circumstances that make such disclosure 
necessary. If, despite these steps, knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege is unintentionally disclosed to the public authority, the public authority 
in question should ensure that it is not used in law enforcement investigations 
or criminal prosecutions. Any unintentional obtaining of knowledge of matters 
subject to legal privilege by a public authority, together with a description of all 
steps taken in relation to that material, should be drawn to the attention of the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner or inspectors supporting the work of the 
Commissioner during the next inspection (at which the material should be 
made available if requested).

If it becomes apparent that it will be necessary for the CHIS to continue to 
obtain, provide access to or disclose knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege, the initial authorisation should be cancelled and replaced by an 
authorisation that has been subject to the prior approval procedure, set out in 
the 2010 Legal Privilege Order, at the earliest reasonable opportunity. 

Page 221



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 42

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.20 Are there any special rules for legally privileged material and other 
confidential material?

Additional safeguards are required where the use or conduct of a CHIS may 
result in acquiring knowledge of legally privileged material or other confidential 
material. The following requirements apply:

 the Authorising Officer must be either the Chief Executive or (in his 
absence) Executive Directors who must be satisfied that the proposed 
directed surveillance is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved; 

 an authorisation where it is intended to obtain, provide access to or disclose 
knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege is reduced from the usual 12 
months to 3 months for any public authority);

 the application for authorisation must include an assessment of how likely it 
is that legally privileged material or other confidential material will be 
acquired;

 the application should clearly state whether the purpose (or one of the 
purposes) of the use or conduct of the CHIS is to obtain legally privileged 
material or other confidential material;

 where matters subject to legal privilege via the conduct of a CHIS are 
deliberately obtained, they may be used to counter the threat which led to it 
being obtained, but not for other purposes;

 knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege must be kept separate from 
law enforcement investigations or criminal prosecutions;

 In cases likely to result in obtaining knowledge of matters subject to legal 
privilege, the authorising officer or Investigatory Powers Commissioner may 
require regular reporting so as to be able to decide whether the 
authorisation should continue;

 where legally privileged material or other confidential material has been 
acquired and retained for purposes other than its destruction, it should be 
clearly marked as subject to legal privilege or as confidential and the matter 
should be reported to the relevant Commissioner or Inspector during their 
next inspection and the material should be made available to him if 
requested;

 confidential material should be destroyed as soon as its retention is no 
longer necessary;

 Where there is any doubt as to the handling and dissemination of 
confidential information or information which may be subject to legal 
privilege, advice should be sought from Legal Services before any further 
dissemination of the material takes place. Similar advice should also be 
sought where there is doubt over whether information is not subject to legal 
privilege due to the “in furtherance of a criminal purpose” exception.

 In those cases where items identified by Legal Services as being legally 
privileged have been acquired, this should be reported to the Commissioner 
as soon as reasonably practicable;

 In the course of an investigation, a public authority must not act on or 
further disseminate legally privileged items unless it has first informed the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner that the items have been obtained, 
except in urgent circumstances;

Page 222



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 43

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

 The retention of legally privileged information, or its dissemination to an 
outside body, should be accompanied by a clear warning that it is subject to 
legal privilege. It should be safeguarded by taking reasonable steps to 
ensure there is no possibility of it becoming available, or its contents 
becoming known, to any person whose possession of it might prejudice any 
criminal or civil proceedings to which the information relates.

 Any dissemination of legally privileged material to an outside body should 
be notified to the relevant Commissioner or Inspector during their next 
inspection.

 Other confidential information, which can include both oral and written 
communications, is held subject to an express or implied undertaking to 
hold it in confidence or it is subject to a restriction on disclosure or an 
obligation of confidentiality contained in existing legislation.

9.21 What records must be kept?

Original documentation should be forwarded to the SRO for entry on the 
Central Record, oversight and secure storage. Practitioners should work from 
copy documents. Matters relating to the true identity should be kept separate 
from operational documents.

The Central Record should be retained for a period of at least five years from 
the ending of the authorisations to which they relate and need only contain the 
name, code name, or unique identifying reference of the CHIS, the date the 
authorisation was granted, renewed or cancelled and an indication as to 
whether the activities were self-authorised. The following records must also be 
kept centrally for a period of at least five years from the ending of each 
authorisation. This information should be regularly updated whenever an 
authorisation is granted, renewed or cancelled and should be made available 
to the relevant Commissioner or an Inspector from the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Office upon request:

 full details of the CHIS and the management arrangements for maintaining 
a record of the use made of the CHIS in order to preserve their 
confidentiality;

 a copy of the authorisation granted and, where relevant, a copy of any 
renewal of an authorisation granted;

 a copy of the original judicial application and renewal application / order 
form where relevant, after it has been approved and signed by the Justice 
of the Peace;

 any authorisation which was granted or renewed orally (in an urgent case) 
and the reason why the case was considered urgent;

 any risk assessment made in relation to the CHIS;
 the circumstances in which tasks were given to the CHIS;
 the value of the source to the Council;
 the reason why the person renewing an authorisation, considered it 

necessary to do so;
 the results of any reviews of the authorisation;
 the reasons, if any, for not renewing an authorisation;

Page 223



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 44

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

 the reasons for cancelling an authorisation;
 the date and time when any instruction was given by the authorising officer 

to cease using a CHIS.

9.22 What information should be kept about the CHIS?

The following information should be available:

 the identity of the CHIS and the identity or identities used by the CHIS, 
where known;

 the means used within the Council of referring to the CHIS;
 any significant information connected with the security and welfare of the 

CHIS;
 any confirmation made by an Authorising Officer granting or renewing an 

authorisation for the conduct or use of a source, that the security and 
welfare of the CHIS has been considered and that any identified risks to the 
security and welfare of the CHIS have been properly explained to and 
understood by the CHIS;

 the date when, and the circumstances in which the CHIS was recruited;
 the authority for the related investigation or operation;
 the identities of the Controller, the Handler and the person monitoring the 

records of the CHIS;
 the period for which those responsibilities have been discharged by those 

persons;
 the tasks that are given to the CHIS and the demands made of them in 

relation to their activities as a CHIS;
 all contacts or communications between the CHIS and the Council or where 

the CHIS is a Council Officer, the Handler and the Controller;
 the information obtained by the Council by the conduct or use of the CHIS;
 in the case of a CHIS who is not an Officer of the Council, every payment, 

benefit or reward or every offer of a payment, benefit or reward that is made 
or provided by or on behalf of the Council in respect of the CHIS’s activities 
for the benefit of the Council.

9.23 Who may see the records?

The records should be maintained in such a way as to preserve the 
confidentiality, or prevent disclosure of the identity of the CHIS, and the 
information provided by that CHIS.

9.24 Who keeps the records?

The detailed records outlined above will be kept by the person nominated as 
the record keeper for the CHIS. The central register of records will be kept 
under the direction of the Council’s SRO (Executive Director and Monitoring 
Officer) and held by the Council’s Head of Audit.

Page 224



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 45

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.25 Will the material obtained be required as evidence in criminal 
proceedings?

The Council must ensure that arrangements are in place for the secure 
handling, storage and destruction of material obtained through the use or 
conduct of a CHIS in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. Where 
the product of the use or conduct of a CHIS could be relevant to pending or 
future criminal or civil proceedings, it should be retained in accordance with 
applicable disclosure requirements.

9.26 How should the material obtained be handled?

Authorising officers, through their relevant Data Controller, must ensure 
compliance with the appropriate data protection requirements under the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and any relevant internal arrangements produced by 
individual authorities relating to the handling and storage of material.

The number of persons to whom any of the material acquired through use or 
conduct of a CHIS is disclosed, and the extent of disclosure, should be limited 
to the minimum necessary for the authorised purpose(s). This obligation 
applies equally to disclosure to additional persons within the Council and to 
disclosure outside the Council. In the same way, only so much of the material 
may be disclosed as the recipient needs; for example if a summary of the 
material will suffice, no more than that should be disclosed.

Material obtained through use or conduct of a CHIS may only be copied to the 
extent necessary for the authorised purposes, and all copies, extracts and 
summaries of it, must be handled and stored securely, so as to minimise the 
risk of loss or theft. It must be held so as to be inaccessible to persons without 
the required level of security clearance (where applicable). This requirement to 
store such material securely applies to all those who are responsible for the 
handling of the material.

In particular, each public authority must apply the following protective security 
measures:

 physical security to protect any premises where the information may be 
stored or accessed; 

 IT security to minimise the risk of unauthorised access to IT systems; 
 an appropriate security clearance regime for personnel which is designed 

to provide assurance that those who have access to this material are 
reliable and trustworthy. 

Information obtained through use or conduct of a CHIS, and all copies, 
extracts and summaries which contain such material, should be scheduled for 
deletion or destruction and securely destroyed as soon as they are no longer 
needed for the authorised purpose(s). If such information is retained, it should 
be reviewed at appropriate intervals to confirm that the justification for its 

Page 225



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 46

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

retention is still valid. In this context, destroying material means taking such 
steps as might be necessary to make access to the data impossible

9.27 What if covert human intelligence source activity activity has taken place 
without lawful authority?

An error must be reported if it is a relevant error. Examples of relevant errors 
occurring would include circumstances where:

 covert human intelligence source activity has taken place without lawful 
authority;

 There has been a failure to adhere to the safeguards set out in the relevant 
statutory provisions and Chapter 8 of the CHIS Code.

When a relevant error has occurred, the Council must notify the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner as soon as reasonably practicable, and no later than 
ten working days (or as agreed with the Commissioner) after it has been 
established by appropriate internal governance processes that a relevant error 
has occurred. A full report must be sent to the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner including information on the cause of the error; the amount of 
covert human intelligence source activity conducted and material obtained or 
disclosed; any unintended collateral intrusion; any analysis or action taken; 
whether any material has been retained or destroyed; and a summary of the 
steps taken to prevent recurrence. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
must inform a person of any relevant error relating to that person if the 
Commissioner considers that the error is a serious error and that it is in the 
public interest for the person concerned to be informed of the error.

9.28 Who is responsible for overseeing compliance with the 2000 Act?

The Investigatory Powers Act provides for an Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner (“the Commissioner”), whose remit includes providing 
comprehensive oversight of the use of the powers to which the CHIS code 
applies, and adherence to the practices and processes described in it. The 
Commissioner, and those that work under the authority of the Commissioner, 
will ensure compliance with the law by inspecting public authorities and 
investigating any issue which they believe warrants further independent 
scrutiny. The Commissioner will have unfettered access to all locations, 
documentation and information systems as necessary to carry out their full 
functions and duties and all relevant persons using investigatory powers must 
provide all necessary assistance.

In addition, the Investigatory Powers Act establishes an independent 
Investigatory Powers Tribunal which has full powers to investigate, and decide 
upon, any case where a person complains that the conduct of the Council in 
exercising its powers has infringed their human rights.

Page 226



RIPA 2000 Policy & Procedures January 2020 Page 47

RIPA 2000 Covert Human Intelligence Source Procedures

9.29 What about other types of informants?

The 2000 Act does not apply to members of the public who volunteer 
information as part of their civic duties, or members of staff who report 
information in accordance with their contract of employment, or under the 
Councils Whistleblowing Policy.

9.30 What reference documents are there?

The Council and those persons acting under Part II of the 2000 Act must have 
regard to the Codes of Practice issued under the Act. The Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources Code of Practice is available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-
human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice .

Current Home Office prescribed RIPA forms for use by officers applying for 
authority, review, renewal and cancellation of the use of a Covert Human 
Intelligence Source are available here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2 .

Home Office guidance on the judicial approval process for RIPA and the crime 
threshold for directed surveillance, including a flowchart outlining the 
procedure for application to a JP and judicial application / order form is 
available here https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-
authority-use-of-ripa .

Further Home Office guidance on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
is available here https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism .

Further information on the work of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s 
Office is available here https://www.ipco.org.uk/ . 

Where fraud or corruption is suspected, officers are required to give due 
regard to the requirements of the Council’s Counter Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy which is available on the Council’s intranet.

If further guidance is required, please contact the Head of Audit on 01538 
395695 or e-mail john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk .

Page 227

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covert-surveillance-and-covert-human-intelligence-sources-codes-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ripa-forms--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-local-authority-use-of-ripa
https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
https://www.gov.uk/surveillance-and-counter-terrorism
https://www.ipco.org.uk/
mailto:john.leak@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21
 

Item May
 2020

July
 2020

Oct
 2020

Feb
 2021 Details 

INTERNAL AUDIT

Internal Audit Progress Report    
Reports on progress against the audit plan inc. key 
performance information.

Annual Audit Plan  To consider and approve the Annual Audit Pan.

Internal Audit Annual Report 
To consider Internal Audit’s annual report and opinion 
on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control environment.

Annual Review of Effectiveness of IA 
To consider an annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Council’s system of internal audit.

Internal Audit Charter 
To consider updates to the formal document that 
defines Internal Audit’s purpose, authority and 
responsibility. (as required)

EXTERNAL AUDIT

Audit Committee Update  

A summary of emerging national issues and 
developments that the Committee may wish to 
consider. Also provides a summary of progress on the 
audit – where not covered by other items on the 
agenda.

Audit Fee Letter  Letter setting out annual audit fee .

Audit  Plan 
Report specifying the detailed risks that external audit 
consider as part of their work, the audit approach and 
the result of any interim work

Audit Findings Report 
To consider the external auditor’s report to those 
charged with governance on issues arising from the 
audit of the accounts and the VFM conclusion.

Annual Audit Letter 
To consider the external auditor’s annual report on 
their overall assessment of the Council.

Certification of Claims & Returns Annual 
Report 

Report summarising the findings from work to certify 
grant claims made to the government..

Informing the Audit Risk Assessment 
To consider the risk assessment and understanding of 
management processes.

P
age 229

A
genda Item

 13



Item May
 2020

July
 2020

Oct
 2020

Feb
 2021 Details 

FINANCE

Statement of Accounts 
To review and approve the Council’s annual 
Statement of Accounts.

Treasury Management Update   
Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 
Management position to date and the projected 
outturn.

Annual Treasury Management Report 

To recommend to Council for approval the annual 
Treasury Management Report summarising 
performance and compliance with the Strategy and 
Prudential Indicators.

Treasury Management Strategy 
Oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy.

CORPORATE

Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
To review and approve the Annual Governance 
Statement and the underlying assurance evaluation 
process and supporting evidence.

AGS Progress Against Action Plan 
Report on progress made against the actions raised 
as part of the previous years Annual Governance 
Statement process.

Risk Management Update  
Report on developments in the Council’s risk 
management arrangements.

Risk Management Strategy 
Update of the Risk Management Strategy (biennial 
February)

Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 
To consider updates to the Council’s Counter Fraud 
& Corruption Strategy. (as required)

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy 
& Procedures 

To consider updates to the Council’s Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures. (as 
required)

Whistleblowing Policy 
To consider updates to the Council’s Whistleblowing 
Policy. (as required)

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE

Agree Programme of Work     To agree future work programme of A&A Committee.

Review of Effectiveness of A&A Committee 
inc. Terms of Reference 

To consider the annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Audit & Accounts Committee and the A&A 
Committee’s Terms of Reference.

P
age 230


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 External Audit - 2019/20 Audit Plan
	5 External Audit - Informing the Risk Assessment
	6 Accounting Policy Amendment
	7 Annual Governance Statement - Progress against the 2018/19 Action Plan
	Annual Governance Statement - Progress against the 2018/19 Action Plan enc. 1
	Annual Governance Statement - Progress against the 2018/19 Action Plan enc. 2
	Appendix A 1 for Annual Governance Statement - Progress against the 2018/19 Action Plan

	8 Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021
	Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021 enc. 1
	Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021 enc. 2
	Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2020/2021

	9 Treasury Management Update
	Appendix A Treasury Management Update

	10 Risk Management Update
	Appendix A Risk Management Update
	Appendix B Risk Management Update
	Appendix C Risk Management Update
	Appendix D Risk Management Update

	11 Internal Audit Periodic Report 2019/20
	Appendix A 1 for Internal Audit Periodic Report 2019/20
	Appendix A 2 for Internal Audit Periodic Report 2019/20
	Appendix A 3 for Internal Audit Periodic Report 2019/20

	12 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures
	Appendix A 1 for Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act Policy & Procedures

	13 Work Programme

